
CITY OF DAPHNE 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 

1705 MAIN STREET, DAPHNE, ALABAMA 

NOVEMBER 3, 2014 

6:30 P.M.  

                                                                  
 1.  CALL TO ORDER 

 2.  ROLL CALL / INVOCATION /  Pastor Bryant Evans / Eastern Shore Church of Christ 
 

 

 3.  APPROVE MINUTES:      Council meeting minutes / October 20, 2014    

                                                     MOTION:  Amend September 15, 2014 Council meeting minutes to include under  

                                                                          Finance Report: The motion for $1,000 to be paid to the YMCA out of  

                                                                           the remaining Community Contribution monies Budgeted in the  

                                                                           FY 2014 budget 

       

ELECTION OF OFFICERS 

 

PRESENTATION:      Mickey Boykin / Daphne Museum 

 

 

4. REPORT STANDING COMMITTEES: 
A. FINANCE COMMITTEE – Conaway    

   B.      BUILDINGS & PROPERTY  COMMITTEE -  Davis     

C. PUBLIC SAFETY -  Rudicell   

D. CODE ENFORCEMENT/ORDINANCE COMMITTEE  -  Scott   

E. PUBLIC WORKS COMMITTEE / SOLID WASTE AUTHORITY – LeJeune  

             Review Public Works minutes /  October 20
th
  

             Review Beautification minutes / October 1
st
 

             Review Daphne Museum minutes / September 8
th
  

             Review Environmental Advisory Committee minutes / October 27
th
    

 

5. REPORTS OF SPECIAL BOARDS & COMMISSIONS:  
   A.  Board of Zoning Adjustments – Adrienne Jones      

 B.  Downtown Redevelopment Authority – Conaway   

   C.  Industrial Development Board – Davis                

   D.  Library Board - Lake  
   E.  Planning Commission – Scott     
        Review minutes / September 25

th
  

        Staff report / October 23
rd

 meeting 

  
   F.  Recreation Board – LeJeune 

   G. Utility Board - Fry  

         Review minutes / October 1
st
 (September meeting) 

 

6. Mayors Report         

7. City Attorney’s Report 

     MOTION:  Appoint an Interim Treasurer for purpose of bond refunding 

 

8. Department Heads Comments 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   
November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 1



 

 

COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA                       NOVEMBER 3, 2014                                  PAGE  2 
 

 

9. City Clerk’s Report 

    a.)   ABC License / The Fresh Market / 040 – Retail Beer (On or Off Premises)  /  060 – Retail Table Wine (On or  

                                     Off Premises) (On premises - Now doing wine tastings in the store) 

    b.)   Events Permit / S.E.E.D.S. / 11
th
 Annual 5K & 1 Mile Fun Run / March 7, 2015 

    c.)   Events Permit / Chick-fil-A Connect Race / May 2, 2015       

 

10. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION:   

 

 

11. RESOLUTIONS & ORDINANCES: 

 

RESOLUTIONS: 

a.)   Authorizing the Issuance of General Obligation Refunding and  

        Improvement Warrants, Series 2014 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ./Resolution 2014-54 

 

    

 

ORDINANCES:  

        

        3
RD

  READ            

a.)   Adopting the FY 2015 Personnel and Capital Budget. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Ordinance 2014-46 

 

 

        2
ND

  READ 

a.)   Amending Ordinance 2002-34 / Garbage Collection and Amending the 

       FY 2015 Budget for the Increased Garbage Collection Fee. . . . . . . . . . . . . . ./Ordinance 2014-47 

 

b.)   Appropriating Funds: Emergency Watershed Protection on Private 

        Property: Mazie’s Gulch & Palmetto Court (Creekside). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Ordinance 2014-48 

 

c.)   Job Reclassification:  Finance Director. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ./Ordinance 2014-49 

 

d.)  Job Reclassification: Civic Center Director / Reclassify the Civic  

       Center Director to the Convention/Visitor’s Bureau & Civic  

       Center Director. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Ordinance 2014-50 

 

e.)   Appropriation of Funds: Appraisal, Survey and Closing Fees  

       Associated with Donated Property Located at Park Drive and 

       Pine Hill Road. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Ordinance 2014-51 

 

 

       1
ST

 READ 
a.)   Authorizing the Issuance of General Obligation Refunding and  

        Improvement Warrants, Series 2014 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Ordinance 2014-52 

 

 

 

12.    COUNCIL COMMENTS        

13.  ADJOURN 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 2



CITY OF DAPHNE 

CITY COUNCIL 

 

ROLL CALL 

 

CITY COUNCIL: 

 

COUNCILWOMAN CONAWAY    PRESENT___  ABSENT___ 

 

COUNCILMAN RUDICELL     PRESENT___  ABSENT___ 

 

COUNCILMAN LAKE     PRESENT___  ABSENT___ 

 

COUNCILMAN SCOTT     PRESENT___  ABSENT___ 

 

COUNCILMAN LEJEUNE     PRESENT___  ABSENT___ 

 

COUNCILMAN DAVIS     PRESENT___  ABSENT___ 

 

COUNCIL PRESIDENT FRY    PRESENT___  ABSENT___ 

 

MAYOR: 

MAYOR HAYGOOD     PRESENT___  ABSENT___ 

 

CITY CLERK: 

REBECCA HAYES      PRESENT___  ABSENT___ 

 

CITY ATTORNEY: 

JAY ROSS       PRESENT___  ABSENT___ 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 3



OCTOBER 20, 2014 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

REGULAR BUSINESS MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

P
ag

e1
 

                                                                                          

1.    CALL TO ORDER:  

There being a quorum present Council President Fry called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m.       

 

2.    ROLL CALL/INVOCATION/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 

Pastor Timothy Conaway of Restoration Place Church gave the invocation. 

 

COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT:    

Tommie Conaway; Pat Rudicell; John Lake; Randy Fry; Ron Scott; Robin LeJeune; Joe Davis. 

 

Also present:  Mayor Haygood; Rebecca Hayes, City Clerk; Sarah Toulson, Assistant City Clerk;  Jay 

Ross, City Attorney; Vickie Hinman, HR Director; Michael Hoyt, Municipal Judge; Richard Johnson, 

Public Works Director; James White, Fire Chief; David McKelroy, Recreation Director; Tonja Young, 

Library Director; Adrienne Jones, Planning Director; Margaret Thigpen, Civic Center Director; Captain 

Scott Taylor, Police Department; Christine Ciancetta, Deputy Finance Director; Suzanne Henson, Senior 

Accountant; Ashley Campbell, Environmental Programs Manager; Tracey Miller, Solid Waste 

Coordinator; Officer Jaimie Huffman, Police Department; Dorothy Morrison, Beautification Committee 

and DRA; Tomasina Werner, Beautification Committee; Rebecca Trosclair, Beautification Committee; 

Larry Cooke, BZA; Kevin Boucher, Adams & Reese, LLC. 

 

Absent: David Carpenter, Police Chief; Richard Merchant, Building Official. 

 

3.    APPROVE MINUTES:    

October 6, 2014 Council Meeting Minutes 

There were no corrections to the October 6, 2014 council meeting minutes and the minutes stand 

approved as written. 

 

October 13, 2014 Council Work Session Minutes 

There were no corrections to the October 13, 2014 Council Work Session minutes and stand approved as 

written. 

 

PRESENTATION:   Lions Club International 

 

Mr. Ron Mitchell gave a presentation on establishing a Lions Club in Daphne.  He reviewed how the 

club helps the citizens and improves the community.  He invited everyone to a meeting being held 

Wednesday 12:00 noon at the Scenic Overlook.  

 

PRESENTATION:   Beautification Quarterly Awards:  District 1:  Terry Thompson Chevrolet 

                                                                                            District 2:  Certapro Painting 

 

Mayor Haygood and Councilwoman Conaway presented the award to the Sales Manager for Terry 

Thompson Chevrolet Jim Payne. 

 

 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 4



OCTOBER 20, 2014 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

REGULAR BUSINESS MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

P
ag

e2
 

 

Mayor Haygood and Councilman Rudicell presented the award to Certapro Painting owner Steve Carey, 

his wife Charlotte, daughter Camille and son John Charles. 

 

PROCLAMATION:    National Domestic Violence Awareness Month / Ms. Joann Sheils, Executive  

                                        Director for the Lighthouse  

 

Council President Fry read and presented the proclamation to Ms. Joann Sheils, Executive Director for 

the Lighthouse. 

 

PROCLAMATION:   America Recycles Day 

 

Mayor Haygood read and presented the proclamation to the Public Works Director Richard Johnson 

and the Solid Waste Coordinator Tracey Miller.  Mayor Haygood said that for the last three years the 

city has received a recycling grant with a total of $217,000 received in funds. Mayor Haygood 

presented Mrs. Miller with an award from the Alabama Recycling Coalition. Tracey was chosen as 

the Best Individual Recycler of 2014 by The Alabama Recycling Coalition during the 2014 EXPO in 

July.  Tracey was presented her award by the President Charmayne Watson at an award ceremony.  

 

4.    REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEES: 

 A.   FINANCE COMMITTEE – Conaway 

The minutes for the October 13
th

 meeting are in the packet. 

 

Treasurers Report / September 2014 

Total Unrestricted Funds - $9,547,829 and Total City Funds - $16,532,945   

 Total Unrestricted Funds - $9,547,829                   

 Decrease from Last Year’s Unrestricted Funds – ($782,467)      

 Number of months of Unrestricted cash to cover monthly operating Expenses & Debt 

Service – 4.3 months compared to the previous year – 4.9  months 

 

Sales and Use Tax Collections / August 2014 

$1,129,483 Sales & Use Tax  was collected for August 2014: 

 YTD Variance over Budget:+$80,401 /  6% 

 Percent change from last year’s collections:  +664,828 /  5.6%  

 

Lodging Tax Collections / August 2014 

Lodging Tax collections for August 2014 were $93,733 which is up $41,305 from August’s 2013’s 

collections of $52,427.  

 YTD Variance over Budget:    $224,422  

 Percentage change from last year’s collections:  +25.3 % 

 

 

 

 

 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 5



OCTOBER 20, 2014 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

REGULAR BUSINESS MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

P
ag

e3
 

 

B.   BUILDINGS & PROPERTY COMMITTEE - Davis 
The October 6

th
 minutes are in the packet.  Councilman Davis reported on two properties that owners 

want to donate property to the city, and one property acquisition.  TimberCreek has 53 acres they would 

like to sell to the city, and would like some indication that the city is interested. 

 

MOTION BY Councilman Davis to authorize the Mayor to pursue discussion with TimberCreek on the 

53 acres.  Seconded by Councilman Lake. 

 

The City Attorney discussed this with council and asked that they go into executive session to discuss 

the pending purchase of real property and then come back and make the motion. 

 

Councilman Davis withdrew his motion and Councilman Lake withdrew his second  

 

 

C.   PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEE – Rudicell  

The October 8
th

 minutes are in the packet. The next meeting will be November 12
th

 at 4:30 p.m. 

 

D.  CODE ENFORCEMENT/ORDINANCE COMMITTEE – Scott 

The October 8
th

 minutes are in the packet. The next meeting will be November 12
th

 after the Public 

Safety meeting. 

 

E.   PUBLIC WORKS COMMITTEE – LeJeune 

The committee met before the council meeting.  Councilman LeJeune reported that along with 

America Recycles Day there will be an Amnesty Day where citizens can bring things like 

paint, etc. and Public Works will dispose of them.  He said that the funds for the ATRIP grant 

for resurfacing North Main Street have been reduced.  He asked council to authorize the Mayor 

to reduce the projects limits and scope for the project. 

 

MOTION BY Councilman LeJeune to suspend the rules to consider a motion to 

authorize the Mayor to change the limits, scope and shorten the ATRIP North Main 

Street resurfacing project.  Seconded by Councilman Scott. 

 

ROLL CALL VOTE 

Conaway   Aye     LeJeune  Aye 

Rudicell   Aye     Davis   Aye 

Lake   Aye     Fry   Aye 

Scott   Aye 

 

MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 

 

 

 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 6



OCTOBER 20, 2014 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

REGULAR BUSINESS MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

P
ag

e4
 

 

MOTION BY Councilman LeJeune to authorize the Mayor to change the limits, scope 

and shorten the ATRIP North Main Street resurfacing project.  Seconded by Councilman 

Scott. 

 

MOTION  CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 

The next meeting will be November 24
th

 at 5:00 p.m. 

 

 

5.    REPORTS OF SPECIAL BOARDS & COMMISSIONS: 

      A.   Board of Zoning Adjustments – Adrienne Jones 

The August 7
th

 minutes and staff report for the October 2
nd

 meeting are in the packet.  There will not be 

a meeting in November. The board elected officers at the last meeting and they are Willie Robison, 

Chairman; Vice Chairman, Larry Cooke; Secretary, Pat Johnson. 

 

B.   Downtown Redevelopment Authority – Conaway 

The next meeting will be Wednesday at 5:30 p.m. 

 

C.   Industrial Development Board – Davis 

The next meeting will be October 27
th

 at 6:00 p.m. in the Executive Conference room.  He reminded 

everyone to fill out the comment sheets for the I-10 Bridge project. 

 

D.   Library Board – Lake 

The board met on October 9
th

 and the minutes will be in the next packet. 

 

     E.   Planning Commission – Scott 

The Planning Commission meeting will be Thursday, October 23
rd

 at 5:00 p.m. in the Council 

Chambers. 

 

     F.   Recreation Board – LeJeune 

Councilman LeJeune commended the Daphne High School football team for their win over Spanish Fort 

Friday.   

 

MOTION BY Councilman LeJeune to authorize the advertising of the Request for Proposal for 

the new recreation facilities. Seconded by Councilman Scott. 

 

MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 

Councilman LeJeune thanked Richard Johnson, David McKelroy and the Mayor for their hard work on 

the proposal. 

 

 

 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 7



OCTOBER 20, 2014 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

REGULAR BUSINESS MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

P
ag

e5
 

 

    G.   Utility Board – Fry 

The board will meet next Wednesday at 5:00 p.m. 

 

 

6.    REPORTS OF OFFICERS: 

 A.  Mayor’s Report 

Mayor Haygood reported that the city received the Recreational Trails grant to extend the boardwalk at 

Village Point Park Preserve.  The contract was extended for the auditing firm of Smith & Buckalew, and 

they moved the time frame up to get the audit done in a timely fashion.  He also announced that the 

Library received a $32,000 donation from a citizen of Daphne that recognizes the importance of the 

Library. 

 

B.  City Attorney’s Report 

Mr. Ross stated that council should pass a motion authorizing the Mayor to sign contracts until the 

ordinance authorizing him to do so comes before council. 

 

MOTION BY Councilman Scott to authorize the Mayor to execute contracts that bind the City 

of Daphne up to but not exceeding $15,000, as long as the purpose of the contract has been 

funded or budgeted by the City Council until such time as the Council enacts an ordinance 

relating to this authority.  Seconded by Councilman  Rudicell. 

 
MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 

C.   Department Head Comments 

Christine Ciancetta – Deputy Finance Director – reported that the GFOA has awarded the City of 

Daphne a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting for our FY 2013 CAFR.   

Adrienne Jones, Planning Director – reported that the Planning Commission elected officers at the last 

meeting. Larry Chason, Chairman; Don Terry Vice Chairman; William Montgomery, Secretary.  The 

Mayor has appointed a new member Dwayne Smith 

 

Richard Johnson – Public Works Director – thanked Council for all that they do. 

 

Tonja Young – Library Director – reported that the awards ceremony for the Bookmark Contest will be 

tomorrow at 4:00 p.m. 

 

David McKelroy – Recreation Director – reported on the different sports and tournaments going on at 

Trione Sports Complex.  Brown Bag by the Bay will be Thursday from 11:30 – 1:00 p.m.  They are 

forming a new basketball league along with Spanish Fort. 

 

James White – Fire Chief – reported the awards that were given out at the Fireman’s Banquet Sunday: 

Community Award – Ms. Jewel Lawson; Firefighter of the Year – Firemedic Gerald D. Lanier; EMT of  

 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 8



OCTOBER 20, 2014 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

REGULAR BUSINESS MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

P
ag

e6
 

 

the Year – Firemedic Grant M. Gruwell; Leadership Award – Lt. Adam C. Byrd; Rookie of the Year – 

Joshua C. Brewer. 

  

     D.   City Clerk’s Report  

     1.)  Event Permit / Run for Shep / 5K / January 24
th

, 2015 

MOTION BY Councilman Lake to approve the Event Permit for Run for Shep / 5K / January 24, 

2015. Seconded by Councilman Davis. 

 

MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 

 

    2.)  NLC Voting Delegate / Business Meeting held Saturday, November 22
nd

, 2014 /  

          Austin, Texas 

 

MOTION BY Councilwoman Conaway to appoint Councilman Lake as the voting delegate for the 

NLC Conference on November 22, 2014.  Seconded by Councilman Davis. 

MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 

 

7.    PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

Mrs. Dorothy Morrison – 26197 Via Del San Francesco -  thanked council for helping with Keep 

America Beautiful.  She also thanked everyone that helped with the pink ribbons for Breast Cancer 

Awareness month.  She mentioned that the DRA gave a grant to the Pine Lodge on Main Street to 

cleanup around the building.   

 
Mr. Leroy Hall – 6378 Jacksons Oak Drive – spoke regarding flooding and washing away of his property on 

Yancey Branch due to work done on the road at Village Point Park.  He said this is the second time he has 

come before council with this problem and asked council to look into it and do something to correct the 

situation. 
 

Mr. Henry Lawson – Daphne -  spoke in opposition to the garbage rate increase. 

 

 

8.    RESOLUTIONS & ORDINANCES: 

         
a.)   Approving the City of Daphne’s Participation in the State of Alabama 

        Severe Weather Preparedness Tax Holiday for the Year 2015. . . . . . . . . . . . /Resolution 2014-53 

 

 

 

 

 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 9



OCTOBER 20, 2014 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

REGULAR BUSINESS MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

P
ag

e7
 

 

MOTION BY Councilwoman Conaway to waive the reading of Resolution 2014-53.  Seconded 

by Councilman LeJeune. 

 

MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 

MOTION BY Councilwoman Conaway to adopt Resolution 2014-52.  Seconded by Councilman 

LeJeune. 

 

MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 

 

ORDINANCES: 

 
        2

ND
 READ            

a.)   Adopting the FY 2015 Personnel and Capital Budget. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Ordinance 2014-46 

 

 

 

        1
ST

 READ 

a.)   Amending Ordinance 2002-34 / Garbage Collection and Amending the 

       FY 2015 Budget for the Increased Garbage Collection Fee. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Ordinance 2014-47 

 

b.)   Appropriating Funds: Emergency Watershed Protection on Private 

        Property: Mazie’s Gulch & Palmetto Court (Creekside). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  /Ordinance 2014-48 

 

c.)   Job Reclassification:  Finance Director. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ./Ordinance 2014-49 

 

d.)  Job Reclassification: Civic Center Director / Reclassify the Civic  

       Center Director to the Convention/Visitor’s Bureau & Civic  

       Center Director. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Ordinance 2014-50 

 

e.)   Appropriation of Funds: Appraisal, Survey and Closing Fees  

       Associated with Donated Property Located at Park Drive and 

       Pine Hill Road. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Ordinance 2014-51 

 

MOTION BY Councilman Lake to lay Ordinance 2014-46 over until the November 3, 2014 council 

meeting.  Seconded by Councilman LeJeune. 

 

AYE    Conaway, Rudicell, Lake, Scott, LeJeune, Fry                                NAY    Davis 

 

MOTION CARRIED 

 

 

ORDINANCES 2014-47,  2014-47, 2014-48, 2014-49, 2014-50 AND 2014-51 ARE 1
ST

 READ 

 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 10



OCTOBER 20, 2014 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

REGULAR BUSINESS MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

P
ag

e8
 

 
9.    COUNCIL COMMENTS 

Councilman LeJeune thanked Chief White for the invitation to the Fireman’s Banquet.  He had a great 

time and really enjoyed the banquet. 

 

 

MOTION BY Councilman Scott to enter into Executive Session to discuss the pending purchase 

or sale of real property and pending litigation.  The session will last for 15 minutes.   Seconded by 

Councilman Lake. 

 

The City Attorney, Jay Ross, certified that the above stated reason for going into Executive Session is 

according to the Open Meeting Act. 

 

ROLL CALL VOTE 

Conaway    Aye    LeJeune   Aye 

Rudicell   Aye    Davis    Aye 

Lake   Aye    Fry    Aye 

Scott   Aye 

 

 

MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 

Council entered into Executive Session at 8:15 p.m. 

 

Council returned from Executive Session at 8:30 p.m. 

 

MOTION BY Councilman Davis to encourage the Mayor to pursue discussion regarding the 53 

acres in TimberCreek, and to authorize Mrs. Campbell to continue to pursue grants and other 

opportunities that might be leveraged in conjunction with the pending purchase, and to include all 

relevant staff that could have input in this project.  Seconded by Councilman Lake. 

 

MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 

10.   ADJOURN: 

THERE BEING NO FURTHER BUSINESS TO DISCUSS, THE MEETING ADJOURNED AT 

8:35 P.M. 

 

 

Respectfully submitted by,                                  Certification of Presiding Officer 

                               

                                        

__________________________________   _____________________________   

Rebecca A. Hayes,     Randy Fry,     

City Clerk      Council President 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 11



                                                                        CITY OF DAPHNE                                      AMEND MINUTES 

                                                      CITY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA                       MOTION UNDER 

                                                     1705 MAIN STREET, DAPHNE, ALABAMA            FINANCE REPORT 

SEPTEMBER 15, 2014 

6:30 P.M.  

                                                                  
 1.  CALL TO ORDER 

 2.  ROLL CALL / INVOCATION /  Reverend Dan Morris with Daphne United Methodist Church 

  
 3.  APPROVE MINUTES:      Council meeting minutes / September 2, 2014    

                                                     Council Work Session minutes / September 8, 2014 

              

PRESENTATION:    Al Guarisco / Bocce Courts                                         

 

PUBLIC HEARING:   Amending the Land Use & Development Ordinance 2011-54 / Revisions  

                                        To Appendix “H” Zoning Map 

              

4. REPORT STANDING COMMITTEES: 
A. FINANCE COMMITTEE – Conaway   

   Review minutes / September 8
th
       

             1.   Ordinances: 

         a.)    Appropriating Funds:  Drainage Repair / Donette Loop Properties / Ordinance 2014-40 

         b.)    Appropriating Funds:  Lancaster Way Drainage Crossing /  Ordinance 2014-41 

         c.)    Appropriating Funds:  Design Engineering for Sewer Projects:   

                 ●   Whispering Pines-Dauphine Acres 

                           ●   Douglas Road; 

                           ●   Van Buren Street 

                           ●   Schieffelin Lane-Jordan Lane East; 

                           ●   6
th
 Street; Greystone Subdivision               /   Ordinance 2014-42 

 

             2.    Resolutions: 

                    a.)   Bid Award:  Lancaster Way Road Crossing / Sunset Contracting Inc. / Resolution 2014-50 

 

   3.    Motion: 

          For $1,000 to be paid to the YMCA out of the remaining Community Contribution monies   

          Budgeted in the FY2014 budget. 

 

   4.    Financial Report: 
          ●   Treasurers Report / August 2014 

          ●    Sales & Use Tax Collections / July 2014 

          ●    Lodging Tax Collections / July 2014 

      

B.      BUILDINGS & PROPERTY  COMMITTEE -  Davis   

          Review minutes / September 2
nd

  

          
C. PUBLIC SAFETY -  Rudicell    

   Review minutes / September 10
th
  

   

D. CODE ENFORCEMENT/ORDINANCE COMMITTEE  -  Scott     

   Review minutes / September 10
th
  

     

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 12



CITY OF DAPHNE Mayor Dane Haygood 

PUBLIC WORKS COMMITTEE MINUTES Councilwoman Tommie Conaway, District 1 

Time: 5:00 PM on October 20, 2014 Councilman John Lake, District 3 

Location: City Hall  Councilman Ron Scott, District 5       Councilman John Lake, District 3  

 Chairman - Councilman Robin LeJeune, District 6 

 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

 Meeting was called to order at 5:00 p.m. 

 Committee Members Present: Robin LeJeune (Chairman), Councilman John Lake, Councilman Ron 

Scott, Councilwoman Tommie Conaway; Richard D. Johnson-Public Works Director, Dorothy 

Morrison-Daphne Beautification Committee, and Michele T. Hanson, PWC secretary.  Mayor 

Haygood arrived late. 

 Others Present: John Peterson-Hatch Mott McDonald; Randy Davis-Volkert; Councilman Pat 

Rudicell; Councilman Randy Fry; Ashley Campbell. 
 

II. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION & CORRESPONDENCE 

 

A. Work Request Report - The report for September 2014 was reviewed. Mr. LeJeune asked for 

a year to date fiscal year 13 & 14.   

B. Vehicle/Equipment Maintenance Report – The report for September 2014 was reviewed.  

Mr. Scott asked about the PD’s non-routine cost, Mr. Johnson stated most of this amount was 

for equipping the new Tahoe’s that came in.  Mr. Johnson also stated there was an accident 

with the street sweeper and that will be sent to the insurance; the sweeper caught a man hole 

cover and bent the broom unit. 

C. Correspondence – No Correspondence. 

D. Public Participation – No one present to address the committee. 

Richard announced that Frank Barnett had resigned on Monday.  Shane Friday will be the 

interim supervisor until the position is filled.  A memo has been sent to the Mayor’s office to 

approve the advertising of this position, waiting on his approval. A temp employee will be 

brought in to help cover the shortage in the department. 

 

III. OLD BUSINESS  

 

A. Minutes – The minutes from the September 15, 2014 meeting were reviewed and approved. 

Motion by Tommie Conaway, Seconded by John Lake to approve the minutes as presented.  

Motion carried. 

B. Mosquito Report – The September 2014 report was reviewed by the committee.  Richard 

reported that mosquito spraying will stop at the end of this month, final report will be at the 

next meeting; Graham will return to service calls and other grounds duties.  John Lake said 

that Pinehill still needs to be sprayed; there is a big gully there with standing water. 

Mr. Scott noted that Justina Avenue sign has been knocked down – Richard noted to have a 

work order done to have this sign repaired. 

C. Street Sweeper Report – The September 2014 report was reviewed by the committee.  

D. Project Limitation Letter – ATRP (002) North Main St. Resurfacing 
Mr. Johnson stated that we have had great success with ATRP funding and at the end of the 

project the State came back and said whatever you were granted for all the phases is what you 

are getting.  The first phase in Lake Forest we were right on the money with a little bit of 

savings on that project ($100,000), on the second phase the bid came in $400,000 higher than 

expected which ATRP said that it was covered.  When it came time to bid and let the Main 

Street phase, ATRP came to us and said we were $400,000 short and if we had stayed on track 

they would have flipped the ratio and it would be cheaper if we did the rest of the project on 

our own. So the scope of the project has been reduced, terminating the project north of the 

intersection of N. Main St. with D’Olive Blvd.  This was discussed with the Mayor and 

ALDOT wants a letter stating the reduction of the project. 

 November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 13



IV. NEW BUSINESS 

A. YMCA Access Management Proposal 

Mr. Johnson presented a proposal to the committee regarding the entrance/exits to the YMCA. 

During certain times of the day, if a driver is going around the round-about turning east on 

Whispering Pines and someone has stopped to turn in the first entrance of the Y, you can catch 

you by surprise and can bottle-neck during peak times.  Mr. Johnson submitted a few options: 

 

 1) Make the first entrance/exit (western entrance/exit) a right in, right out only, using 

paving markers and striping. 

 2) Install a truncated domes along that center line, so when someone drives over it, 

they know they shouldn’t have. 

 3) Install delineator strips (like those on 98 at I-10). 

 

Motion by John Lake, seconded by Ron Scott to forward this to the Public Safety 

Committee for their review.  Motion carried. 

 

Sidewalks on 98 

Mr. Lake stated that he has been approached by several residents at Pelican Bay Apt., Sea 

Cliff Condo’s and other apt. in that area petitioning for a sidewalk from Publix to Yacht Club 

Drive.  Many people walk this area and it’s dangerous because of the traffic and where the 

guardrails are situated.  Mr. Lake has spoken to the LF Improvement Committee and they 

support it and he will talk to Park City Civic Association for their support.  

Mr. Johnson stated there is no north to south sidewalk on Hwy 98, there is some on the service 

road.  Mr. Lake would like this put on our sidewalk list.  Mr. LeJeune will get Public Safety’s 

opinion on this matter and get their feedback. 

Round-A-Bout at 13 

Mr. LeJeune asked about the timeline for this project.  Mr. Johnson stated right now the utility 

locates are being done by Daphne Utilities and Belforest Water; The ATRP project will be let 

in December 2014 with construction starting in February 2015. There will be some lane 

closures with the majority of the closures being done during the summer when the kids are out 

of school. Hopefully everything will be completed by the August 2015 start of the school year. 

May Day Boat Ramp 

Mr. LeJeune asked about the status of the boat ramp.  Mr. Johnson stated he has not heard 

anything recently, maybe we could request an update from the City Attorney.  Mayor 

Haygood stated there will be some upcoming activity with that. 

 

V. DIRECTOR’S REPORT 

A.  No Report 

 

VI. DAPHNE SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL AUTHORITY 

A. Monthly Equipment Use Report – The report for September 2014 was reviewed.  Mr. 

Johnson stated he will be tweaking these reports for FY2015. 

B. Monthly Recycle Tonnage Report (Tonnage Comparison) – The report for September 

2014 was reviewed. Mr. Johnson stated that we’re going through a transition in this 

department, our buyer is having difficulties and we have started negotiations with other 

buyers. Big picture idea is to have a facility that takes in a clean mrf (materials recovering 

facility) and have enough room to store commodity recycling until the price is optimistic to 

sell. Ultimately we envision a cooperative to establish a facility between the 3 eastern shore 

cities and the urbanize part of Baldwin County would produce enough volume to make it an at 

least break even facility and the city’s get a return based on the tonnage that was brought in. 

Who’s putting up the seed money, who’s going to manage it, etc.  This is our future. 

Solid Waste New Customer Report – The report for September 2014 was reviewed.  We 

have 9 new residential customers and 2 new businesses.  America’s Recycle Day is November 

15th at Daphne City Hall. 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 14



 

VII. MUSEUM COMMITTEE 

A. Minutes – September 8, 2014. 

Committee reviewed the minutes of the meeting.  Mr. Johnson commented that he took a 

group of Boy Scouts to the museum and they had the best time. Kudos to the volunteers for 

what they do. 

 

VIII. BEAUTIFICATION COMMITTEE 

A. Minutes from October 1, 2014 meeting were reviewed.  Dorothy thanked the city for their 

participation with the Keep America Beautiful program.  She attended a conference and 

learned a lot about the program.  Training is coming up on November 3rd, would love to have 

all the committee to attend. Will be getting more information about grant money to use for 

beautification. Gator Alley improvements are getting closer to happening.  Will start working 

on a cigarette butt campaign.  Ashley also has a cigarette campaign called “butts in the bay” 

and could team together to educate.   

 

IX. ENVIRONMENTAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

A. Minutes -  Next meeting will be October 27th  

B. Tiawasse Creek Land Donation 

Ashley stated there is a parcel of land in Tiawasee Creek that the property owner is interested 

in assisting the city with a project in conjunction with the CIAP Tiawasse Creek Stream 

Restoration. This parcel of land has a severe head cut in the rear of the lots and he would like 

to donate the 26.16 acres where we could restore the cut and have some land for recreational 

use or management use.  It’s a large section of Tiawasse Creek, it’s a beautiful wetland area. 

The owner has paid to have the survey done.  This is on the Planning Commission agenda this 

week to annex and subdivide. 

There is another parcel of land that is available for partial sale/donation to the city in 

TimberCreek for the appraised value + tax credits.  There is 53 acres (30 acres of upland, the 

rest is wetland) that could be used for several things including the interchange, a water 

management structure that could reduce the flow of water under the interstate by 52%.  If we 

own and control the land, when the interchange plans begin, we can bring that to the table 

with ALDOT. 

 

X. ENGINEER’S REPORT 

A. Hatch Mott MacDonald – John Peterson reported that the Rolling Hill/Donette bidding is 

next month to run concurrent with one another.  Main Street – putting together the budget, will 

get to Richard. 

B. HMR – Randy Davis reported County Road 13 plans should be completed this week, let in 

November.  Main Street flume repair; topographic survey is finished, design is starting this 

week. 

C. Preble-Rish – No one present. 

D. Jade Consulting – No one present. 

 

XI. FUTURE BUSINESS 

A. Next Meeting is November 17, 2014. 

 

XII. ADJOURNMENT 

Meeting adjourned @ 6:07 p.m. 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 15



Daphne Beautification Committee 

October 1, 2014 Minutes 

 

Breast Cancer Awareness Month…….about 70 pink bows were made and hung in the area 

of  City Hall and the lamp poles on Main Street….2 Up lifted Hands sandwich boards will 

ordered…. 

 

Beautification winners are Terry Thompson Chevrolet and CertaPro Painters on Main 

Street….. 

 

A- Gator Alley- approval is coming soon ……only $5,000 apart on the price……. 

 

B- Patriots Point possible inspiration for Gateway signs……The council wants the Mayor, 

the Beautification Committee, and PW to all have input on this project….. 

 

C- Treasurer’s Report ….New year with our $15,000…….. 

 

D- Top Ten 

 Weeds still growing under the Overpass on I-10 curve to Mobile – both sides of the 

road 

 I-10/181 still needs massive attention-years 

 Master Plan for Mal- Function Junction-10 years 

 Create berms/ or something on Daphne Ave in front of the Shopping Center- 12 months 

 Master Plan for all Gateways- 42 months 

 HWY 64 island need a Crape Myrtle and ground cover as part of the Flower Program- 

12 months 

 

E- PW Report 

 Keep America Beautiful meeting in Florence, Al. Richard & Dorothy are going Oct 15  

 Coastal Clean–Up got more than 6 tons of trash collected huge success 

 Christmas decoration will focus on City Hall and Main Street  

 The Star will be placed at KFC Hill 

 Season Greeting sign has been reworked to stay lit .. will add the Crab Pot Trees 

 Christmas tree lighting will be December 4 at 5:30 pm 

 Monday, Dec. 1st 8:30 to decorate the inside tree…our children are once again creating 

ornaments [ Thank you, Jane]  

 Parade will be Dec 13th there will be snow for kids to play in 

 Santa’s visit will be from 10 to 1  

 

F- Margorie will be at the Barn every Wednesday until the light are placed and needs help 

anytime…… 

  

G- Crape Myrtles are looking beautiful…. 

  

H- Hwy 181…… 

District 1 
 

Dorothy Morrison, 
Chair 
Walter Gray 
 
District 4 
 

Selena Vaughn 
Tomasina Werner 
Dana Sawyer 
 
District 5 
 

David Dueitt 
Rebecca Trosclair 
 
District 6 
 

Hollie LeJeuune 
 
 
City Liaisons 
 

Richard Johnson 
Dwayne Coley 
Marjorie Bellue 
Denise Penry 
Michele Hanson 
Christine Ciancetta 
David McKelroy 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 16



I- DRA is working on a grant for the Pine Lodge to start a clean up project…….. 

 

J- Birdhouse Brochures have been reprinted as well as Gator Alley; taken to the Chamber … 

  

K- American flags will go up again just before Veterans Day for the last time this year we are 

adding another 30 or so…… 

 

L- Endowment – pending until 2015………. 

 

M- The Mayor answered questions about the ravine on Hwy 90 near the Jubilee Center, dis-

cussed clean up of city streets from litter………. 

   

N- Next meeting:   November 5th at City Hall in the Mayor’s Conference Room………. 

 

 

NOTE:  The December Meeting will be moved to Monday, December 1st to help deco-

rate the tree at City Hall.  We will decorate first (decorating will start around 8:30 a.m.) 

and the meeting will follow. 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 17



DAPHNE MUSEUM BOARD MINUTES 

SEPTEMBER 8, 2014 

 

ATTENDEES:  Ken Balme, Mickey Boykin, Penny Taylor, Helen Baroco, Emily Hammond,  Al Guarisco 

 

The following topics were discussed by the Board: 

 Baldwin County Fair Sep 24 -29:   The theme of the Fair is Beautiful Baldwin.  The  Daphne 

Museum will be displaying the Daphne Community Heritage Quilt which hangs in the atrium 

of city hall.  Permission to display the quilt was obtained from Jane Robbins, Mayor’s 

Assistant, and Daphne Art Center members.   Daphne citizens and members of Daphne Art 

Center worked together to create the 12 individual squares representing events and places in 

the history of Daphne.  Fabric, yarn, and other embellishments were used to design the 

squares. 

 Daphne Jubilee Festival Sep  27-28:     The museum will have a booth at the festival in front of 

City Hall as it has in past years.  Museum  volunteers  will be needed to man the booth during 

festival hours. 

 Two Grants Report:   The Alabama Historical Commission has two grants available:   

 (1)  $10,000 to each selected grantee  for capital improvements and (2) $1,000 to each 

selected grantee for the improvement of tourism.  The capital improvement grant submitted 

by Ken was denied.  He is applying for the tourism grant citing several ways to improve 

tourism to the area:  (1)  Targeting Snowbirds; (2)  Placing rack cards at all state welcome 

centers; (3)  Using social media such as Facebook to reach more people; (4)  Asking Gulf 

Shores and Orange Beach Museums to display Daphne Museum brochures. 

 Civil War Collection:   This collection was loaned to the museum by John Broadus, a former 

museum volunteer.  Discussed what should be done with the collection now that John is 

deceased.  Following discussion, the Board agreed not to take any action for the time being 

unless we hear from John’s family.  Meanwhile, Mickey will check the acquisition files to 

determine if any specific instructions concerning the collection were noted. 

 StEPs Program (The Standards and Excellence Program for History Organizations.)  The Board 

determined that this program is not appropriate for the Daphne Museum at this time.   

Rather, the MAP Program, which is similar and was used in the recent past, will be revisited.  

Some suggestions were discussed for getting volunteer assistance on special projects.  

  (1)  Check with library about advertising for volunteers by displaying a poster for signups; 

 (2)  making presentations to school Key Clubs, National Honor Societies, and other school 

organizations that require student members to obtain community service hours.     

 Exhibits:  Combo Normal School and Daphne Women’s Study Club:  Mickey proposed this idea 

for next exhibit.    All in agreement. 

 Antique Car Group:   Mickey will contact group when weather is cooler for a possible photo 

op with several members driving antique cars to museum site where they will remain for a 

couple of hours to allow time for visitors to come and see the vehicles. 

 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 18



 New Business:   Mickey brought up the subject of approaching the city once again about the 

possibility of hiring a part time director for the museum.  She gave Ken the file containing all 

the information concerning the former request, which was denied.  This matter will be 

revisited. 

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned. 

       Respectfully submitted 

   

       Mickey Boykin, Secretary 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

       2 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 19



Meeting Minutes 

Monday, October 27, 2014 - 4:00 PM 

City of Daphne - Environmental Advisory Committee 

Daphne City Hall – Executive Boardroom 

 

1 
 

 

I. CALL TO ORDER  
John Peterson called the meeting to order at 4:05 p.m.  

Members Present: John Peterson, Carl Pinyerd, Chester McConnell, Elliott Riser, Richard Johnson, 

Councilman John Lake, Councilman Pat Rudicell, Ashley Campbell and Michele T. Hanson. 

Absent: Stan Arbaczauskas, Fred Nation, Art Hosey 

 

II. APPROVAL OF MINUTES & AGENDA: 

A. Approval of Minutes: 

Motion by Chester McConnell, seconded by Elliott Riser to approve the August 25, 2014 minutes. All in 

favor.  Motion carried. Minutes were adopted.  

 

B.  Approval of Agenda: 

Motion by Elliott Riser, seconded by Chester McConnell to approve the October 27, 2014 agenda with 

the addition under Old Business to nominate and elect a Chair and Vice Chair.  All in favor.  Motion carried.  

 

III. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION: 

No one present to address the committee. 

 

IV. OLD BUSINESS: 

A. Nominate Chair and Vice Chair 

Motion by Don Ouellette, seconded by Elliott Riser to nominate Dr. Bret Webb as EAC Chairman.  All in 

favor.  Motion carried.  No other nominations were presented. 

Motion by Elliott Riser, seconded by Chester McConnell to nominate John Peterson as EAC Vice Chair.  All 

in favor.  Motion carried.  No other nominations were presented. 

 

B. Elect Chair and Vice Chair 

Motion by Don Ouellette, seconded by Chester McConnell to elect Dr. Bret Webb as Chairman for the EAC. 

All in favor.  Motion carried. 

Motion by Elliott Riser, seconded by Chester McConnell to elect John Peterson as EAC Vice Chair.  All in 

favor.  Motion carried.   

 

V. NEW BUSINESS: 

A. CIAP RFQ Review - EAC Representative 

     John Peterson stated that his firm will be submitting on this and he will recuse himself from this.  Ashley 

stated that the RFQ is due in by 31
st
 of October and by November 15

th
 choose a consultant to help us design the 

next grant restoration.  Our part of the project is $450,000.00 and NFWF has another $550,000.00 to add to it. 

We don’t have to have a representative from the committee, but this would be our voice on these projects. There 

will be approximately 15 proposals that you will review and vote on.  John Lake will help and Dr. Webb will be 

asked to represent Daphne EAC. 

 

B.  Hydrology Study – Potential Stormwater Management Site – Land Acquisition 

      This is the 53 acres that is being offered as a donation to the city; 38 acres is uplands that can be used for 

development for stormwater management and restoration and the other 15 acres is wetlands that can be 

protected.  A structure could be built that would last over time and provide protection and stormwater 

management.  The committee requested that Ashley create a resolution that outlines the environmental benefits 

and study of reducing stormwater from I-10 @ the 13 interchange: protection of property; a map of projects; 

reduction of erosion into the lake; cost savings on future project.  Richard Johnson stated if we own the property 

out right, when future ALDOT projects come along, we would already have something to offer.  John Peterson 

requested that Ashley draft the resolution and send to the committee by email. 

 

 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 20



Meeting Minutes 

Monday, October 27, 2014 - 4:00 PM 

City of Daphne - Environmental Advisory Committee 

Daphne City Hall – Executive Boardroom 

 

2 
 

VI. CHAIRMAN’S REPORT: 

 No Report. 

 

VII. UPDATE ON PROJECTS: 

A. NFWF Grant 

For the I-10 to Highway 90 project (37 mile marker) , Goodwin Mills was chosen to design the project, they 

are in the preliminary stage and should be implemented this winter. 

- D’Olive Creek 

o I-10: will take a while to design, probably next year 

o Hwy 90: Head-cut in Oakstone (Greg Jennings) 

o CR 13: Starting Preliminary work on D’Olive from 13 to Victoria 

B. Gator Alley 

We have additional funds to help with the landscaping. The property owner has agreed to the price and the 

paperwork is being processed. We hope to have the property acquired in 30 days.  Bids will go out after that.  

This has been a long time coming and it will be a beautiful and more functional spot once it is completed.  

Ashley stated that the project will include LID structures that can be used for workshops and training.  

Richard stated that Daphne Utilities has a pump station there that they will incorporate into the master design. 

 

C. Forever Wild 

Ashley went to the last meeting at 5 Rivers and brought our project up regarding the property North of I-10, 

west of Scenic Overlook (Valentine Island).  We currently are not in the top 3, but talking about it has kept it 

on their radar. 

 

D. Tiawasee Creek – CIAP Project – Land Donation 

RFQ is out and due in Friday (October 31
st
) and hopefully will choose a consultant by November 15

th
. This is 

for stream restoration (severe head-cut) close to Pollard Road and Park Drive. 

 

Ashley updated the committee of the concerns for a resident (Ms. Turner) that needed to be hooked up to the 

sewer system. DUMC & Ecumenical Ministries helped her get her sewer done. 

 

VIII. FUTURE BUSINESS: 

A. Upcoming Training: 

   Ashley informed the committee on some upcoming training in the State and here in Daphne. 

     - LID: Birmingham on November 4
th
 – provided link to training site 

     - Trimble GPS (Daphne): November 19
th
 – 20

th
 at Daphne Fire Training Station  

 John Peterson would like to attend, Ashley to send information to him and Richard Johnson. 

 

B. Next Meeting:  December 22
nd

 

Meeting was changed to Monday, December 15
th
 at 4:00 p.m. before the Public Works Committee. 

At the December meeting we will set the meeting dates for 2015 year. 

 

IX.  ADJOURN:   

Motion by Carl Pinyerd, Seconded by Chester McConnell to adjourn.   

 

Meeting adjourned at 4:57 p.m. 

 

 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 21



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 22



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 23



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 24



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 25



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 26



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 27



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 28



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 29



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 30



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 31



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 32



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 33



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 34



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 35



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 36



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 37



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 38



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 39



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 40



                 STATE OF ALABAMA  
   ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE CONTROL BOARD 
                  
                 Confirmation Number:  

 
Type License:             State:  County: 

Type License:             State:  County: 

Trade Name:              Filing Fee: 

Applicant:            Transfer Fee: 

Location Address:  

Mailing Address: 

County:   Tobacco sales:   Tobacco Vending Machines:  

Sale of Products Containing Ephedrine:   Type Ownership:  

Book, Page, or Document info:   Do you sell Draft Beer: 

Date Incorporated:    State incorporated:   County Incorporated:  

Date of Authority: 

Name:                             Title:                 Date and Place of Birth:    Residence Address: 

    
 

    
 

 
 

   

 
Has applicant complied with financial responsibility ABC RR 20-X-5-.14?    
Does ABC have any actions pending against the current licensee?     
Has anyone, including manager or applicant, had a Federal/State permit or license suspended or revoked?     
Has a liquor, wine, malt or brewed license for these premises ever been denied, suspended, or revoked?    
Are the applicant(s) named above, the only person(s), in any manner interested in the business sought to be 
licensed?   
Are any of the applicants, whether individual, member of a partnership or association, or officers and 
directors of cooperation itself, in any manner monetarily interested, either directly or indirectly, in the profits 
of any other class of business regulated under authority of this act?   
Does applicant own or control, directly or indirectly, hold lien against any real or personal property which is 
rented, leased or used in the conduct of business by the holder of any vinous, malt or brewed beverage, or 
distilled liquors permit or license issued under authority of this act?   
Is applicant receiving, either directly or indirectly, any loan, credit, money, or the equivalent thereof from or 
through a subsidiary or affiliate or other licensee, or from any firm, association or corporation operating 
under or regulated by the authority of this act?   
 
Contact Person:      Home Phone:  
Business Phone:      Cell Phone:  
Fax:        E-mail:  
 

SCOTT FRANCIS DUGGAN

JEFFREY CLARK ACKERMAN

RONALD CRAIG CARLOCK JR
KANSAS CITY, KS

BOSTON, MA

251-626-8018

20141020160906497

34254767 - NC

23459918 - NC

33222826 - NC LANSING, MICHIGAN

11/05/2010

Applicant: THE FRESH MARKET INC

DE

YES

251-626-1422

11/05/2010

$75.00

YES

BALDWIN

NO
NO

$75.00

NO

NO

NO

NO

628 GREEN VALLEY ROAD; SUITE 500     GREENSBORO, NC  27408

Alabama State Sales Tax ID:

000000

Trade Name: THE FRESH MARKET

251-626-1422

6900 US HIGHWAY 90; SUITE 2     DAPHNE, AL  36526

NO

$100.00

YES

040 - RETAIL BEER (ON OR OFF PREMISES)

060 - RETAIL TABLE WINE (ON OR OFF PREMISES)

THE FRESH MARKET

5 FERN BLUFF COURT

1811 TIFFANY PLACE
GREENSBORO, NC  27408

725 HOOD PLACE

GREENSBORO, NC  27410

GREENSBORO, NC  27408

Previous License Number(s)PREVIOUS LICENSE INFORMATION:

$150.00

SVP / GEN COUNSEL /
SECR

PRESIDENT

$150.00

680017751

SENIOR VICE
PRESIDENT

THE FRESH MARKET INC

11/06/1965

JAMES BASLER

11/10/1966

05/13/1963

CORPORATION

0

ALCOHOL LICENSE APPLICATION

License 2: 070-010118302-420

SMSTORE151@THEFRESHMARKET.NET

License 1: 050-010118302-420
November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 41



 

             STATE OF ALABAMA  
 ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE CONTROL BOARD 
                
             Confirmation Number:  

 
 
If applicant is leasing the property, is a copy of the lease agreement attached?   
Name of Property owner/lessor and phone number:   
What is lessors primary business?  
Is lessor involved in any way with the alcoholic beverage business?    
Is there any further interest, or connection with, the licensee’s business by the lessor?   
 
Does the premise have a fully equipped kitchen?   
Is the business used to habitually and principally provide food to the public?   
Does the establishment have restroom facilities?   
Is the premise equipped with services and facilities for on premises consumption of alcoholic beverages?  
 
Will the business be operated primarily as a package store?   
Building Dimensions Square Footage:   Display Square Footage:  
Building seating capacity:    Does Licensed premises include a patio area?   
License Structure:    License covers:  
Number of licenses in the vicinity:   Nearest: 
Nearest school:    Nearest church:    Nearest residence:  
Location is within:     Police protection:  
 
Has any person(s) with any interest, including manager, whether as sole applicant, officer, member, or 
partner been charged (whether convicted or not) of any law violation(s)?    
Name:                               Violation & Date:               Arresting Agency:             Disposition: 
    

    

    

 

20141020160906497

L-A DAPHNE LLC      205-618-9455

NO
NO

LANDLORD

19907

.1

CITYCITY LIMITS

ONE STORY
3

ENTIRE STRUCTURE

YES

16 YES

YES
YES

YES

NO

1 miles 1 miles

YES

.2 miles

ALCOHOL LICENSE APPLICATION

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 42



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 43



Receipt Confirmation Page

Receipt Confirmation Number: 

Application Payment Confirmation Number: 

Payment Summary 

Payment Item Fee 

  

Total Amount to be Charged  

License Payment Confirmation Number: 

Payment Summary 

Payment Item County Fee State Fee Total Fee 

    

    

Total Amount to be Charged    

Application Type

Application Type:

Applicant Information

License Type 1:  

License Type 2:  

License County:  

Business Type:  

Trade Name:  

Applicant Name:  

Location Address:  
 
 

Mailing Address:  
 
 

Contact Person:  

Contact Home Phone:  

Contact Business Phone:  

Contact Fax:  

Contact Cell Phone:  

Contact Email Address:  

Contact Web Address:  

251-626-8018

20141020160906497

APPLICATION

$450.00

CORPORATION

251-626-1422

$75.00

BALDWIN

$75.00

11998556

251-626-1422

040 - RETAIL BEER (ON OR OFF PREMISES)

040 - RETAIL BEER (ON OR OFF PREMISES)

060 - RETAIL TABLE WINE (ON OR OFF PREMISES)

060 - RETAIL TABLE WINE (ON OR OFF PREMISES)

$225.00

$100.00
$100.00

THE FRESH MARKET

$225.00

628 GREEN VALLEY ROAD; SUITE 500
GREENSBORO, NC  27408

DAPHNE, AL  36526
6900 US HIGHWAY 90; SUITE 2

$300.00

$150.00
$150.00

THE FRESH MARKET INC

JAMES BASLER

Application Fee for License 040 and License 060

$150.00

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 44



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 45



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 46



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 47



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 48



 

EXCERPTS FROM THE MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY 

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DAPHNE, ALABAMA HELD ON __________, 2014 

 

 

The City Council of the City of Daphne, Alabama met at the City Hall in the City of Daphne 

on Monday, ___________, 2014 at 6:30 p.m., Central Time.  The following members of the City 

Council of the City of Daphne, Alabama were: 

PRESENT ABSENT 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

 

 _______________ acted as Chairman of the meeting and Rebecca A. Hayes, City Clerk, 

acted as Clerk of the meeting.  The chairman stated that a quorum was present and declared the 

meeting open for the transaction of business. 

 

 * * * * * * 

The Chairman then stated that it would be appropriate to consider a resolution providing for 

the early call and redemption of certain of the City’s outstanding debt obligations.  The following 

resolution and order was thereupon introduced in writing by Councilmember _____________:   

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 49



35355994  2 

CITY OF DAPHNE 

RESOLUTION 2014-54 

 

A RESOLUTION CALLING FOR THE REDEMPTION OF THE CITY’S 

GENERAL OBLIGATION WARRANTS, SERIES 2003 AND THE REDEMPTION OF A 

PORTION OF THE CITY’S GENERAL OBLIGATION AND IMPROVEMENT 

WARRANTS, SERIES 2006 

 

BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Daphne, Alabama (the 

“Council”), as follows: 

 

Section 1.  Findings of Fact.  The Council has determined and hereby finds and declares that 

the following facts are true and correct: 

 

(a) The City of Daphne, Alabama (the “City”) has heretofore issued, pursuant to an 

Ordinance adopted by the Council on May 19, 2003 (the “2003 Ordinance”), its City of Daphne 

General Obligation Refunding Warrants, Series 2003, dated May 1, 2003, originally issued in the 

aggregate principal amount of $6,455,000 (the “Series 2003 Warrants”). 

 

(b) The City has heretofore issued, pursuant to an Ordinance adopted by the Council on 

April 17, 2006 (the “2006 Ordinance”), its City of Daphne General Obligation Refunding and 

Improvement Warrants, Series 2006, dated April 1, 2006, originally issued in the aggregate principal 

amount of $25,230,000 (the “Series 2006 Warrants”). 

 

(c) The Series 2003 Warrants are currently outstanding in the aggregate principal amount 

of $2,015,000. 

 

(d) The Series 2006 Warrants are currently outstanding in the aggregate principal amount 

of $17,185,000. 

 

(e) The City desires to refund all of the outstanding Series 2003 Warrants and a portion 

of the outstanding Series 2006 Warrants. 

 

(f) The City is not in default in the payment of principal of or interest on the Series 2003 

Warrants or the Series 2006 Warrants or under the 2003 Ordinance or the 2006 Ordinance. 

 

Section 2.  Call for Redemption of the Series 2003 Warrants.  Acting pursuant to the 

provisions of the Series 2003 Warrants and the 2003 Ordinance, the City does hereby elect to redeem 

and pay, and does hereby call for redemption and payment on December 9, 2014 (the “2003 Call 

Date”) $2,015,000 in aggregate principal amount of the Series 2003 Warrants (being all of the Series 

2003 Warrants currently outstanding), the redemption of which shall be effected at a redemption 

price equal to 100% of the principal amount of each Series 2003 Warrant so called for redemption 

plus accrued interest thereon to the 2003 Call Date. 

 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 50



35355994  3 

Section 3.  Call for Redemption of the Series 2006 Warrants.  Acting pursuant to the 

provisions of the Series 2006 Warrants and the 2006 Ordinance, the City does hereby elect to redeem 

and pay, and does hereby call for redemption and payment on April 1, 2016 (the “2006 Call Date”) 

$6,600,000 in aggregate principal amount of the Series 2006 Warrants (being a portion of the portion 

of the Series 2006 Warrants maturing after April 1, 2017 allocable to the proceeds of the Series 2006 

Warrants used for capital improvements and as provided on Exhibit A attached to this Resolution), 

the redemption of which shall be effected at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal 

amount of each Series 2006 Warrant so called for redemption plus accrued interest thereon to the 

2006 Call Date. 

 

Section 4.  Provisions for Notice for the Series 2003 Warrants.  The Bank of New York 

Mellon Trust Company, N.A. in Birmingham, Alabama is hereby directed, in its capacity as paying 

agent for the Series 2003 Warrants, to cause written notice of such redemption and prepayment to be 

given in the manner and at the time prescribed in the 2003 Ordinance. 

 

Section 5.  Provisions for Notice for the Series 2006 Warrants.  The Bank of New York 

Mellon Trust Company, N.A. in Birmingham, Alabama is hereby directed, in its capacity as paying 

agent for the Series 2006 Warrants, to cause written notice of such redemption and prepayment to be 

given in the manner and at the time prescribed in the 2006 Ordinance. 

 

Section 6.  Authorization to Call.  The Mayor of the City, the City Clerk of the City and the 

City Treasurer of the City are each hereby authorized and directed to take or cause to be taken, in the 

name and behalf of the City, all of the actions required by the provisions of the 2003 Ordinance 

under which the Series 2003 Warrants were issued and all of the actions required by the provisions 

of the 2006 Ordinance under which the Series 2006 Warrants were issued to be taken in order to 

effect the redemption of the Series 2003 Warrants and the Series 2006 Warrants as herein called for. 

 

Councilmember      moved that the forgoing resolution be adopted 

and spread upon the minutes of this meeting, which motion was seconded by Councilmember  

   , and, on roll call the following vote was registered: 

 

YEAS NAYS 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

The Chairman thereupon announced that said resolution had been carried by    

vote of the Council present. 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 51



35355994  4 

RESOLUTION 2014-54 

 

ADOPTED AND APPROVE BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DAPHNE, 

ALABAMA this _____ day of _________, 2014. 

 

________________________________________ 

Council President    

      

 

___________________________________________ 

Dane Haygood, Mayor 

 

[SEAL] 

      ATTEST: 

 

              

      Rebecca A. Hayes, City Clerk 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 52



35355994  5 

Exhibit A to Resolution 2014 - 54 

 

 

Maturity 

Date 

Amount 

Maturing 

04/01/2021 $ 65,000 

04/01/2022   695,000 

04/01/2023   725,000 

04/01/2024   765,000 

04/01/2025   795,000 

04/01/2026   830,000 

04/01/2027   870,000 

04/01/2028   905,000 

04/01/2029   950,000 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 53



35355994  6 

*  *  *  *  *  * 

The Chairman then stated that it would be appropriate to consider the issuance of                   

$10,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of the City's General Obligation Refunding and 

Improvement Warrants, Series 2014, for the purpose of refunding certain of the City’s outstanding 

general obligation indebtedness, paying a portion of the cost of various sewer construction and 

improvements projects, land acquisition and infrastructure improvements for a technology park or 

other authorized projects for the City, and paying the expenses of issuing the City's General 

Obligation Refunding and Improvement Warrants, Series 2014.  The following ordinance was 

thereupon introduced in writing by Councilmember __________:   

 

 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 54



35355994  7 

ORDINANCE NO. 2014-52 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF 

$10,000,000 OF GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING AND IMPROVEMENT 

WARRANTS, SERIES 2014 

 

 

BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Daphne, Alabama, as follows: 

 

 ARTICLE I 

 

 DEFINITIONS, USE OF WORDS AND 

 PHRASES, AND FINDINGS BY THE CITY 

 

 

Section 1.1  Definitions.  The following words and phrases and others evidently intended as 

the equivalent thereof shall, in the absence of clear implication herein otherwise, be given the 

following respective interpretations: 

 

“Bank” means The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., in its role as Warrant 

Registrar and Paying Agent.  

 

“Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or day on which banking 

institutions are required or authorized to close in the city in which the designated corporate trust 

agency office of the Bank is located, or on which the Federal Reserve Bank is closed. 

 

“Capital Improvements” shall have the meaning given that term in Section 1.3(f) hereof, 

subject to being amended and supplemented as provided in Section 8.2 hereof. 

 

 “City” means the municipal corporation in the State of Alabama known as the City of 

Daphne, Alabama, as it now exists, and any political subdivision resulting from any merger or 

consolidation thereof with any other political subdivision. 

 

“City Clerk” means the city clerk of the City. 

 

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended. 

 

“Council” means the governing body of the City as from time to time constituted. 

 

“Direct Participant” means securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing 

corporations and certain other organizations which participate in the Securities Depository with 

respect to the Warrants. 

 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 55



35355994  8 

“Escrow Trustee” means The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as escrow 

trustee for the Series 2003 Warrants under the terms of the 2003 Escrow Trust Agreement and as 

escrow trustee for the Series 2006 Warrants under the terms of the 2006 Escrow Trust Agreement. 

 

“Government Obligations” means direct obligations of the United States of America and 

obligations unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America. 

 

“Interest Payment Date” means, with respect to the Warrants, any April 1 or October 1, 

prior to payment thereof. 

 

 “Overdue Interest” means interest due but not paid on the Interest Payment Date on which 

such interest is required to be paid. 

 

 “Record Date” means, as to any Interest Payment Date, the March 15 or September 15 

immediately preceding such Interest Payment Date. 

 

“Redemption Date” means the date for redemption of the Warrants determined pursuant to 

the terms of this Ordinance and provided in the notice provided for in Section 5.2. 

 

“Redemption Price” means the price for redemption of the Warrants determined pursuant to 

the terms of this Ordinance and provided in the notice provided for in Section 5.2. 

  

 “Securities Depository” has the meaning given that term in Section 3.5 hereof. 

 

“Series 2003 Warrants” means the City’s General Obligation Warrants, Series 2003, dated 

May 19, 2003, originally issued in the aggregate principal amount of $6,455,000. 

 

“Series 2006 Warrants” means the City’s Limited Obligation Special Tax Warrants, dated 

April 17, 2006, originally issued in the aggregate principal amount of $25,230,000. 

 

“Treasurer” shall mean the treasurer or any assistant treasurer of the City.   

 

“Warrant Authorizing Law” means Section 4, Chapter 81 and Section 2, Chapter 47 of 

Title 11, Code of Alabama, 1975. 

 

“Warrant Fund” means the special account created pursuant to Section 8.3 hereof. 

 

“Warrant Holder” or “Holder” means the registered holder, from time to time, of any of the 

Warrants. 

 

“Warrants,” unless otherwise indicated, means the $10,000,000 in aggregate principal 

amount of the City's General Obligation Refunding and Improvement Warrants, Series 2014, as more 

particularly described in Article II hereof and issued hereunder. 

 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 56



35355994  9 

“2003 Escrow Trust Agreement” means the Escrow Trust Agreement – 2003 Warrants, 

dated as of May 1, 2003, between the City and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., 

the successor in interest to Southtrust Bank, as Escrow Trustee. 

 

“2006 Escrow Trust Agreement” means the Escrow Trust Agreement – 2006 Warrants, 

dated as of April 1, 2006, between the City and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, 

N.A., the successor in interest to The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A., as Escrow Trustee. 

 

Section 1.2  Use of Words and Phrases.  The following provisions shall be applied 

wherever appropriate herein: 

 

Whenever used herein, any pronoun or pronouns shall be deemed to include both singular 

and plural and to cover all genders. 

 

"Hereby", "herein", "hereinafter", "hereof", "hereunder" and other equivalent words refer to 

this Ordinance as a whole and not solely to any particular portion thereof in which any such word is 

used. 

 

The definitions set forth in Section 1.1 hereof shall be deemed applicable whether the words 

defined are herein used in the singular or plural. 

 

Section 1.3  Findings of Council.  Having made due and proper investigation of the matters 

hereinafter referred to, the Council hereby finds and determines: 

 

(a) The City has heretofore issued the Series 2003 Warrants pursuant to an Ordinance 

adopted by the Council on May 19, 2003 (the “2003 Ordinance”).  

(b) The City has heretofore issued the Series 2006 Warrants pursuant to an Ordinance 

adopted by the Council on April 17, 2006 (the “2006 Ordinance”).  

(c) The City is not in default on the payment of the principal of and the interest on the 

Series 2003 Warrants or the Series 2006 Warrants. 

(d) By a resolution previously adopted, the City has called all of the outstanding Series 

2003 Warrants for redemption. 

(e) By a resolution previously adopted, the City has called a portion of the outstanding 

Series 2006 Warrants coming due after April 1, 2017 for redemption. 

(f) It is necessary, advisable and in the interest of the public that the City pay a portion of 

the costs of the acquisition, construction and installation of certain sewer construction 

and improvement projects, land acquisition and infrastructure improvements for a 

technology park within the City (the “Capital Improvements”), which acquisition, 

construction and installation are expected to cost approximately $3,000,000 and 

which shall include sewer improvements, and land acquisition and infrastructure 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 57



35355994  10 

improvements for a technology park in an amount not to exceed the amounts in the 

2014 Capital Improvements Account, and/or any other authorized purposes pursuant 

to a later action by the Council and in compliance with the requirements of this 

Ordinance. 

(g) Pursuant to the Warrant Authorizing Law the City is authorized to issue its warrants, 

in order to refund outstanding indebtedness of the City and to finance the Capital 

Improvements. 

(h) It is necessary, advisable and in the interest of the public that the City issue its 

General Obligation Refunding and Improvement Warrants, Series 2014 to refund the 

Series 2003 Warrants and the a portion of Series 2006 Warrants, to pay costs of the 

Capital Improvements and to pay costs of issuance and sale of such Warrants. 

 

 ARTICLE II 

 

 AUTHORIZATION, DESCRIPTION, 

 EXECUTION, PAYMENT AND FORM OF THE WARRANTS 

 

Section 2.1  Authorization of the Warrants.  Pursuant to the applicable provisions of the 

constitution and laws of the State of Alabama, and for the purposes of refunding all of the Series 

2003 Warrants and Series 2006 Warrants and paying the costs of issuance thereof, there is hereby 

authorized to be issued by the City $10,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of its General 

Obligation Refunding and Improvement Warrants, Series 2014.   

 

Section 2.2  Description of the Warrants.  The Warrants shall be issued only in fully 

registered form, without coupons, shall be dated as the date of their delivery, shall be issued in 

principal amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof, and shall be numbered from R-1 

upwards in the order of their issuance and delivery.  The Warrants shall bear interest from the date of 

their delivery (or in the case of a Warrant registered in the name of a Holder after the date of their 

delivery from the Interest Payment Date next preceding the date of such registration or, if the date of 

such registration is an Interest Payment Date, from the date of registration) at the rates shown below 

(calculated on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months), payable on each April 1 and 

October 1 until payment of the principal amount thereof, beginning April 1, 2015 and, subject to the 

redemption provisions hereinafter set forth, shall mature on April 1 in the years and amounts as 

follows: 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 58



35355994  11 

 

 

Section 2.3  Execution of the Warrants.  The Warrants shall be executed in the name of the 

City by the manual or facsimile signatures of the Mayor of the City and its City Clerk inscribed or 

printed or otherwise reproduced thereon (it being herein provided that a condition to the validity of 

each Warrant is the manual execution on behalf of the Bank of the Registration Certificate endorsed 

on each Warrant).  The Warrants shall be registered by the Treasurer of the City, in the records 

maintained by the Treasurer, as a claim against the City and the Warrant Fund, which registration 

shall be made simultaneously as to all the Warrants.  The certificate of registration on each of the 

Warrants shall be executed by the manual or facsimile signature of the Treasurer of the City.  The 

official seal of the City shall be impressed or printed or otherwise reproduced thereon and shall be 

attested by the aforementioned signature of the City Clerk. The said officers are hereby directed to 

cause the Warrants to be executed, sealed and registered in the manner provided by this section.  

Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, any assistant city clerk shall be empowered to 

execute any Warrant in the absence or unavailability of the City Clerk and any assistant treasurer of 

the City shall be empowered to execute any Warrant in the absence or unavailability of the Treasurer. 

 

Section 2.4  Places and Medium of Payment of the Warrants. Principal of and interest on 

the Warrants shall be payable in lawful money of the United States of America.  The principal of the 

Warrants shall be payable at the designated corporate trust agency office of the Bank, upon 

presentation and surrender of the Warrants as the same become due and payable.  Interest on the 

Warrants shall be payable by check or draft mailed by the Bank to the lawful holders of the Warrants 

at the address shown on the registry books of the Bank pertaining to the Warrants as of the Record 

Date and shall be deemed timely made if so mailed on the Interest Payment Date (or if such Interest 

Payment Date is not a Business Day, on the Business Day next following such Interest Payment 

Date).   

 

Year of 
Maturity 

Amount Maturing Interest Rate 

2015 $100,000    2.00% 
2016   610,000 2.00 
2017   625,000 2.00 
2018   640,000 2.00 
2019   645,000 2.00 
2020   120,000 2.00 
2021   185,000 2.00 
2022   815,000 2.00 
2023   830,000 2.10 
2024   855,000 2.30 
2025   870,000 2.40 
2026   890,000 2.50 
2027   915,000 2.70 
2028   935,000 2.80 
2029   965,000 2.90 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 59



35355994  12 

Section 2.5  Forms of the Warrants and Related Certificates.  The Warrants, the 

certificate of registration thereof, the registration thereof as a claim against the Warrant Fund, and the 

form of assignment thereof shall be in substantially the following forms, with appropriate changes 

therein to conform to the applicable provisions hereof: 

 

 

[Remainder of this Page Intentionally Left Blank] 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 60



35355994  13 

(Form of Series 2014 Warrant) 

 

[FORM OF CAPTION FOR WARRANTS HELD IN BOOK ENTRY FORM] 

 

Unless this certificate is presented by an authorized representative of The Depository Trust 

Company, a New York corporation ("DTC"), to the City or its agent for registration of transfer, 

exchange, or payment, and any certificate issued is registered in the name of Cede & Co. or in such 

other name as is requested by an authorized representative of DTC (and any payment is made to 

Cede & Co. or to such other entity as is requested by an authorized representative of DTC), ANY 

TRANSFER, PLEDGE, OR OTHER USE HEREOF FOR VALUE OR OTHERWISE BY OR TO 

ANY PERSON IS WRONGFUL inasmuch as the registered owner hereof, Cede & Co., has an 

interest herein. 

 

No. R-________________        $_________________ 

 

 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

STATE OF ALABAMA 

CITY OF DAPHNE 

GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING AND IMPROVEMENT WARRANT 

SERIES 2014 

 

 

MATURITY DATE  CUSIP NUMBER INTEREST RATE 

   

 

 

THE CITY OF DAPHNE, ALABAMA, a municipal corporation in the State of Alabama (the 

"City"), for value received, hereby acknowledges that it is indebted in the principal sum of 

 

 _______________________________ DOLLARS 

 

and hereby directs the Treasurer of the City to pay such principal sum to 

 

 _______________________________________ 

 

or registered assigns, on the maturity date specified above or such earlier date as this Warrant may be 

called for redemption, and to pay (but solely out of the Warrant Fund) interest on such principal sum 

from the date hereof (or in the case of a Warrant registered in the name of the registered Holder 

hereof on or after the date hereof, as evidenced by the Certificate of Registration attached hereto, 

from the Interest Payment Date next preceding the date of such registration or, if the date of such 

registration is an Interest Payment Date, from the date of registration), until such principal sum shall 

become due and payable, at the per annum rate of interest specified above.  Interest shall be payable 

on April 1 and October 1 in each year, beginning April 1, 2015 (each such date herein called an 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 61



35355994  14 

"Interest Payment Date"), and shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year with 12 months of 30 

days each.  Interest shall be payable on overdue principal (and premium, if any) on this Warrant and 

(to the extent legally enforceable) on any overdue installment of interest on this Warrant at the rate 

borne hereby.   

 

The interest so payable, and punctually paid or duly provided for, on any Interest Payment 

Date will, as provided in the Authorizing Ordinance hereinafter described, be paid to the person in 

whose name this Warrant is registered at the close of business on the 15th day of the month next 

preceding such Interest Payment Date. 

 

The Warrants are being issued by means of a book-entry system with no physical distribution 

of warrant certificates to be made except as provided in the Authorizing Ordinance (as hereinafter 

defined).  One warrant certificate, in the aggregate principal amount of each maturity of the 

Warrants, registered in the name of Cede & Co. as nominee of the DTC, is being issued and required 

to be deposited with DTC (or an authorized banking institution acceptable to DTC) and immobilized 

in its custody.  The book-entry system will evidence ownership of the Warrants, with transfers of 

ownership effected on the records of DTC and its participants pursuant to rules and procedures 

established by DTC and its participants.  Transfer of principal, interest and any redemption premium 

payments to beneficial owners of the Warrants by participants of DTC will be the responsibility of 

such participants and other nominees of such beneficial owners.  The City will not be responsible or 

liable for such transfers of payments or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing the records 

maintained by DTC, and to participants or persons acting through such participants.  While Cede & 

Co. is the registered owner of this Warrant, notwithstanding the provisions hereinabove contained, 

payments of principal, interest and any redemption premium on this Warrant will be made in 

accordance with the existing arrangements between the Paying Agent and DTC. 

 

Subject to the foregoing paragraph, payment of interest on this Warrant due on each Interest 

Payment Date shall be made by check or draft mailed by the Paying Agent to the person entitled 

thereto at his address appearing in the Warrant Register maintained with respect to the Warrants.  

Such payments of interest shall be deemed timely made if so mailed on the Interest Payment Date 

(or, if such Interest Payment Date is not a business day, on the business day next following such 

Interest Payment Date).  Payment of the principal of (and premium, if any, on) this Warrant and 

payment of accrued interest on this Warrant due upon redemption shall be made only upon surrender 

of this Warrant at the designated corporate trust agency office of the hereinafter described Bank.  

Upon the terms and conditions provided in the Authorizing Ordinance, the Holder of any Warrant or 

Warrants in an aggregate principal amount of not less than $100,000 may request that payment of 

interest on such Warrant or Warrants be made by wire transfer to an account of such Holder 

maintained at a bank in the continental United States or by any other method providing for same-day 

funds that is acceptable to the Bank.  All such payments shall be made in such coin or currency of the 

United States of America as at the time of payment is legal tender for the payment of public and 

private debts. 

 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 62



35355994  15 

This Warrant is one of the duly authorized issue of warrants of the City, aggregating 

$10,000,000 in principal amount, entitled "General Obligation Refunding and Improvement 

Warrants, Series 2014" (the "Warrants") and issued under and pursuant to an ordinance duly adopted 

by the governing body of the City (the "Authorizing Ordinance") and the constitution and laws of the 

State of Alabama, including particularly Section 4, Chapter 81, and Section 2, Chapter 47, of Title 11 

of the Code of Alabama, 1975.  Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the 

meanings assigned in the Authorizing Ordinance. 

 

The Authorizing Ordinance provides that The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, 

N.A. (the "Bank"), will serve as Paying Agent and Registrar with respect to the Warrants unless and 

until a successor is appointed pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Authorizing Ordinance.  

For purposes of this Warrant and the Authorizing Ordinance, the principal office of the Bank shall 

mean the office where the Bank maintains its designated corporate trust agency office, as shall be 

designated by the Bank by written notice to the City and the Holders of the Warrants. 

 

The indebtedness evidenced by the Warrants is a general obligation of the City for the 

payment of which the full faith and credit of the City have been irrevocably pledged, pro rata and 

without preference or priority of one Warrant over another.  

 

Pursuant to the Authorizing Ordinance, the City has established a special fund for the 

payment of debt service on the Warrants (the "Warrant Fund") that will be held by the Bank.  The 

City has obligated itself to pay or cause to be paid into the Warrant Fund from the taxes, revenues or 

other funds of the City sums sufficient to provide for the payment of debt service on the Warrants as 

the same becomes due and payable. 

   

The Warrants, maturing on or after April 1, 2022 are subject to redemption prior to their 

maturity, at the option of the City, in whole or in part, on April 1, 2021, and on any date thereafter 

(in principal amounts of $5,000 and any integral multiple thereof and if less than all of the Warrants 

are to be redeemed, those maturities or portions thereof to be called for redemption shall be selected 

by the City in its discretion, and if less than all the Warrants of a single maturity are to be redeemed, 

those to be called for redemption shall be selected by lot), at and for a redemption price equal to 

100% of the principal amount of each Warrant or portion thereof redeemed, plus accrued interest to 

the date fixed for redemption. 

 

 Written notice of the call for redemption of this Warrant (or portion of the principal thereof) 

shall be forwarded by United States registered or certified mail to the registered owner hereof, not 

less than thirty (30) days prior to the date fixed for redemption.  Such notice of redemption relative 

to the Warrants shall state that it is conditioned on there being sufficient money on deposit to pay the 

full redemption price of the Warrants on the redemption date.  In the event that less than all the 

outstanding principal of this Warrant is to be redeemed, the registered Holder hereof shall surrender 

this Warrant to the Bank in exchange for a new Warrant of like tenor herewith except in a principal 

amount equal to the unredeemed portion hereof.  Upon the giving of notice of redemption in 

accordance with the provisions of the Authorizing Ordinance, the Warrants (or principal portions 

thereof) so called for redemption and prepayment shall become due and payable on the date specified 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 63



35355994  16 

in such notice, anything herein or in the Authorizing Ordinance to the contrary notwithstanding, and 

the Holders thereof shall then and there surrender them for payment, and all future interest on the 

Warrants (or principal portion thereof) so called for prepayment shall cease to accrue after the date 

specified in such notice, whether or not the Warrants are so presented. 

 

This Warrant is transferable by the registered holder hereof, in person or by authorized 

attorney, only on the books of the Bank, as Registrar and Transfer Agent of the City, and only upon 

surrender of this Warrant to such Registrar for cancellation, and upon any such transfer a new 

Warrant of like tenor herewith will be issued to the transferee in exchange therefor, all as more 

particularly described in the Authorizing Ordinance.  Each Holder hereof, by receiving or accepting 

this Warrant, shall consent and agree and shall be estopped to deny that this Warrant may be 

transferred only in accordance with the provisions of the Authorizing Ordinance.  Provision is also 

made in the Authorizing Ordinance for the exchange of Warrants for a like aggregate principal 

amount and in authorized denominations, all upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in 

the Authorizing Ordinance. 

 

The Registrar shall not be required to transfer or exchange this Warrant during the period of 

fifteen (15) days next preceding any interest payment date; and, in the event that this Warrant (or any 

principal portion hereof) is duly called for redemption and prepayment, the Registrar shall not be 

required to register or transfer this Warrant during the period of sixty (60) days next preceding the 

date fixed for such redemption and prepayment. 

 

Registration, transfer and exchange of Warrants, other than to replace mutilated, lost, stolen 

or destroyed Warrants, shall be without expense to the Holder or transferee, but the Holder shall pay 

all taxes and other governmental charges, if any, required to be paid in connection with such transfer, 

registration or exchange. 

 

It has been ascertained and found, and it is hereby certified and recited, that all conditions, 

actions and things required by the constitution and laws of Alabama to exist, be performed or happen 

precedent to or in the issuance of this Warrant and the creation of the indebtedness evidenced and 

ordered paid, hereby exist, have been performed and have happened, that such indebtedness has been 

registered as a claim against the Warrant Fund and is lawfully due without condition, and that the 

indebtedness evidenced and ordered paid by this Warrant, together with all other indebtedness of the 

City, was when incurred and is now within every debt and other limit prescribed by the constitution 

and laws of Alabama. 

 

Unless the Registration Certificate hereon has been executed by the Bank, as Registrar for the 

Warrants, by manual signature, this Warrant shall not be entitled to any benefit under the 

Authorizing Ordinance or be valid or obligatory for any purpose. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City has caused this Warrant to be executed in its behalf by 

the Mayor and by the City Clerk of the City, each of whom have caused their facsimile signatures to 

be hereunto imprinted, has caused the official seal of the City to be imprinted hereon, and has caused 

this Warrant to be dated ___________, 2014.   

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 64



35355994  17 

 

CITY OF DAPHNE, ALABAMA 

 

 

 

(SEAL)      By___________________________________ 

        Its Mayor 

 

       ATTEST: 

 

 

       By       

       City Clerk  

 

 

  * * * * * * * 

 

 (Form of Registration as Claim against Warrant Fund) 

 

I hereby certify that this Warrant has been registered by me as a claim against the Warrant 

Fund referred to in this Warrant.   

 

 

___________________________________ 

Treasurer of the 

City of Daphne, Alabama 

 

 

 

 

 

[Form of Registration Certificate] 

 

This Warrant was registered in the name of the above-registered owner on the date 

hereinafter set forth. 

 

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST  

COMPANY, N.A. 

 

 

By_____________________________________  

         Its Authorized Officer 

 

DATE OF REGISTRATION: ________________ 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 65



35355994  18 

(Form of Assignment) 

 

 

For value received ____________________________ hereby sell(s), assign(s) and transfer(s) 

unto ______________________ the within Warrant and hereby irrevocably constitute(s) and 

appoint(s) ________________________, as attorney and Warrant Registrar and Transfer Agent, with 

full power of substitution in the premises, to transfer the Bond on the books of the within mentioned 

Bank. 

 

Dated this the ____ day of ___________________, ____. 

 

____________________________________ 

NOTE: The signature on this assignment must 

correspond with the name of the registered 

owner as it appears on the face of the within 

Warrant in every particular, without alteration, 

enlargement or change whatsoever. 

Signature guaranteed: 

(Bank, Trust company or Firm) 

 

By: ___________________________     

          (Authorized Officer) 

 

Its Medallion Number _________________________________ 

Signature(s) must be guaranteed by an eligible guarantor institution which is a member of a 

recognized signature guarantee program, i.e., Securities Transfer Agents Medallion Program 

(STAMP), Stock Exchanges Medallion Program (SEMP), or New York Stock Exchange Medallion 

Signature Program (MSP)  

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 66



35355994 19 

 ARTICLE III 

 

 FURTHER PROVISIONS WITH RESPECT TO 

 WARRANTS 

 

Section 3.1  Home Office Payment Agreement.  Upon the written request of the Holder of 

any Warrant or Warrants in an aggregate principal amount of not less than $100,000, the Bank will 

make payment of interest due on such Warrant or Warrants upon any Interest Payment Date by wire 

transfer to an account of such Holder maintained at a bank in the continental United States or by any 

other method providing for payment in same-day funds that is acceptable to the Bank, provided that 

payment of the principal of and redemption premium (if any) on such Warrant or Warrants shall be 

made only upon surrender of such Warrant or Warrants to the Bank, as Paying Agent. 

 

Section 3.2  Interest After Payment Due Date.  The Warrants, any premiums thereon and, 

to the extent legally enforceable, overdue installments of interest thereon, shall bear interest after the 

maturity dates thereof or such earlier date as they may be called for redemption, until paid or until 

money sufficient for the payment thereof shall have been deposited for that purpose with the Bank, at 

the respective rates borne thereby.   

 

Any provision hereof to the contrary notwithstanding, Overdue Interest shall not be payable 

to the Warrant Holder solely by reason of such Warrant Holder having been the Holder on the 

Record Date next preceding the Interest Payment Date on which such interest became due and 

payable, but shall be payable by the Bank as follows: 

 

 (a) Not less than ten (10) days following receipt by the Bank of immediately 

available funds in an amount sufficient to enable the Bank to pay all Overdue Interest, the 

Bank shall fix an Overdue Interest Payment Date for payment of such Overdue Interest, 

which date shall be not more than twenty (20) days following the expiration of the ten-day 

period after receipt of funds by the Bank; 

 

 (b) Overdue Interest shall be paid by check or draft mailed by the Bank to the 

persons in whose names the Warrants were registered in the registry books of the Bank 

pertaining to the Warrants on the Overdue Interest Payment Date. 

 

Payment of Overdue Interest in the manner herein prescribed to the persons in whose names the 

Warrants were registered on the Overdue Interest Payment Date shall fully discharge and satisfy all 

liability for the same. 

 

Section 3.3  Temporary Certificates.  Pending the preparation of definitive Warrants the 

City may execute, and upon request of the City, the Bank shall register and deliver, temporary 

certificates which are printed, lithographed, typewritten, mimeographed or otherwise produced, in 

any authorized denomination, substantially of the tenor of the definitive Warrants in lieu of which 

they are issued, but numbered from R-1 upwards, without other identification numbers, and with 

such other appropriate insertions, omissions, substitutions and other variations as the officers 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 67



35355994 20 

executing such temporary certificates may determine, as evidenced by their execution of such 

temporary certificates. 

 

Any such temporary certificates shall be executed by the manual signatures of the appropriate 

officers of the City as required in Article II of this Ordinance and be executed and attested by the 

City Clerk.  All such temporary certificates shall have impressed thereon the seal of the City. 

 

If temporary Warrants are issued, the City will cause definitive Warrants to be prepared 

without unreasonable delay.  After the preparation of definitive Warrants, the temporary Warrants 

shall be exchangeable for definitive Warrants upon surrender of the temporary Warrants at the 

principal office of the Bank, without charge to the Holder.  Upon surrender for cancellation of any 

one or more temporary Warrants the City shall execute and the Bank shall authenticate and deliver in 

exchange therefor a like principal amount of definitive Warrants of like tenor, and in authorized 

denominations.  Until so exchanged, temporary Warrants shall in all respects be entitled to the 

security and benefits of this Ordinance. 

 

Section 3.4  Payments Due on a Day Other Than a Business Day.  If any payment on the 

Warrants is due on a day which is not a Business Day, such payment shall be made on the first 

succeeding date which is a Business Day with the same effect as if made on the day such payment 

was due. 

 

Section 3.5  Book Entry System.  The City may from time to time enter into, and 

discontinue, an agreement with a “clearing agency” (securities depository) registered under Section 

17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (a “Securities Depository”), which is the 

owner of the Warrants, to establish procedures with respect to the Warrants, not inconsistent with the 

provisions of this Ordinance; provided, however, that any such agreement may provide: 

 

(a) that such Securities Depository is not required to present a Warrant to the Paying 

Agent in order to receive partial payment of principal; 

 

(b) that a legend shall appear on each Warrant so long as the Warrants are subject to such 

agreement; and 

 

(c) that different provisions for notice to such Securities Depository may be set forth 

therein. 

 

So long as an agreement with a Securities Depository is in effect, the City, the Bank and any 

paying agent or bond registrar shall not have any responsibility or liability with respect to the 

payment of principal, purchase price, premium, if any, or interest on the Warrants to the beneficial 

owners or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such beneficial 

ownership interests or any payments made to such beneficial owners. 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 68



35355994 21 

 ARTICLE IV 

 

 GENERAL OBLIGATION; PROVISION 

 FOR PAYMENT OF OBLIGATIONS 

 

Section 4.1  General Obligation.  The indebtedness evidenced by the Warrants is and shall 

be a general obligation of the City and the full faith and credit of the City are hereby irrevocably 

pledged to the payment of the principal thereof and interest thereon.  

 

Section 4.2  Continued Levy of Taxes; Maintenance of Warrant Fund.  The City agrees 

that, so long as the principal of or interest on any of the Warrants remains unpaid, the City will 

annually levy and collect taxes, insofar as such taxes may be permitted by the present or any future 

provisions of the Constitution of Alabama, in such amounts as may be necessary to provide for the 

payment of the principal of and interest on the Warrants.  The City further agrees that so long as the 

principal of or interest on any of the Warrants remains unpaid it will deposit in the Warrant Fund 

with respect to such Warrants, not later than the 25th day of the month next preceding an Interest 

Payment Date, an amount which, when added to the amounts then on deposit in such Warrant Fund, 

will equal the principal, interest and redemption premium (if any) to come due with respect to the 

Warrants on such Interest Payment Date. 

 

Section 4.3  Provision for Payment.  (a)  If the principal of and interest and redemption 

premium (if any) on the Warrants is paid in accordance with the terms thereof and this Ordinance, 

then all covenants, agreements and other obligations of the City to the Holders of such Warrants 

shall thereupon cease, terminate and become void and be discharged and satisfied.  In the event the 

Warrants are so paid the Bank shall pay to the City any surplus remaining in the Warrant Fund. 

 

(b)  Warrants shall, prior to the maturity or redemption date thereof, be deemed to have been 

paid within the meaning and with the effect expressed in subsection (a) of this Section 4.3 if 

 

(1) the City and the Bank (or another bank acting as trustee) enter into an 

appropriate trust agreement under which there shall be deposited, for 

payment or redemption of such Warrants and for payment of the 

interest to accrue thereon until maturity or redemption, and any 

redemption premium thereon, Government Obligations and cash or 

any combination of cash and Government Obligations which, together 

with the income to be derived from such, will produce monies 

sufficient to provide for the payment, redemption and retirement of 

such Warrants as and when the same become due; 

 

(2) the City shall have adopted all necessary proceedings providing for 

the redemption of any such Warrants that are required to be redeemed 

prior to their respective maturities and shall have instructed the Bank 

or other trustee under the aforesaid trust agreement to provide such 

notices of redemption as are required under this Ordinance; 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 69



35355994 22 

 

(3) the City and the Bank shall have been furnished with an opinion of 

nationally recognized bond counsel to the effect that the creation of 

any such trust will not result in subjecting to federal income taxation 

the interest on any of the Warrants that are to be paid in accordance 

with such trust; and 

 

(4) the City and the Bank shall have been furnished a certificate of a firm 

of certified public accountants satisfactory to the Bank stating that 

such trust will produce monies sufficient to provide for the full 

payment and retirement of such Warrants as and when the principal of 

and interest and redemption premium (if any) on such Warrants shall 

come due. 

 

 

 ARTICLE V 

 

 REDEMPTION PROVISIONS 

 

Section 5.1 Optional Redemption.  The Warrants, maturing on or after April 1, 2022 are 

subject to redemption prior to their maturity, at the option of the City, in whole or in part, on April 1, 

2021, and on any date thereafter (in principal amounts of $5,000 and any integral multiple thereof 

and if less than all of the Warrants are to be redeemed, those maturities or portions thereof to be 

called for redemption shall be selected by the City in its discretion, and if less than all the Warrants 

of a single maturity are to be redeemed, those to be called for redemption shall be selected by lot), at 

and for a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of each Warrant or portion thereof 

redeemed, plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption. 

 

 Section 5.2 Procedure for Redemption; Resolution Authorizing Redemption.  Not less 

than thirty (30) days prior to the Redemption Date, the City (or the Bank on behalf of the City) shall 

give, or cause to be given, written notice of such redemption and prepayment by United States mail, 

registered or certified, to the Holders of each of the Warrants to be redeemed, in whole or in part, at 

the address of such registered Holder as such address appears on the registry books of the Registrar, 

stating that the Warrants (or principal portions thereof) have been called for redemption and will 

become due and payable at the Redemption Price, on a specified Redemption Date and that all 

interest thereon will cease to accrue after the Redemption Date.  Such notice of redemption relative 

to the Warrants shall state that it is conditioned on there being sufficient money on deposit to pay the 

full redemption price of the Warrants so called for redemption on the redemption date.  The holders 

of any of the Warrants to be redeemed may waive the requirements for notice with respect to the 

Warrants held by them without affecting the validity of the call for redemption of any other 

Warrants.  The City shall cause to be paid and made available at the office of the Bank, on or prior to 

the Redemption Date, the total Redemption Price of the Warrants (or portions thereof) so called for 

redemption on such date.  Out of the moneys so deposited with it, the Bank shall make provision for 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 70



35355994 23 

payment of the Warrants (or principal portions thereof) so called for redemption at the Redemption 

Price and on the Redemption Date. 

 

In addition to the foregoing notice, further notice shall be given by the City to all registered 

securities depositories and to one or more national information services that disseminate notices of 

redemption of obligations such as the Warrants.  No defect in the further notice required in this 

paragraph, and no failure to give all or any portion of such further notice shall in any manner defeat 

the effectiveness of a call for redemption if notice thereof is given as described in the first paragraph 

of this Section 5.2. 

 

Any optional redemption or prepayment of the Warrants or any portion thereof shall be 

effected upon a call by the City, as evidenced by a resolution of the Council, for redemption and 

prepayment of the Warrants to be so redeemed.  Any such resolution pertaining to the Warrants shall 

state (i) that the City is not in default in the payment of the principal of or interest on any of the 

Warrants to be redeemed or (ii) that all of the Warrants then outstanding are to be retired on the 

Redemption Date. 

 

If Warrants have been redeemed pursuant to optional redemption as described above, or if the 

City has delivered Warrants to the Trustee for cancellation, the City may direct that any sinking fund 

amount be reduced by any amount equal to all or a portion of the principal amount of any Warrants 

so redeemed or delivered for cancellation (and not previously used to reduce any sinking fund 

amount).  The City shall deliver any such direction at least 75 days before the redemption date. 

 

 If amounts are being held in the Warrant Fund to be used to redeem Warrants pursuant to the 

mandatory sinking fund redemption provision, in lieu of such redemption, the City may, no later than 

75 days before the redemption date, direct the Bank in writing to use part or all of such moneys to 

purchase such Warrants, in a principal amount not to exceed the next sinking fund amount, which 

Warrants are presented to the City by the owners of the Warrants for purchase and which the City 

directs the Bank to purchase.  The purchase price of such Series 2014 Warrants shall not exceed the 

redemption price of the Warrants which would be redeemed but for the operation of this paragraph 

(accrued interest to be paid from the same fund or account from which accrued interest would be 

paid upon the redemption of such Warrants).  Any such purchase shall be completed prior to the time 

notice would otherwise be required to be given to redeem Warrants.  All Warrants so purchased shall 

be cancelled and applied as a credit (in an amount equal to the principal amount of such Warrants) 

against the next sinking fund amount. 

 

Section 5.3  Result of Redemption of Warrants.  Upon compliance with the requirements 

set forth in this Article V, and if the City is not on the Redemption Date in default in the payment of 

the principal of or interest on the Warrants, the Warrants (or principal portions thereof) called for 

redemption shall become due and payable at the Redemption Price and on the Redemption Date 

specified in the notice provided for in Section 5.2, and the Holders thereof shall then and there 

surrender them for redemption; provided, however, that in the event that less than all of the 

outstanding principal of any Warrant is to be redeemed, the registered Holder thereof shall surrender 

the Warrant that is to be prepaid in part to the Bank in exchange, without expense to the Holder, for a 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 71



35355994 24 

new Warrant of like tenor except in a principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion thereof.  All 

future interest on the Warrants (or principal portions thereof) so called for redemption shall cease to 

accrue after the Redemption Date. 

 

ARTICLE VI 

 

REGISTRATION AND TRANSFER OF THE WARRANTS 

 

Section 6.1  Registration and Transfer of the Warrants.  The Warrants shall be registered 

as to both principal and interest.  Each Warrant shall have endorsed thereon a registration certificate 

substantially in the form provided in Section 2.5 hereof, and a condition to the validity of each 

Warrant shall be the manual execution of such certificate on behalf of the Bank.  The Bank is hereby 

appointed as the Registrar and Transfer Agent for the Warrants, and shall be authorized to keep at its 

designated corporate trust agency office proper registry books in which it shall register the Warrants, 

as to both principal and interest, noting the registry on the Warrants so presented.  Such registration 

shall conclusively designate the Warrant Holder as the sole person to whom or on whose order the 

payment of the principal of and interest on the Warrants so registered may be made.  After such 

registration no transfer of a Warrant so registered shall be valid unless it is presented at the said 

office with written power to transfer, properly stamped if required, in form and with guaranty of 

signature satisfactory to the Registrar, and such new registration noted thereon by the Registrar.  The 

Registrar shall not be required to transfer or exchange such Warrant during the period of fifteen (15) 

days next preceding any interest payment date.  If any Warrant shall be duly called for redemption 

pursuant to the provisions hereof, the Registrar shall not be required to transfer such Warrant during 

the period of sixty (60) days next preceding the date fixed for its redemption. 

 

Section 6.2  Exchange of Warrants.  Upon request of the Holder of any Warrant, the City 

shall execute, and the Bank shall register and deliver, upon surrender to the Bank of the Warrant or 

Warrants, in exchange therefor, a Warrant or Warrants of the same tenor in different authorized 

principal amounts (of $5,000 or integral multiples thereof), together aggregating the same principal 

amount as the then unpaid principal of the Warrant or Warrants so surrendered, all as may be 

requested by the persons surrendering such Warrant or Warrants. 

 

Section 6.3  Costs of Registration, Transfer and Exchange.  The registration, transfer and 

exchange of Warrants (other than pursuant to Section 6.5 hereof) shall be without expense to the 

Holder or transferee.  In every case involving a transfer, registration or exchange, such Holder shall 

pay all taxes and other governmental charges, if any, required to be paid in connection with such 

transfer, registration or exchange. 

 

Section 6.4  Effect of Registration.  The City, the Registrar, and the Paying Agent may 

deem and treat the person in whose name a Warrant is registered on the books of the Registrar as the 

absolute owner thereof for all purposes; they shall not be affected by notice to the contrary; and all 

payments by any of them to the person in whose name a Warrant is registered shall, to the extent of 

such payment, fully discharge all liability thereof. 

 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 72



35355994 25 

Section 6.5  Replacement of Mutilated, Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Warrants.  In the event 

that any Warrant is mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed, the City may execute and deliver a new 

Warrant of like tenor as that mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed; provided, that (a) in the case of any 

such mutilated Warrant, such Warrant is first surrendered to the City and the Bank, and (b) in the 

case of any such lost, stolen or destroyed Warrant, there is first furnished to the City and the Bank 

evidence of such loss, theft or destruction satisfactory to each of them, together with indemnity 

satisfactory to each of them.  The City may charge the Holder with the expense of issuing any such 

new Warrant.   

Section 6.6 Provisions with Respect to Bank.  (a)  Appointment of Bank and Acceptance 

of Duties.  The Bank is herein designated and appointed and shall act as registrar, transfer agent and 

payment agent with respect to the Warrants.  By its acceptance of such duties hereunder, the Bank 

shall accept and agree to perform the duties required by this Ordinance, subject, however, to the 

following conditions: 

 

(i) The Bank shall undertake to perform such duties and only such duties as are 

specifically set forth in this Ordinance, and no implied covenants or obligations shall 

be read into this Ordinance against the Bank. 

(ii) In the absence of bad faith or negligence on its part, the Bank may conclusively rely, 

as to the truth of the statements and the correctness of the opinions expressed therein, 

upon certificates or opinions furnished to the Bank and conforming to the 

requirements of this Ordinance; provided, however, that in the case of any such 

certificates or opinions which by any provision hereof are specifically required to be 

furnished to the Bank, the Bank shall be under a duty to examine the same to 

determine whether or not they conform to the requirements of this Ordinance. 

(iii) The Bank shall not be answerable for other than its gross negligence or willful default 

and the Bank may act through its agents and attorneys with respect to any of its duties 

hereunder. 

(iv) No provision of this Ordinance shall be construed to relieve the Bank from liability 

for its own gross negligence or willful misconduct, except that no provision of this 

Ordinance shall require the Bank to expend or risk its own funds or otherwise incur 

any financial liability in the performance of any of its duties hereunder, or in the 

exercise of any of its rights or powers, if it shall have reasonable grounds for 

believing that repayment of such funds or adequate indemnity against such risk or 

liability is not reasonably assured to it. 

(v) The Bank may consult counsel on any matters connected herewith and shall not be 

answerable for any action taken or failure to take any action in good faith on the 

advice of counsel, provided that its action or inaction is not contrary to any express 

provision hereof. 

(vi) The Bank need not recognize a Holder of a Warrant as such without the satisfactory 

establishment of his title to such Warrant. 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 73



35355994 26 

(vii) Any action taken by the Bank at the request of and with the consent of the Holder of 

a Warrant will bind all subsequent Holders of the same Warrant and any Warrant 

issued hereunder in lieu thereof. 

(viii) The Bank may be a Holder or a pledgee of any of the Warrants as if not the Bank 

hereunder. 

(ix) The Bank shall not be liable for the proper application of any moneys other than 

those that may be paid to or deposited with it. 

(x) The Bank shall not be liable to pay or allow interest on any moneys to be held by it 

under this Ordinance or otherwise to invest any such moneys, except as specifically 

required by this Ordinance or as may be required by law or other written agreement 

between the City and the Bank. 

(xi) The Bank may make any investments permitted or required hereby through its own 

investment department, and any eligible investments issued or held by it hereunder 

shall be deemed investments and not deposits. 

(xii) The Bank shall, upon reasonable written request, inform the City of the amount at the 

time on deposit in any of the special funds or accounts created hereunder. 

(xiii) The recitals of fact herein and in the Warrants are statements by the City and not by 

the Bank, and the Bank is in no way responsible for the validity or security of the 

Warrants or the validity of the security afforded hereby. 

 (b) Resignation by Bank.  The Bank and any successor Bank may resign and be 

discharged from the duties under this Ordinance by causing written notice specifying the effective 

date, postage prepaid, to the City and to every Holder of a Warrant.  Unless the effective date of the 

Bank’s resignation shall coincide with the appointment of a successor Bank by the Holders of the 

Warrants as herein provided, such date shall be at least sixty (60) days after the date on which notice 

to the City and the Holders of the Warrants shall have been mailed. 

 

 (c) Removal of Bank.  The Bank may be removed at any time by an instrument or 

concurrent instruments in writing delivered to the Bank and to the City and signed by the Holders of 

a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Warrants then outstanding. 

 

 (d) Appointment of Successor Bank; Interim Bank.  In case the Bank shall resign, be 

removed, be dissolved, be in course of dissolution of liquidation, or otherwise become incapable of 

acting hereunder, or in case it shall be taken under the control of any public officer or officers or of a 

receiver appointed by a court, a successor may be appointed by Holders of a majority in aggregate 

principal amount of Warrants then outstanding through an instrument or concurrent instruments in 

writing signed by such Holders.   In case of any such resignation or event which causes the Bank to 

be incapable of acting, the City, by an instrument signed by the Mayor, shall appoint an interim Bank 

to serve until a successor Bank shall be appointed by the Holders of a majority in aggregate principal 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 74



35355994 27 

amount of the Warrants, as provided above.  Whenever necessary to avoid or fill a vacancy in the 

office of Bank, the City will appoint an interim Bank in order that there shall at all times be a Bank 

hereunder.  Any interim Bank so appointed by the City shall immediately and without further act be 

superseded by the Bank appointed by the holders of the Warrants. 

 

 The City shall cause notice of the appointment of an interim Bank, in the event that such an 

appointment is made, to be forwarded by United States registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, 

to every Holder of a Warrant.  When the appointment of a successor Bank, as selected by the Holders 

of a majority in principal amount of the Warrants then outstanding, becomes effective, the City shall 

also cause notice of that fact to be given in the manner provided above for the notice required to be 

given upon the appointment of an interim Bank.  Every interim or successor Bank appointed 

pursuant to this Section shall be a trust company or bank which is qualified to perform all duties of 

the Bank under this Ordinance and which has, at the time of its acceptance of such appointment, 

capital, surplus and undivided profits of not less than $25,000,000, if there be such an institution 

willing, qualified and able to accept appointment as Bank upon reasonable or customary terms. 

 

 (e) Concerning any Successor Bank.  Every successor Bank shall execute, acknowledge 

and deliver to its predecessor and also to the City an instrument in writing accepting its appointment 

as Bank hereunder, and thereupon such successor Bank, without any further act, deed or conveyance, 

shall become fully vested with all the rights, powers and duties of its predecessor.  Such predecessor 

shall nevertheless, on the written request of the City or such successor Bank, execute and deliver an 

instrument transferring to such successor Bank all rights, powers and interests of such predecessor 

hereunder; and every predecessor Bank shall deliver all securities and moneys held by it as Bank 

hereunder to its successor. 

 

 (f) Merger or Consolidation of Bank.  Any corporation into which the bank may be 

merged or with which it may be consolidated, or any corporation resulting from any merger or 

consolidation to which the Bank shall be a party, or any corporation succeeding to all or substantially 

all of the corporate trust business of the Bank, shall be the successor of the Bank hereunder, without 

the execution or filing of any paper or any further act on the part of any of the parties hereto.  In case 

the registration certificates with respect to any Warrants shall have been executed by the Bank then 

in office, any successor by merger or consolidation to such Bank may adopt the registration of such 

Warrants and deliver such Warrants with the same effect as if such successor Bank had itself 

registered such Warrants.  

 

 (g) Compensation of Bank.  Subject to the provisions of any separate agreement with the 

Bank, the City shall pay to the Bank from time to time reasonable compensation for all services 

rendered by it under this Ordinance, including its services as registrar and paying agent for the 

Warrants, and also all its reasonable expenses, charges, counsel fees, costs and expenses and other 

disbursements and those of its attorneys, agents and employees, incurred in and about the 

performance of its duties hereunder.   

 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 75



35355994 28 

 (h) Extraordinary Expenses.  If the Bank is required by a governmental agency or court 

proceeding initiated by a third party to undertake efforts beyond that which is set forth herein but 

related thereto (other than due to the Bank’s negligence or willful misconduct), the Bank shall notify 

the City of the same in writing and the City shall promptly pay the Bank for such extraordinary fees, 

costs and expenses (including reasonable attorney’s fees, costs and expenses) reasonably and 

necessarily incurred in connection therewith. 

 

 ARTICLE VII 

 

 EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF THE WARRANTS; 

 APPROVAL OF SALE; USE OF PROCEEDS THEREFROM 

 

Section 7.1  Authority to Execute and Deliver the Warrants.  The Mayor of the City, the 

City Clerk and the Treasurer are hereby authorized and directed to cause the Warrants to be 

executed, sealed, attested and registered as a claim against the City and the Warrant Fund as 

provided herein and delivered to the purchaser thereof upon payment to the City of the sale price 

therefor. 

 

Section 7.2  Application of Proceeds of Sale; Additional Sums.  The gross proceeds 

derived from the sale of the Warrants shall be used solely for the following purposes: 

 

(i) The amount of $75,000 shall be deposited with Compass 

Bank in the Issuance Expense Fund and applied for the 

purposes described in Section 8.1. 

 

(ii) The amount of $2,042,027.56 shall be paid to the Escrow 

Agent and deposited into the 2003 Escrow Fund created under 

the Escrow Trust Agreement to provide for the refunding of 

the Series 2003 Warrants. 

 

(iii) The amount of $7,050,815.64 shall be paid to the Escrow 

Agent and deposited into the 2006 Escrow Fund created under 

the Escrow Trust Agreement to provide for the refunding of 

the Series 2006 Warrants. 

 

(iv) The remaining amount of proceeds shall be deposited with 

Compass Bank, a depository, in the Capital Improvements 

Account and applied for the purposes described in Section 

8.2. 

 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 76



35355994 29 

ARTICLE VIII 

 

CREATION OF ISSUANCE EXPENSE FUND, CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT 

ACCOUNT AND WARRANT FUND; COVENANTS WITH RESPECT 

TO WARRANT PROCEEDS, DESIGNATION OF WARRANTS 

 

 Section 8.1  Issuance Expense Account.  There is hereby created a special fund of the City 

designated the “Series 2014 Warrant Issuance Expense Account” (herein called the “Issuance 

Expense Account”) which shall be maintained until the costs and expenses incurred by the City in 

connection with the issuance and sale of the Warrants shall be paid in full.  Compass Bank shall be 

the depository for the Issuance Expense Account. 

 

 Simultaneously with the issuance and delivery of the Warrants, the City shall deposit or cause 

to be deposited into the Issuance Expense Account, out of proceeds derived from the sale of the 

Warrants, an amount equal to the amount required for payment of the expenses of issuing the 

Warrants.  The City will apply the moneys deposited into the Issuance Expense Account solely for 

payment of the expenses of issuing the Warrants, as and when such expenses become due and 

payable.   

 

 The Mayor, the Finance Director or any other person designated in writing by the Mayor or 

the Finance Director, are hereby authorized and directed to cause the said expenses to be paid, as 

promptly as may be feasible following the closing of the sale of the Warrants, and to make 

withdrawals from the Issuance Expense Account for the said purpose.  In the event that the moneys 

deposited into or transferred into the Issuance Expense Fund are not sufficient to pay all expenses of 

issuing the Warrants, the Mayor is hereby authorized and directed to pay, out of any funds of the City 

available therefor, the balance of the expenses of issuing the Warrants.  Any amount remaining in the 

Issuance Expense Account after the City certifies that all issuance expenses have been paid in full, 

but in no event later than sixty days after the date of delivery of the Warrants, shall be transferred and 

deposited into the Capital Improvements Account. 

 

Section 8.2  Capital Improvements Account.  There is hereby created a special account the 

full name of which shall be the "2014 Capital Improvements Account."  The 2014 Capital 

Improvements Account shall be maintained as a separate account until the moneys in said account 

shall have been fully expended as hereinafter provided.  Except as hereinafter provided, the City will 

apply the moneys in the 2014 Capital Improvements Account solely for payment of the costs of the 

Capital Improvements described in Section 1.3(f) hereof.  Compass Bank shall be the depository for 

the 2014 Capital Improvements Account.  

  

 The Mayor, the Finance Director or any other person designated in writing by the 

Mayor or the Finance Director, are hereby authorized and directed to make withdrawals from the 

2014 Capital Improvements Account for the purpose of paying the costs of the Capital Improvements 

described in Section 1.3(f) hereof, and to make any transfer that may be made pursuant to the 

succeeding sentence of this Section. The City shall have the right to supplement or revise the list of 

Capital Improvements described in Section 1.3(f) hereof to be paid from proceeds of the Warrants by 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 77



35355994 30 

resolution or ordinance; provided, that no revisions or addition to the Capital Improvements as herein 

approved shall adversely affect the excludability of interest on the Warrant for federal income tax 

purposes. 

 

Section 8.3  Warrant Fund.  There is hereby created a special account, the full name of 

which shall be the "City of Daphne Warrant Fund, 2014."  The Warrant Fund shall be maintained as 

a separate fund until payment in full of the principal of and interest on the Warrants.  The Bank is 

hereby designated as the custodian of the Warrant Fund. 

 

On or before the 25th day of the month next preceding any Interest Payment Date, the City 

shall deposit into the Warrant Fund an amount which, when added to the amounts already on deposit 

therein, will be sufficient to provide for the payment of all principal of and interest and redemption 

premium on the Warrants coming due on such Interest Payment Date.  Monies deposited in the 

Warrant Fund shall be used by the Bank for the payment of principal, interest and redemption 

premium (if any) on, the Warrants, and for no other purpose until the payment in full of the 

Warrants. 

 

Section 8.4  Investment of Moneys in Accounts.  Pending the expenditure of moneys in the 

Warrant Fund for any other purpose, the City shall have the privilege at any time and from time to 

time of investing and reinvesting, or causing to be invested and reinvested, all or part of the moneys 

at any time on deposit in such account, in Government Obligations or in money market funds of the 

Bank consisting of Government Obligations.  Pending the expenditure of moneys in the Issuance 

Expense Account and the Capital Improvements Account for any other purpose, the City shall have 

the privilege at any time and from time to time of investing and reinvesting, or causing to be invested 

and reinvested, all or part of the moneys at any time on deposit in such account in Government 

Obligations, money market funds of the Bank consisting of Government Obligations, or certificates 

of deposit issued by banks or trust companies having at the time of the deposit combined capital, 

surplus and undivided profits of not less than $5,000,000.   

 

 The Bank is hereby directed to invest and reinvest such amounts promptly upon receipt of, 

and in accordance with, the written instructions of the City. The Bank may conclusively rely upon 

the City’s written instructions as to both the suitability and legality of the directed investments.  In 

the absence of written investment instructions from the City, the Bank shall not be responsible or 

liable for keeping the moneys held by it hereunder fully invested.  The Bank shall not be liable for 

any losses from such directed investments. 

 

Section 8.5  Security for Funds.  Any money on deposit in any fund or account or held by 

the Bank pursuant to this Ordinance shall, unless invested as provided herein or secured by the 

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (or any successor agency of the United States of America) or 

under the State of Alabama Security for Alabama Funds Enhancement Program, be secured for the 

benefit of the City and the Holders by holding on deposit as collateral security direct obligations of 

the United States of America or obligations unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of 

America, or other marketable securities eligible as security for the deposit of public funds under the 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 78



35355994 31 

regulations of the Comptroller of the Currency, having a market value (exclusive of accrued interest) 

not less than the amount of money being secured. 

 

Section 8.6  Covenants with Respect to Exemption of Interest from Federal Income 

Taxation; Non-Arbitrage Covenant.  The City acknowledges and agrees that the Warrants are to be 

issued in compliance with the conditions necessary for the interest income thereon to be exempt from 

federal income taxation pursuant to the relevant provisions of the Code.  The City hereby covenants 

and agrees as follows: 

 

(a) It will not use or apply the proceeds of the Warrants or direct 

the investment of moneys in any funds or accounts established 

or maintained with respect to the Warrants in such manner as 

to constitute any Warrant an "arbitrage bond" within the 

meaning of Section 148 of the Code; 

 

(b) It will make timely rebate payments to the United States of 

America with respect to any "excess" arbitrage profits as 

required by Section 148(f) of the Code; 

 

(c) It will maintain all records required by Section 148(f) of the 

Code and the applicable regulations  thereunder and shall 

furnish such data or information regarding compliance with 

Section 148(f) of the Code as any Holder shall reasonably 

request in writing, which records shall be furnished to any 

Holder upon its request; 

 

(d) It will, within 60 days after a written request of the Bank 

therefor, furnish to the Bank and to any Holder a certificate by 

an independent certified public accountant or opinion of 

nationally recognized bond counsel stating that as of such 

date it had made all rebate payments to the United States of 

America necessary to prevent the Warrants from becoming 

"arbitrage bonds" under Section 148(f) of the Code; 

 

(e) It will comply with the terms of the City’s Tax Certificate and 

Agreement with regard to use of proceeds of the Warrants in 

any private business use; payment of the Warrants shall not be 

secured by, or derived from, property used in a private 

business use; proceeds of the Warrants shall not be used to 

make or finance loans to persons other than governmental 

units; and proceeds of the Warrants shall not be used in any 

manner that would cause the Warrants to be or become 

private activity bonds, as defined in Section 141 of the Code; 

 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 79



35355994 32 

(f) It will not cause or permit the Warrants to be federally 

guaranteed, within the meaning of Section 149(b) of the 

Code; and 

 

(g) It will not in any other way cause or permit the proceeds of 

the Warrants to be used in a manner which would cause the 

interest on the Warrants to lose the exemption from federal 

income taxation as provided under the Code and the 

applicable regulations thereunder and will comply with all 

applicable provisions of the Code (including, without 

limitation, the provisions relating to post-issuance actions 

affecting tax exemption) to the extent necessary for interest 

on the Warrants to be excludable from gross income of the 

holders thereof. 

 

(h) It has in place procedures providing for compliance with each 

of the matters described above and for keeping records with 

respect to such compliance. 

 

Section 8.7  Designation of Warrants.  The Warrants are not private activity bonds as such 

term is defined in Section 141 of the Code, and the City does not reasonably anticipate that it, or any 

other subordinate entity thereto, will issue more than $10,000,000 of qualified tax exempt 

obligations (other than private activity bonds) in calendar year 2014.  The Warrants are hereby 

designated as a portion of the maximum of $10,000,000 of qualified tax-exempt obligations to be 

issued by the City during calendar year 2014, within the meaning and for the purposes of Section 

265(b)(3) of the Code. 

 

ARTICLE IX 

 

APPROVAL OF OFFICIAL STATEMENT; AUTHORIZATION OF CONTINUING 

DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT; AUTHORIZATION OF DISCLOSURE 

DISSEMINATION AGREEMENT; APPROVAL OF ESCROW TRUST AGREEMENT; 

APPROVAL OF SALE; 

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

 

Section 9.1  Approval of Official Statement.  An official statement with respect to the 

Warrants, in substantially the form presented at the meeting at which this Ordinance is adopted and 

attached hereto as Exhibit A, is hereby approved, and the Mayor of the City is hereby authorized and 

directed to sign an official statement on behalf of the City in substantially the form herein approved, 

with such changes therein and additions thereto as shall be necessary to conform to the provisions of 

this Ordinance authorizing the Warrants and such other changes and additions as the Mayor of the 

City shall deem necessary and appropriate.  The preparation and distribution of such official 

statement on behalf of the City by Harbor Financial Services, LLC is hereby ratified and approved 

and such Official Statement is hereby deemed final within the meaning of Rule 15c2-12 of the 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 80



35355994 33 

United States Securities and Exchange Commission.  The final official statement shall be in 

substantially the same form as the official statement herein approved, with such additions, insertions, 

omissions or other changes as may be approved by the Mayor of the City and the execution of the 

final official statement by the Mayor of the City as hereby authorized shall be conclusive evidence of 

any such approval.   

 

Section 9.2 Authorization of Continuing Disclosure Certificate.  Upon delivery of the 

Warrants to the purchaser thereof, the Mayor and Finance Director of the City are hereby authorized 

and directed to execute and deliver for and on behalf of the City, the Continuing Disclosure 

Agreement in substantially the form presented at the meeting of the Council at which this Ordinance 

is adopted and attached hereto as Exhibit B.  The City hereby covenants and agrees that it will 

comply with and carry out all of the provisions of the Continuing Disclosure Agreement.  

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Ordinance, failure of the City to comply with the 

Continuing Disclosure Agreement shall not be considered a default hereunder or with respect to the 

Warrants; provided, however, any Holder or Beneficial Owner may take such actions as may be 

necessary and appropriate, including seeking mandate or specific performance by court order, to 

cause the City to comply with its obligations under this Section 9.4. For purposes of this Section, 

"Beneficial Owner" means any person which (a) has the power, directly or indirectly, to vote or 

consent with respect to, or to dispose of ownership of, any Warrants (including persons holding 

Warrants through nominees, depositories or other intermediaries), or (b) is treated as the owner of 

any Warrants for federal income tax purposes. 

 

Section 9.3 Authorization of Disclosure Dissemination Agreement. Upon the delivery of 

the Warrants to the purchaser thereof, the Mayor and City Clerk of the City are hereby authorized 

and directed to execute and deliver for an on behalf of the City, the Disclosure Dissemination 

Agreement in substantially the form presented at the meeting of the Council at which this Ordinance 

is adopted and attached hereto as Exhibit C. 

 

Section 9.4 Authorization of Escrow Trust Agreements. Upon the delivery of the Warrants 

to the purchaser thereof, the Mayor and City Clerk of the City are hereby authorized and directed to 

execute and deliver for an on behalf of the City, the 2003 Escrow Trust Agreement and the 2006 

Escrow Trust Agreement, each in substantially the form presented at the meeting of the Council at 

which this Ordinance is adopted and attached hereto as Exhibits D and E.  The Bank of New York 

Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as the Escrow Trustee under the 2003 Escrow Trust Agreement and 

the 2006 Escrow Trust Agreement, is authorized and directed to cause the money’s held by it 

thereunder to be invested in the manner specified therein. 

 

Section 9.5 Sale of Warrants. The City does hereby approve (i) the sale of the Warrants 

to Harbor Financial Services, LLC at a purchase price of $9,933,231.80, which amount reflects an 

underwriter’s discount of $50,000.00 and net original issue discount of $16,768.20, and (ii) the 

execution of the Purchase Agreement dated October 29, 2014 between the City and Harbor Financial 

Services, LLC in the form presented at the meeting at which this Ordinance is adopted and attached 

hereto as Exhibit F. 

 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 81



35355994 34 

Section 9.6  Further Acts.  From and after the execution and delivery of the documents 

hereinabove authorized, the proper officers, directors, agents and employees of the City are hereby 

authorized, empowered and directed to do all such acts and things and to execute all such documents 

as may be necessary to carry out and comply with the provisions of said documents as executed and 

are further authorized to take any and all further actions and execute and deliver any and all other 

documents as may be necessary in the issuance of the Warrants and in the delivery of the Official 

Statement or as contemplated by this Ordinance.   

 

The Mayor and City Clerk are authorized and directed to prepare and furnish to the purchaser 

of the Warrants, when the Warrants are issued, certified copies of all the proceedings and records of 

the Council relating to the Warrants, and such other affidavits and certificates as may be required to 

show the facts relating to the legality and marketability of the Warrants as such facts appear from the 

books and records in such officers' custody and control or as otherwise known to them. 

 

Section 9.7  Contractual Provisions.  The provisions of this Ordinance shall constitute a 

contract between the City and the Holders at any time of the Warrants.  Upon payment in full of the 

principal of and interest on the Warrants the obligations of the City hereunder shall cease with 

respect thereto. 

 

Section 9.8  Warrants Payable at Par.  Each bank at which the Warrants may at any time 

be payable, by acceptance of its duties as Paying Agent therefor, shall be construed to have agreed 

thereby with the Holders of the Warrants that all remittances made by it on the Warrants shall be 

made in bankable funds at par and without deduction for exchange, fees or expenses. 

 

Section 9.9  Severability.  The various provisions of this Ordinance are hereby declared to 

be severable.  In the event any provisions hereof shall be held invalid by a court of competent 

jurisdiction, such invalidity shall not affect any other portion of this Ordinance.   

 

Section 9.10  Repeal of Conflicting Provisions.  All resolutions, orders or parts thereof in 

conflict with this Ordinance are to the extent of such conflict are hereby repealed. 

 

 

After discussion, Councilmember ____________ moved that the foregoing ordinance and 

order be adopted and spread upon the minutes of this meeting, which motion was seconded by 

Councilmember ___________, and, on roll call the following vote was registered: 

YEAS NAYS 

  

  

  

  

  

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 82



35355994 35 

The Chairman thereupon announced that the said ordinance had been carried by unanimous 

vote of the Council present. 

* * * * * * 

 

There being no further business to come before the meeting, the meeting was, upon motion 

duly made, seconded and unanimously carried, adjourned. 

 

 

________________________________________ 

Council President    

      

 

___________________________________________ 

Dane Haygood, Mayor 

 

[SEAL] 

      ATTEST: 

 

              

      Rebecca A. Hayes, City Clerk

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 83



 
 36 

 CLERK'S CERTIFICATE 

 

 

I, Rebecca A. Hayes, City Clerk of the City of Daphne, Alabama, DO HEREBY CERTIFY 

that the foregoing pages of typewritten material constitute excerpts from the minutes of a regular 

meeting of the City Council of Daphne, Alabama, held on _____________,  pertaining to the City’s 

General Obligation Refunding and Improvement Warrants, Series 2014, which meeting was called 

and assembled and was open to the public and at which a quorum was present and acting throughout, 

and that the original of said minutes appears of record in the minute books of the City Council of 

Daphne, Alabama, which are in my custody and control. 

 

Given under my hand and the seal of the City of Daphne, Alabama, this ___ day of _______, 

2014. 

 

 

 

 

[SEAL]     _____________________________________________ 

City Clerk of the City of Daphne, Alabama

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 84



 
 

Exhibit A 

 

Preliminary Official Statement 

 

(See Attached) 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 85



 
 

Exhibit B 

 

Continuing Disclosure Certificate 

 

(See Attached) 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 86



 
 

Exhibit C 

 

Disclosure Dissemination Agreement 

 

(See Attached) 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 87



 
 

Exhibit D 

 

2003 Escrow Trust Agreement 

 

(See Attached) 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 88



 
 

Exhibit E 

 

2006 Escrow Trust Agreement 

 

(See Attached) 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 89



 
 

Exhibit F 

 

Warrant Purchase Agreement 

 

(See Attached) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 90



ORDINANCE 2014  - 46 
 

ADOPTING THE FISCAL YEAR 2015 CAPITAL & NEW PERSONNEL BUDGET 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council adopted the FY 2015 Operating Budget on September 23, 2014 
where total revenues exceeded appropriations in the amount of $1,554,331 and general fund 
revenues exceeded appropriations in the amount of $620,025; and 
 
WHEREAS,  the Mayor of the City of Daphne has submitted to the City Council capital  and 
new personnel requests for Fiscal Year 2015 which begins October 1, 2014 and ends 
September 30, 2015 based on City Department requirements; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council has reviewed and considered such proposed capital and 
personnel requests; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that funds are available for certain Fiscal 2015 
appropriations and such appropriations should be considered, approved and made a part of the 
Fiscal Year 2015 budget; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have reviewed such requests and prioritized them 
according to needs and available funds and has incorporated them into the FY15 Capital and 
New Personnel Budget; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Daphne, Alabama, 
that the Fiscal Year 2015 Capital and New Personnel Budget is hereby appropriated in the 
amount of $634,007 ($410,815 for capital equipment and $223,192 for personnel requests) of 
which $467,507 are from the general fund and $166,500 are from the lodging tax fund. Such 
appropriations are itemized in the attached lists and made a part hereof. 
 
APPROVED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Daphne, Alabama, this   ____     
day of  ________________    , 2014. 
 
         

_________________________________ 
                                                                       Dane Haygood, Mayor 
       
ATTEST: 
 
___________________________ 
Rebecca A. Hayes, City Clerk  

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 91



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 92



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 93



CITY OF DAPHNE 

ORDINANCE 2014-47 

An Ordinance Amending Ordinance 2002-34 / Garbage Collection 

And Amending the FY2015 Budget for the increased Garbage Collection Fee 

 

WHEREAS, Ordinance 2014-44 approved and adopted the Fiscal Year 2015 Budget on September 23, 

2014; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council approved a garbage fee increase of $1.50 per month per household (from 

$13.90/month to $15.40/month) in ordinance 2014-44 resulting in an additional $135,000 in annual garbage 

collection revenues ; and 

 

WHEREAS, subsequent to the adoption of the Fiscal Year 2015 budget, the City Council has determined 

that certain budget amendments should be approved and made a part of the Fiscal Year 2015 budget; and 

 

WHEREAS, after further review Council recommends an additional garbage fee increase of $0.60 per 

month per household (from $15.40 to $16.00/month). 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Daphne, Alabama, that 

FY2015 Budget be amended to include the increased garbage collection fee to begin on January 1, 2015 

and made a part of the Fiscal Year 2015 budget in the amount of $6,750    
  
BE IT ORDAINED BYTHE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DAPHNE, ALABAMA THAT 

THE ABOVE ORDINANCE IS HEREBY AMENDED AS FOLLOWS: 

 

 SECTION 1:    Whereby Section VI of Ordinance 2002-34 set fees for the collection and 

disposal of garbage and rubbish is hereby repealed and replaced by the following  

  

 SECTION 9:  FEES FOR COLLECTION AND DISPOSAL 

Every person or persons occupying a building or dwelling unit which generates garbage 

or rubbish within the city limits of the City of Daphne, Alabama shall be subject to a fee 

of $16.00 per month.  Such fees for the collection and disposal of garbage and rubbish 

shall be subject to change from time to time as deemed necessary in order to cover the 

increased cost of collection and disposal services.  Any change in the fee for such 

services must be publicly advertised at least thirty (30) days before the effective date of 

the change. 

 

 SECTION 2:  EFFECTIVE DATE.     This ordinance will be in full force and effect January 

1, 2015. 

 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DAPHNE, 

ALABAMA this ______ day of __________, 2014. 

 

 

       ______________________________ 

       Dane Haygood, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

_______________________________ 

Rebecca A. Hayes, City Clerk 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 94



ORDINANCE 2014-48 
Appropriating Funds for Emergency Watershed Protection on Private Property:  Mazie’s 

Gulch & Palmetto Court (Creekside) 
 
WHEREAS, Ordinance 2013-50 approved and adopted the Fiscal Year 2014 Budget on 
September 23, 2013; and 
 
WHEREAS, subsequent to the adoption of the Fiscal Year 2014 budget, the City Council has 
determined that certain appropriations are required and should be approved and made a part of 
the Fiscal Year 2014 budget; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Daphne received 16.5" of rainfall for the period of April 29-30, 2014; and 
 
WHEREAS, as a result of such heavy rains, watersheds and their drainage systems located 
within the City of Daphne sustained severe damage and require emergency repairs in order to 
prevent further impacts to the City's watersheds; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Daphne has made application with the NRCS (Natural Resources 
Conservation Service) through their Emergency Watershed Protection (EWP) program for 75% 
reimbursement of expenses incurred for such private watershed emergency repairs as 
described below; and 
 
WHEREAS, these two private property EWP Projects have been selected by NRCS for 
exigency funding with the City of Daphne as the “Sponsor” and Ordinance#2014-36 was already 
approved for a Sponsor match of $11,211 and an additional appropriation of $12,606 is 
needed to complete the project. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, that: 

1. The City Council of the City of Daphne deems these private projects key to the recovery 
efforts associated with this rain event and the repair of these private property watershed 
issues is necessary to preserve the health, safety, and convenience of the public. 

2. Fiscal Year 2014 Budget is hereby amended to include an additional appropriation 
from the General Fund in the amount of $12,606 for a total City match  of $23,817 for 
this EWP Project: 

Project Name 
Property 
Owners 

Construction Engineering Total 
 Sponsor 

Match 

DAP-14-003 Mazie’s Gulch 
(2 Locations) 

Bradley/ 
Davenport $84,951.99 $8,495.20 $93,447.19 $23,817.07 

 
3. The City will serve solely as EWP Project Sponsor and this is not a Public Works 

Project, the City will assume no short or long-term maintenance/repair responsibility for 
the work performed, all future maintenance/repair will be the responsibility of the private 
property owner. 

4. The Environmental Program Manager/Public Works Director or the Mayor is authorized 
to coordinate application with the NRCS for the reimbursement of such funds and to sign 
and execute all documents associated with the described projects. 

 
APPROVED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Daphne, Alabama, this 18th day  
of August, 2014. 
 
              

       Dane Haygood, Mayor 
Attest: 
 
      
Rebecca A. Hayes, City Clerk 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 95



 
 
 

ORDINANCE 2014-49 
 

JOB RECLASSIFICATION: FINANCE DIRECTOR 
 

An Ordinance Approving the Job Reclassification of  
the Finance Director 

 
WHEREAS, Ordinance 2004-52 as adopted January 3, 2005 established the City of 
Daphne Job Classification Schedule; and 
 
WHEREAS, Ordinance 2014-44 approved and adopted the Fiscal Year 2015 Budget on 
September 23, 2014 which funded the position of the Finance Director; and 
 
WHEREAS, after further review, the City Council recommends that the Finance Director 
position should be reclassified within the existing Job Classification Schedule. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Daphne, 
Alabama, that:  
 

1) The authorized position of the Finance Director with a Grade 36, shall be 
reclassified to Grade 40 and the existing Job Classification Schedule shall be 
amended to include such revision; and    
 

2) The total annual increase of such reclassification is $44,243 ($38,311 wages 
and $5,932 benefits) and shall be appropriated from the general fund; and 

 
3) The Mayor is hereby authorized to advertise for the position of Finance 

Director at Steps 1 through 25.   
 
 
APPROVED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Daphne, Alabama, this 
______ day of ___________, 2014. 
 
      
      
       ______________________________ 
       Dane Haygood, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
___________________________ 
Rebecca A. Hayes, City Clerk 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 96



 
ORDINANCE 2014-50 

 
JOB RECLASSIFICATION: CIVIC CENTER DIRECTOR 

 
An Ordinance Approving the Job Reclassification of  

the Civic Center Director to the Convention / Visitor’s Bureau & Civic Center 
Director 

 
WHEREAS, Ordinance 2004-52 as adopted January 3, 2005 established the City of 
Daphne Job Classification Schedule; and 
 
WHEREAS, Ordinance 2014-44 approved and adopted the Fiscal Year 2015 Budget on 
September 23, 2014 which funded the position of the Civic Center Director; and 
 
WHEREAS, after further review by the Archer Company, it has been determined that the 
Civic Center Director position should be reclassified to the Convention / Visitor’s Bureau & 
Civic Center Director within the existing Job Classification Schedule. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Daphne, 
Alabama, that:  
 

1) The authorized position of the Civic Center Director with a Grade 29, shall be 
reclassified to the Convention / Visitor’s Bureau & Civic Center Director at 
Grade 32 and the existing Job Classification Schedule shall be amended to 
include such revision; and    

 
2) The additional responsibilities of the new position related to tourism and 

conventions require additional operating appropriations from the General 
Fund as follows: 

 
a. Office Supplies $  2,000 
b. Advertising $20,000 
c. Travel  $  3,000 
d. Marketing  $12,000 

TOTAL:  $37,000 
 
APPROVED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Daphne, Alabama, this 
______ day of ___________, 2014. 
 
      
      
     __________________________________ 
     Dane Haygood, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
___________________________ 
Rebecca A. Hayes, City Clerk 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 97



ORDINANCE 2014-51 
 

Appropriation for Appraisal, Survey, Title Search and Associated Closing 
Fees for Donated Property Located at Park Drive & Pine Hill Drive 

 
 
WHEREAS, Ordinance 2014-44 approved and adopted the Fiscal Year 2015 
Budget on September 23, 2014; and 
 
WHEREAS, subsequent to the adoption of the Fiscal Year 2015 budget, the City 
Council has determined that certain appropriations are required and should be 
approved and made a part of the Fiscal Year 2015 budget; and 
 
WHEREAS, an offer has been made by the property owner for property located 
near Park Drive and Pine Hill Drive; and 
 
WHEREAS,  there are appraisal, survey, title search and other closing fees 
associated with the donation of such property ; and 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Daphne, 
Alabama, that funds from the General Fund are hereby appropriated and made a 
part of the Fiscal Year 2015 budget in the amount of $7,500 for the appraisal, 
survey, and associated closing fees for the property located at Park Drive and Pine 
Hill Drive properties: 
 

 PPIN#48403 -   2.92 Acres 
 PPIN#55199 -    .85 Acres 
 PPIN#234784 -1.05 Acres 

 
APPROVED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Daphne, 
Alabama, this   ____     day of  ________________  , 2014. 
 
 
             

_________________________________ 
                                                                      Dane Haygood, Mayor 
           
 
ATTEST: 
 
___________________________ 
Rebecca A. Hayes, City Clerk  

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 98



 

EXCERPTS FROM THE MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY 

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DAPHNE, ALABAMA HELD ON __________, 2014 

 

 

The City Council of the City of Daphne, Alabama met at the City Hall in the City of Daphne 

on Monday, ___________, 2014 at 6:30 p.m., Central Time.  The following members of the City 

Council of the City of Daphne, Alabama were: 

PRESENT ABSENT 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

 

 _______________ acted as Chairman of the meeting and Rebecca A. Hayes, City Clerk, 

acted as Clerk of the meeting.  The chairman stated that a quorum was present and declared the 

meeting open for the transaction of business. 

 

 * * * * * * 

The Chairman then stated that it would be appropriate to consider a resolution providing for 

the early call and redemption of certain of the City’s outstanding debt obligations.  The following 

resolution and order was thereupon introduced in writing by Councilmember _____________:   

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 99



35355994  2 

CITY OF DAPHNE 

RESOLUTION 2014-54 

 

A RESOLUTION CALLING FOR THE REDEMPTION OF THE CITY’S 

GENERAL OBLIGATION WARRANTS, SERIES 2003 AND THE REDEMPTION OF A 

PORTION OF THE CITY’S GENERAL OBLIGATION AND IMPROVEMENT 

WARRANTS, SERIES 2006 

 

BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Daphne, Alabama (the 

“Council”), as follows: 

 

Section 1.  Findings of Fact.  The Council has determined and hereby finds and declares that 

the following facts are true and correct: 

 

(a) The City of Daphne, Alabama (the “City”) has heretofore issued, pursuant to an 

Ordinance adopted by the Council on May 19, 2003 (the “2003 Ordinance”), its City of Daphne 

General Obligation Refunding Warrants, Series 2003, dated May 1, 2003, originally issued in the 

aggregate principal amount of $6,455,000 (the “Series 2003 Warrants”). 

 

(b) The City has heretofore issued, pursuant to an Ordinance adopted by the Council on 

April 17, 2006 (the “2006 Ordinance”), its City of Daphne General Obligation Refunding and 

Improvement Warrants, Series 2006, dated April 1, 2006, originally issued in the aggregate principal 

amount of $25,230,000 (the “Series 2006 Warrants”). 

 

(c) The Series 2003 Warrants are currently outstanding in the aggregate principal amount 

of $2,015,000. 

 

(d) The Series 2006 Warrants are currently outstanding in the aggregate principal amount 

of $17,185,000. 

 

(e) The City desires to refund all of the outstanding Series 2003 Warrants and a portion 

of the outstanding Series 2006 Warrants. 

 

(f) The City is not in default in the payment of principal of or interest on the Series 2003 

Warrants or the Series 2006 Warrants or under the 2003 Ordinance or the 2006 Ordinance. 

 

Section 2.  Call for Redemption of the Series 2003 Warrants.  Acting pursuant to the 

provisions of the Series 2003 Warrants and the 2003 Ordinance, the City does hereby elect to redeem 

and pay, and does hereby call for redemption and payment on December 9, 2014 (the “2003 Call 

Date”) $2,015,000 in aggregate principal amount of the Series 2003 Warrants (being all of the Series 

2003 Warrants currently outstanding), the redemption of which shall be effected at a redemption 

price equal to 100% of the principal amount of each Series 2003 Warrant so called for redemption 

plus accrued interest thereon to the 2003 Call Date. 

 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 100



35355994  3 

Section 3.  Call for Redemption of the Series 2006 Warrants.  Acting pursuant to the 

provisions of the Series 2006 Warrants and the 2006 Ordinance, the City does hereby elect to redeem 

and pay, and does hereby call for redemption and payment on April 1, 2016 (the “2006 Call Date”) 

$6,600,000 in aggregate principal amount of the Series 2006 Warrants (being a portion of the portion 

of the Series 2006 Warrants maturing after April 1, 2017 allocable to the proceeds of the Series 2006 

Warrants used for capital improvements and as provided on Exhibit A attached to this Resolution), 

the redemption of which shall be effected at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal 

amount of each Series 2006 Warrant so called for redemption plus accrued interest thereon to the 

2006 Call Date. 

 

Section 4.  Provisions for Notice for the Series 2003 Warrants.  The Bank of New York 

Mellon Trust Company, N.A. in Birmingham, Alabama is hereby directed, in its capacity as paying 

agent for the Series 2003 Warrants, to cause written notice of such redemption and prepayment to be 

given in the manner and at the time prescribed in the 2003 Ordinance. 

 

Section 5.  Provisions for Notice for the Series 2006 Warrants.  The Bank of New York 

Mellon Trust Company, N.A. in Birmingham, Alabama is hereby directed, in its capacity as paying 

agent for the Series 2006 Warrants, to cause written notice of such redemption and prepayment to be 

given in the manner and at the time prescribed in the 2006 Ordinance. 

 

Section 6.  Authorization to Call.  The Mayor of the City, the City Clerk of the City and the 

City Treasurer of the City are each hereby authorized and directed to take or cause to be taken, in the 

name and behalf of the City, all of the actions required by the provisions of the 2003 Ordinance 

under which the Series 2003 Warrants were issued and all of the actions required by the provisions 

of the 2006 Ordinance under which the Series 2006 Warrants were issued to be taken in order to 

effect the redemption of the Series 2003 Warrants and the Series 2006 Warrants as herein called for. 

 

Councilmember      moved that the forgoing resolution be adopted 

and spread upon the minutes of this meeting, which motion was seconded by Councilmember  

   , and, on roll call the following vote was registered: 

 

YEAS NAYS 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

The Chairman thereupon announced that said resolution had been carried by    

vote of the Council present. 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 101



35355994  4 

RESOLUTION 2014-54 

 

ADOPTED AND APPROVE BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DAPHNE, 

ALABAMA this _____ day of _________, 2014. 

 

________________________________________ 

Council President    

      

 

___________________________________________ 

Dane Haygood, Mayor 

 

[SEAL] 

      ATTEST: 

 

              

      Rebecca A. Hayes, City Clerk 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 102



35355994  5 

Exhibit A to Resolution 2014 - 54 

 

 

Maturity 

Date 

Amount 

Maturing 

04/01/2021 $ 65,000 

04/01/2022   695,000 

04/01/2023   725,000 

04/01/2024   765,000 

04/01/2025   795,000 

04/01/2026   830,000 

04/01/2027   870,000 

04/01/2028   905,000 

04/01/2029   950,000 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 103



35355994  6 

*  *  *  *  *  * 

The Chairman then stated that it would be appropriate to consider the issuance of                   

$10,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of the City's General Obligation Refunding and 

Improvement Warrants, Series 2014, for the purpose of refunding certain of the City’s outstanding 

general obligation indebtedness, paying a portion of the cost of various sewer construction and 

improvements projects, land acquisition and infrastructure improvements for a technology park or 

other authorized projects for the City, and paying the expenses of issuing the City's General 

Obligation Refunding and Improvement Warrants, Series 2014.  The following ordinance was 

thereupon introduced in writing by Councilmember __________:   

 

 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 104



35355994  7 

ORDINANCE NO. 2014-52 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF 

$10,000,000 OF GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING AND IMPROVEMENT 

WARRANTS, SERIES 2014 

 

 

BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Daphne, Alabama, as follows: 

 

 ARTICLE I 

 

 DEFINITIONS, USE OF WORDS AND 

 PHRASES, AND FINDINGS BY THE CITY 

 

 

Section 1.1  Definitions.  The following words and phrases and others evidently intended as 

the equivalent thereof shall, in the absence of clear implication herein otherwise, be given the 

following respective interpretations: 

 

“Bank” means The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., in its role as Warrant 

Registrar and Paying Agent.  

 

“Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or day on which banking 

institutions are required or authorized to close in the city in which the designated corporate trust 

agency office of the Bank is located, or on which the Federal Reserve Bank is closed. 

 

“Capital Improvements” shall have the meaning given that term in Section 1.3(f) hereof, 

subject to being amended and supplemented as provided in Section 8.2 hereof. 

 

 “City” means the municipal corporation in the State of Alabama known as the City of 

Daphne, Alabama, as it now exists, and any political subdivision resulting from any merger or 

consolidation thereof with any other political subdivision. 

 

“City Clerk” means the city clerk of the City. 

 

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended. 

 

“Council” means the governing body of the City as from time to time constituted. 

 

“Direct Participant” means securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing 

corporations and certain other organizations which participate in the Securities Depository with 

respect to the Warrants. 

 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 105



35355994  8 

“Escrow Trustee” means The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as escrow 

trustee for the Series 2003 Warrants under the terms of the 2003 Escrow Trust Agreement and as 

escrow trustee for the Series 2006 Warrants under the terms of the 2006 Escrow Trust Agreement. 

 

“Government Obligations” means direct obligations of the United States of America and 

obligations unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America. 

 

“Interest Payment Date” means, with respect to the Warrants, any April 1 or October 1, 

prior to payment thereof. 

 

 “Overdue Interest” means interest due but not paid on the Interest Payment Date on which 

such interest is required to be paid. 

 

 “Record Date” means, as to any Interest Payment Date, the March 15 or September 15 

immediately preceding such Interest Payment Date. 

 

“Redemption Date” means the date for redemption of the Warrants determined pursuant to 

the terms of this Ordinance and provided in the notice provided for in Section 5.2. 

 

“Redemption Price” means the price for redemption of the Warrants determined pursuant to 

the terms of this Ordinance and provided in the notice provided for in Section 5.2. 

  

 “Securities Depository” has the meaning given that term in Section 3.5 hereof. 

 

“Series 2003 Warrants” means the City’s General Obligation Warrants, Series 2003, dated 

May 19, 2003, originally issued in the aggregate principal amount of $6,455,000. 

 

“Series 2006 Warrants” means the City’s Limited Obligation Special Tax Warrants, dated 

April 17, 2006, originally issued in the aggregate principal amount of $25,230,000. 

 

“Treasurer” shall mean the treasurer or any assistant treasurer of the City.   

 

“Warrant Authorizing Law” means Section 4, Chapter 81 and Section 2, Chapter 47 of 

Title 11, Code of Alabama, 1975. 

 

“Warrant Fund” means the special account created pursuant to Section 8.3 hereof. 

 

“Warrant Holder” or “Holder” means the registered holder, from time to time, of any of the 

Warrants. 

 

“Warrants,” unless otherwise indicated, means the $10,000,000 in aggregate principal 

amount of the City's General Obligation Refunding and Improvement Warrants, Series 2014, as more 

particularly described in Article II hereof and issued hereunder. 

 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 106



35355994  9 

“2003 Escrow Trust Agreement” means the Escrow Trust Agreement – 2003 Warrants, 

dated as of May 1, 2003, between the City and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., 

the successor in interest to Southtrust Bank, as Escrow Trustee. 

 

“2006 Escrow Trust Agreement” means the Escrow Trust Agreement – 2006 Warrants, 

dated as of April 1, 2006, between the City and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, 

N.A., the successor in interest to The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A., as Escrow Trustee. 

 

Section 1.2  Use of Words and Phrases.  The following provisions shall be applied 

wherever appropriate herein: 

 

Whenever used herein, any pronoun or pronouns shall be deemed to include both singular 

and plural and to cover all genders. 

 

"Hereby", "herein", "hereinafter", "hereof", "hereunder" and other equivalent words refer to 

this Ordinance as a whole and not solely to any particular portion thereof in which any such word is 

used. 

 

The definitions set forth in Section 1.1 hereof shall be deemed applicable whether the words 

defined are herein used in the singular or plural. 

 

Section 1.3  Findings of Council.  Having made due and proper investigation of the matters 

hereinafter referred to, the Council hereby finds and determines: 

 

(a) The City has heretofore issued the Series 2003 Warrants pursuant to an Ordinance 

adopted by the Council on May 19, 2003 (the “2003 Ordinance”).  

(b) The City has heretofore issued the Series 2006 Warrants pursuant to an Ordinance 

adopted by the Council on April 17, 2006 (the “2006 Ordinance”).  

(c) The City is not in default on the payment of the principal of and the interest on the 

Series 2003 Warrants or the Series 2006 Warrants. 

(d) By a resolution previously adopted, the City has called all of the outstanding Series 

2003 Warrants for redemption. 

(e) By a resolution previously adopted, the City has called a portion of the outstanding 

Series 2006 Warrants coming due after April 1, 2017 for redemption. 

(f) It is necessary, advisable and in the interest of the public that the City pay a portion of 

the costs of the acquisition, construction and installation of certain sewer construction 

and improvement projects, land acquisition and infrastructure improvements for a 

technology park within the City (the “Capital Improvements”), which acquisition, 

construction and installation are expected to cost approximately $3,000,000 and 

which shall include sewer improvements, and land acquisition and infrastructure 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 107



35355994  10 

improvements for a technology park in an amount not to exceed the amounts in the 

2014 Capital Improvements Account, and/or any other authorized purposes pursuant 

to a later action by the Council and in compliance with the requirements of this 

Ordinance. 

(g) Pursuant to the Warrant Authorizing Law the City is authorized to issue its warrants, 

in order to refund outstanding indebtedness of the City and to finance the Capital 

Improvements. 

(h) It is necessary, advisable and in the interest of the public that the City issue its 

General Obligation Refunding and Improvement Warrants, Series 2014 to refund the 

Series 2003 Warrants and the a portion of Series 2006 Warrants, to pay costs of the 

Capital Improvements and to pay costs of issuance and sale of such Warrants. 

 

 ARTICLE II 

 

 AUTHORIZATION, DESCRIPTION, 

 EXECUTION, PAYMENT AND FORM OF THE WARRANTS 

 

Section 2.1  Authorization of the Warrants.  Pursuant to the applicable provisions of the 

constitution and laws of the State of Alabama, and for the purposes of refunding all of the Series 

2003 Warrants and Series 2006 Warrants and paying the costs of issuance thereof, there is hereby 

authorized to be issued by the City $10,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of its General 

Obligation Refunding and Improvement Warrants, Series 2014.   

 

Section 2.2  Description of the Warrants.  The Warrants shall be issued only in fully 

registered form, without coupons, shall be dated as the date of their delivery, shall be issued in 

principal amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof, and shall be numbered from R-1 

upwards in the order of their issuance and delivery.  The Warrants shall bear interest from the date of 

their delivery (or in the case of a Warrant registered in the name of a Holder after the date of their 

delivery from the Interest Payment Date next preceding the date of such registration or, if the date of 

such registration is an Interest Payment Date, from the date of registration) at the rates shown below 

(calculated on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months), payable on each April 1 and 

October 1 until payment of the principal amount thereof, beginning April 1, 2015 and, subject to the 

redemption provisions hereinafter set forth, shall mature on April 1 in the years and amounts as 

follows: 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 108



35355994  11 

 

 

Section 2.3  Execution of the Warrants.  The Warrants shall be executed in the name of the 

City by the manual or facsimile signatures of the Mayor of the City and its City Clerk inscribed or 

printed or otherwise reproduced thereon (it being herein provided that a condition to the validity of 

each Warrant is the manual execution on behalf of the Bank of the Registration Certificate endorsed 

on each Warrant).  The Warrants shall be registered by the Treasurer of the City, in the records 

maintained by the Treasurer, as a claim against the City and the Warrant Fund, which registration 

shall be made simultaneously as to all the Warrants.  The certificate of registration on each of the 

Warrants shall be executed by the manual or facsimile signature of the Treasurer of the City.  The 

official seal of the City shall be impressed or printed or otherwise reproduced thereon and shall be 

attested by the aforementioned signature of the City Clerk. The said officers are hereby directed to 

cause the Warrants to be executed, sealed and registered in the manner provided by this section.  

Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, any assistant city clerk shall be empowered to 

execute any Warrant in the absence or unavailability of the City Clerk and any assistant treasurer of 

the City shall be empowered to execute any Warrant in the absence or unavailability of the Treasurer. 

 

Section 2.4  Places and Medium of Payment of the Warrants. Principal of and interest on 

the Warrants shall be payable in lawful money of the United States of America.  The principal of the 

Warrants shall be payable at the designated corporate trust agency office of the Bank, upon 

presentation and surrender of the Warrants as the same become due and payable.  Interest on the 

Warrants shall be payable by check or draft mailed by the Bank to the lawful holders of the Warrants 

at the address shown on the registry books of the Bank pertaining to the Warrants as of the Record 

Date and shall be deemed timely made if so mailed on the Interest Payment Date (or if such Interest 

Payment Date is not a Business Day, on the Business Day next following such Interest Payment 

Date).   

 

Year of 
Maturity 

Amount Maturing Interest Rate 

2015 $100,000    2.00% 
2016   610,000 2.00 
2017   625,000 2.00 
2018   640,000 2.00 
2019   645,000 2.00 
2020   120,000 2.00 
2021   185,000 2.00 
2022   815,000 2.00 
2023   830,000 2.10 
2024   855,000 2.30 
2025   870,000 2.40 
2026   890,000 2.50 
2027   915,000 2.70 
2028   935,000 2.80 
2029   965,000 2.90 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 109



35355994  12 

Section 2.5  Forms of the Warrants and Related Certificates.  The Warrants, the 

certificate of registration thereof, the registration thereof as a claim against the Warrant Fund, and the 

form of assignment thereof shall be in substantially the following forms, with appropriate changes 

therein to conform to the applicable provisions hereof: 

 

 

[Remainder of this Page Intentionally Left Blank] 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 110



35355994  13 

(Form of Series 2014 Warrant) 

 

[FORM OF CAPTION FOR WARRANTS HELD IN BOOK ENTRY FORM] 

 

Unless this certificate is presented by an authorized representative of The Depository Trust 

Company, a New York corporation ("DTC"), to the City or its agent for registration of transfer, 

exchange, or payment, and any certificate issued is registered in the name of Cede & Co. or in such 

other name as is requested by an authorized representative of DTC (and any payment is made to 

Cede & Co. or to such other entity as is requested by an authorized representative of DTC), ANY 

TRANSFER, PLEDGE, OR OTHER USE HEREOF FOR VALUE OR OTHERWISE BY OR TO 

ANY PERSON IS WRONGFUL inasmuch as the registered owner hereof, Cede & Co., has an 

interest herein. 

 

No. R-________________        $_________________ 

 

 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

STATE OF ALABAMA 

CITY OF DAPHNE 

GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING AND IMPROVEMENT WARRANT 

SERIES 2014 

 

 

MATURITY DATE  CUSIP NUMBER INTEREST RATE 

   

 

 

THE CITY OF DAPHNE, ALABAMA, a municipal corporation in the State of Alabama (the 

"City"), for value received, hereby acknowledges that it is indebted in the principal sum of 

 

 _______________________________ DOLLARS 

 

and hereby directs the Treasurer of the City to pay such principal sum to 

 

 _______________________________________ 

 

or registered assigns, on the maturity date specified above or such earlier date as this Warrant may be 

called for redemption, and to pay (but solely out of the Warrant Fund) interest on such principal sum 

from the date hereof (or in the case of a Warrant registered in the name of the registered Holder 

hereof on or after the date hereof, as evidenced by the Certificate of Registration attached hereto, 

from the Interest Payment Date next preceding the date of such registration or, if the date of such 

registration is an Interest Payment Date, from the date of registration), until such principal sum shall 

become due and payable, at the per annum rate of interest specified above.  Interest shall be payable 

on April 1 and October 1 in each year, beginning April 1, 2015 (each such date herein called an 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 111



35355994  14 

"Interest Payment Date"), and shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year with 12 months of 30 

days each.  Interest shall be payable on overdue principal (and premium, if any) on this Warrant and 

(to the extent legally enforceable) on any overdue installment of interest on this Warrant at the rate 

borne hereby.   

 

The interest so payable, and punctually paid or duly provided for, on any Interest Payment 

Date will, as provided in the Authorizing Ordinance hereinafter described, be paid to the person in 

whose name this Warrant is registered at the close of business on the 15th day of the month next 

preceding such Interest Payment Date. 

 

The Warrants are being issued by means of a book-entry system with no physical distribution 

of warrant certificates to be made except as provided in the Authorizing Ordinance (as hereinafter 

defined).  One warrant certificate, in the aggregate principal amount of each maturity of the 

Warrants, registered in the name of Cede & Co. as nominee of the DTC, is being issued and required 

to be deposited with DTC (or an authorized banking institution acceptable to DTC) and immobilized 

in its custody.  The book-entry system will evidence ownership of the Warrants, with transfers of 

ownership effected on the records of DTC and its participants pursuant to rules and procedures 

established by DTC and its participants.  Transfer of principal, interest and any redemption premium 

payments to beneficial owners of the Warrants by participants of DTC will be the responsibility of 

such participants and other nominees of such beneficial owners.  The City will not be responsible or 

liable for such transfers of payments or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing the records 

maintained by DTC, and to participants or persons acting through such participants.  While Cede & 

Co. is the registered owner of this Warrant, notwithstanding the provisions hereinabove contained, 

payments of principal, interest and any redemption premium on this Warrant will be made in 

accordance with the existing arrangements between the Paying Agent and DTC. 

 

Subject to the foregoing paragraph, payment of interest on this Warrant due on each Interest 

Payment Date shall be made by check or draft mailed by the Paying Agent to the person entitled 

thereto at his address appearing in the Warrant Register maintained with respect to the Warrants.  

Such payments of interest shall be deemed timely made if so mailed on the Interest Payment Date 

(or, if such Interest Payment Date is not a business day, on the business day next following such 

Interest Payment Date).  Payment of the principal of (and premium, if any, on) this Warrant and 

payment of accrued interest on this Warrant due upon redemption shall be made only upon surrender 

of this Warrant at the designated corporate trust agency office of the hereinafter described Bank.  

Upon the terms and conditions provided in the Authorizing Ordinance, the Holder of any Warrant or 

Warrants in an aggregate principal amount of not less than $100,000 may request that payment of 

interest on such Warrant or Warrants be made by wire transfer to an account of such Holder 

maintained at a bank in the continental United States or by any other method providing for same-day 

funds that is acceptable to the Bank.  All such payments shall be made in such coin or currency of the 

United States of America as at the time of payment is legal tender for the payment of public and 

private debts. 

 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 112



35355994  15 

This Warrant is one of the duly authorized issue of warrants of the City, aggregating 

$10,000,000 in principal amount, entitled "General Obligation Refunding and Improvement 

Warrants, Series 2014" (the "Warrants") and issued under and pursuant to an ordinance duly adopted 

by the governing body of the City (the "Authorizing Ordinance") and the constitution and laws of the 

State of Alabama, including particularly Section 4, Chapter 81, and Section 2, Chapter 47, of Title 11 

of the Code of Alabama, 1975.  Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the 

meanings assigned in the Authorizing Ordinance. 

 

The Authorizing Ordinance provides that The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, 

N.A. (the "Bank"), will serve as Paying Agent and Registrar with respect to the Warrants unless and 

until a successor is appointed pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Authorizing Ordinance.  

For purposes of this Warrant and the Authorizing Ordinance, the principal office of the Bank shall 

mean the office where the Bank maintains its designated corporate trust agency office, as shall be 

designated by the Bank by written notice to the City and the Holders of the Warrants. 

 

The indebtedness evidenced by the Warrants is a general obligation of the City for the 

payment of which the full faith and credit of the City have been irrevocably pledged, pro rata and 

without preference or priority of one Warrant over another.  

 

Pursuant to the Authorizing Ordinance, the City has established a special fund for the 

payment of debt service on the Warrants (the "Warrant Fund") that will be held by the Bank.  The 

City has obligated itself to pay or cause to be paid into the Warrant Fund from the taxes, revenues or 

other funds of the City sums sufficient to provide for the payment of debt service on the Warrants as 

the same becomes due and payable. 

   

The Warrants, maturing on or after April 1, 2022 are subject to redemption prior to their 

maturity, at the option of the City, in whole or in part, on April 1, 2021, and on any date thereafter 

(in principal amounts of $5,000 and any integral multiple thereof and if less than all of the Warrants 

are to be redeemed, those maturities or portions thereof to be called for redemption shall be selected 

by the City in its discretion, and if less than all the Warrants of a single maturity are to be redeemed, 

those to be called for redemption shall be selected by lot), at and for a redemption price equal to 

100% of the principal amount of each Warrant or portion thereof redeemed, plus accrued interest to 

the date fixed for redemption. 

 

 Written notice of the call for redemption of this Warrant (or portion of the principal thereof) 

shall be forwarded by United States registered or certified mail to the registered owner hereof, not 

less than thirty (30) days prior to the date fixed for redemption.  Such notice of redemption relative 

to the Warrants shall state that it is conditioned on there being sufficient money on deposit to pay the 

full redemption price of the Warrants on the redemption date.  In the event that less than all the 

outstanding principal of this Warrant is to be redeemed, the registered Holder hereof shall surrender 

this Warrant to the Bank in exchange for a new Warrant of like tenor herewith except in a principal 

amount equal to the unredeemed portion hereof.  Upon the giving of notice of redemption in 

accordance with the provisions of the Authorizing Ordinance, the Warrants (or principal portions 

thereof) so called for redemption and prepayment shall become due and payable on the date specified 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 113



35355994  16 

in such notice, anything herein or in the Authorizing Ordinance to the contrary notwithstanding, and 

the Holders thereof shall then and there surrender them for payment, and all future interest on the 

Warrants (or principal portion thereof) so called for prepayment shall cease to accrue after the date 

specified in such notice, whether or not the Warrants are so presented. 

 

This Warrant is transferable by the registered holder hereof, in person or by authorized 

attorney, only on the books of the Bank, as Registrar and Transfer Agent of the City, and only upon 

surrender of this Warrant to such Registrar for cancellation, and upon any such transfer a new 

Warrant of like tenor herewith will be issued to the transferee in exchange therefor, all as more 

particularly described in the Authorizing Ordinance.  Each Holder hereof, by receiving or accepting 

this Warrant, shall consent and agree and shall be estopped to deny that this Warrant may be 

transferred only in accordance with the provisions of the Authorizing Ordinance.  Provision is also 

made in the Authorizing Ordinance for the exchange of Warrants for a like aggregate principal 

amount and in authorized denominations, all upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in 

the Authorizing Ordinance. 

 

The Registrar shall not be required to transfer or exchange this Warrant during the period of 

fifteen (15) days next preceding any interest payment date; and, in the event that this Warrant (or any 

principal portion hereof) is duly called for redemption and prepayment, the Registrar shall not be 

required to register or transfer this Warrant during the period of sixty (60) days next preceding the 

date fixed for such redemption and prepayment. 

 

Registration, transfer and exchange of Warrants, other than to replace mutilated, lost, stolen 

or destroyed Warrants, shall be without expense to the Holder or transferee, but the Holder shall pay 

all taxes and other governmental charges, if any, required to be paid in connection with such transfer, 

registration or exchange. 

 

It has been ascertained and found, and it is hereby certified and recited, that all conditions, 

actions and things required by the constitution and laws of Alabama to exist, be performed or happen 

precedent to or in the issuance of this Warrant and the creation of the indebtedness evidenced and 

ordered paid, hereby exist, have been performed and have happened, that such indebtedness has been 

registered as a claim against the Warrant Fund and is lawfully due without condition, and that the 

indebtedness evidenced and ordered paid by this Warrant, together with all other indebtedness of the 

City, was when incurred and is now within every debt and other limit prescribed by the constitution 

and laws of Alabama. 

 

Unless the Registration Certificate hereon has been executed by the Bank, as Registrar for the 

Warrants, by manual signature, this Warrant shall not be entitled to any benefit under the 

Authorizing Ordinance or be valid or obligatory for any purpose. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City has caused this Warrant to be executed in its behalf by 

the Mayor and by the City Clerk of the City, each of whom have caused their facsimile signatures to 

be hereunto imprinted, has caused the official seal of the City to be imprinted hereon, and has caused 

this Warrant to be dated ___________, 2014.   

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 114



35355994  17 

 

CITY OF DAPHNE, ALABAMA 

 

 

 

(SEAL)      By___________________________________ 

        Its Mayor 

 

       ATTEST: 

 

 

       By       

       City Clerk  

 

 

  * * * * * * * 

 

 (Form of Registration as Claim against Warrant Fund) 

 

I hereby certify that this Warrant has been registered by me as a claim against the Warrant 

Fund referred to in this Warrant.   

 

 

___________________________________ 

Treasurer of the 

City of Daphne, Alabama 

 

 

 

 

 

[Form of Registration Certificate] 

 

This Warrant was registered in the name of the above-registered owner on the date 

hereinafter set forth. 

 

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST  

COMPANY, N.A. 

 

 

By_____________________________________  

         Its Authorized Officer 

 

DATE OF REGISTRATION: ________________ 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 115



35355994  18 

(Form of Assignment) 

 

 

For value received ____________________________ hereby sell(s), assign(s) and transfer(s) 

unto ______________________ the within Warrant and hereby irrevocably constitute(s) and 

appoint(s) ________________________, as attorney and Warrant Registrar and Transfer Agent, with 

full power of substitution in the premises, to transfer the Bond on the books of the within mentioned 

Bank. 

 

Dated this the ____ day of ___________________, ____. 

 

____________________________________ 

NOTE: The signature on this assignment must 

correspond with the name of the registered 

owner as it appears on the face of the within 

Warrant in every particular, without alteration, 

enlargement or change whatsoever. 

Signature guaranteed: 

(Bank, Trust company or Firm) 

 

By: ___________________________     

          (Authorized Officer) 

 

Its Medallion Number _________________________________ 

Signature(s) must be guaranteed by an eligible guarantor institution which is a member of a 

recognized signature guarantee program, i.e., Securities Transfer Agents Medallion Program 

(STAMP), Stock Exchanges Medallion Program (SEMP), or New York Stock Exchange Medallion 

Signature Program (MSP)  

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 116



35355994 19 

 ARTICLE III 

 

 FURTHER PROVISIONS WITH RESPECT TO 

 WARRANTS 

 

Section 3.1  Home Office Payment Agreement.  Upon the written request of the Holder of 

any Warrant or Warrants in an aggregate principal amount of not less than $100,000, the Bank will 

make payment of interest due on such Warrant or Warrants upon any Interest Payment Date by wire 

transfer to an account of such Holder maintained at a bank in the continental United States or by any 

other method providing for payment in same-day funds that is acceptable to the Bank, provided that 

payment of the principal of and redemption premium (if any) on such Warrant or Warrants shall be 

made only upon surrender of such Warrant or Warrants to the Bank, as Paying Agent. 

 

Section 3.2  Interest After Payment Due Date.  The Warrants, any premiums thereon and, 

to the extent legally enforceable, overdue installments of interest thereon, shall bear interest after the 

maturity dates thereof or such earlier date as they may be called for redemption, until paid or until 

money sufficient for the payment thereof shall have been deposited for that purpose with the Bank, at 

the respective rates borne thereby.   

 

Any provision hereof to the contrary notwithstanding, Overdue Interest shall not be payable 

to the Warrant Holder solely by reason of such Warrant Holder having been the Holder on the 

Record Date next preceding the Interest Payment Date on which such interest became due and 

payable, but shall be payable by the Bank as follows: 

 

 (a) Not less than ten (10) days following receipt by the Bank of immediately 

available funds in an amount sufficient to enable the Bank to pay all Overdue Interest, the 

Bank shall fix an Overdue Interest Payment Date for payment of such Overdue Interest, 

which date shall be not more than twenty (20) days following the expiration of the ten-day 

period after receipt of funds by the Bank; 

 

 (b) Overdue Interest shall be paid by check or draft mailed by the Bank to the 

persons in whose names the Warrants were registered in the registry books of the Bank 

pertaining to the Warrants on the Overdue Interest Payment Date. 

 

Payment of Overdue Interest in the manner herein prescribed to the persons in whose names the 

Warrants were registered on the Overdue Interest Payment Date shall fully discharge and satisfy all 

liability for the same. 

 

Section 3.3  Temporary Certificates.  Pending the preparation of definitive Warrants the 

City may execute, and upon request of the City, the Bank shall register and deliver, temporary 

certificates which are printed, lithographed, typewritten, mimeographed or otherwise produced, in 

any authorized denomination, substantially of the tenor of the definitive Warrants in lieu of which 

they are issued, but numbered from R-1 upwards, without other identification numbers, and with 

such other appropriate insertions, omissions, substitutions and other variations as the officers 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 117



35355994 20 

executing such temporary certificates may determine, as evidenced by their execution of such 

temporary certificates. 

 

Any such temporary certificates shall be executed by the manual signatures of the appropriate 

officers of the City as required in Article II of this Ordinance and be executed and attested by the 

City Clerk.  All such temporary certificates shall have impressed thereon the seal of the City. 

 

If temporary Warrants are issued, the City will cause definitive Warrants to be prepared 

without unreasonable delay.  After the preparation of definitive Warrants, the temporary Warrants 

shall be exchangeable for definitive Warrants upon surrender of the temporary Warrants at the 

principal office of the Bank, without charge to the Holder.  Upon surrender for cancellation of any 

one or more temporary Warrants the City shall execute and the Bank shall authenticate and deliver in 

exchange therefor a like principal amount of definitive Warrants of like tenor, and in authorized 

denominations.  Until so exchanged, temporary Warrants shall in all respects be entitled to the 

security and benefits of this Ordinance. 

 

Section 3.4  Payments Due on a Day Other Than a Business Day.  If any payment on the 

Warrants is due on a day which is not a Business Day, such payment shall be made on the first 

succeeding date which is a Business Day with the same effect as if made on the day such payment 

was due. 

 

Section 3.5  Book Entry System.  The City may from time to time enter into, and 

discontinue, an agreement with a “clearing agency” (securities depository) registered under Section 

17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (a “Securities Depository”), which is the 

owner of the Warrants, to establish procedures with respect to the Warrants, not inconsistent with the 

provisions of this Ordinance; provided, however, that any such agreement may provide: 

 

(a) that such Securities Depository is not required to present a Warrant to the Paying 

Agent in order to receive partial payment of principal; 

 

(b) that a legend shall appear on each Warrant so long as the Warrants are subject to such 

agreement; and 

 

(c) that different provisions for notice to such Securities Depository may be set forth 

therein. 

 

So long as an agreement with a Securities Depository is in effect, the City, the Bank and any 

paying agent or bond registrar shall not have any responsibility or liability with respect to the 

payment of principal, purchase price, premium, if any, or interest on the Warrants to the beneficial 

owners or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such beneficial 

ownership interests or any payments made to such beneficial owners. 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 118



35355994 21 

 ARTICLE IV 

 

 GENERAL OBLIGATION; PROVISION 

 FOR PAYMENT OF OBLIGATIONS 

 

Section 4.1  General Obligation.  The indebtedness evidenced by the Warrants is and shall 

be a general obligation of the City and the full faith and credit of the City are hereby irrevocably 

pledged to the payment of the principal thereof and interest thereon.  

 

Section 4.2  Continued Levy of Taxes; Maintenance of Warrant Fund.  The City agrees 

that, so long as the principal of or interest on any of the Warrants remains unpaid, the City will 

annually levy and collect taxes, insofar as such taxes may be permitted by the present or any future 

provisions of the Constitution of Alabama, in such amounts as may be necessary to provide for the 

payment of the principal of and interest on the Warrants.  The City further agrees that so long as the 

principal of or interest on any of the Warrants remains unpaid it will deposit in the Warrant Fund 

with respect to such Warrants, not later than the 25th day of the month next preceding an Interest 

Payment Date, an amount which, when added to the amounts then on deposit in such Warrant Fund, 

will equal the principal, interest and redemption premium (if any) to come due with respect to the 

Warrants on such Interest Payment Date. 

 

Section 4.3  Provision for Payment.  (a)  If the principal of and interest and redemption 

premium (if any) on the Warrants is paid in accordance with the terms thereof and this Ordinance, 

then all covenants, agreements and other obligations of the City to the Holders of such Warrants 

shall thereupon cease, terminate and become void and be discharged and satisfied.  In the event the 

Warrants are so paid the Bank shall pay to the City any surplus remaining in the Warrant Fund. 

 

(b)  Warrants shall, prior to the maturity or redemption date thereof, be deemed to have been 

paid within the meaning and with the effect expressed in subsection (a) of this Section 4.3 if 

 

(1) the City and the Bank (or another bank acting as trustee) enter into an 

appropriate trust agreement under which there shall be deposited, for 

payment or redemption of such Warrants and for payment of the 

interest to accrue thereon until maturity or redemption, and any 

redemption premium thereon, Government Obligations and cash or 

any combination of cash and Government Obligations which, together 

with the income to be derived from such, will produce monies 

sufficient to provide for the payment, redemption and retirement of 

such Warrants as and when the same become due; 

 

(2) the City shall have adopted all necessary proceedings providing for 

the redemption of any such Warrants that are required to be redeemed 

prior to their respective maturities and shall have instructed the Bank 

or other trustee under the aforesaid trust agreement to provide such 

notices of redemption as are required under this Ordinance; 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 119



35355994 22 

 

(3) the City and the Bank shall have been furnished with an opinion of 

nationally recognized bond counsel to the effect that the creation of 

any such trust will not result in subjecting to federal income taxation 

the interest on any of the Warrants that are to be paid in accordance 

with such trust; and 

 

(4) the City and the Bank shall have been furnished a certificate of a firm 

of certified public accountants satisfactory to the Bank stating that 

such trust will produce monies sufficient to provide for the full 

payment and retirement of such Warrants as and when the principal of 

and interest and redemption premium (if any) on such Warrants shall 

come due. 

 

 

 ARTICLE V 

 

 REDEMPTION PROVISIONS 

 

Section 5.1 Optional Redemption.  The Warrants, maturing on or after April 1, 2022 are 

subject to redemption prior to their maturity, at the option of the City, in whole or in part, on April 1, 

2021, and on any date thereafter (in principal amounts of $5,000 and any integral multiple thereof 

and if less than all of the Warrants are to be redeemed, those maturities or portions thereof to be 

called for redemption shall be selected by the City in its discretion, and if less than all the Warrants 

of a single maturity are to be redeemed, those to be called for redemption shall be selected by lot), at 

and for a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of each Warrant or portion thereof 

redeemed, plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption. 

 

 Section 5.2 Procedure for Redemption; Resolution Authorizing Redemption.  Not less 

than thirty (30) days prior to the Redemption Date, the City (or the Bank on behalf of the City) shall 

give, or cause to be given, written notice of such redemption and prepayment by United States mail, 

registered or certified, to the Holders of each of the Warrants to be redeemed, in whole or in part, at 

the address of such registered Holder as such address appears on the registry books of the Registrar, 

stating that the Warrants (or principal portions thereof) have been called for redemption and will 

become due and payable at the Redemption Price, on a specified Redemption Date and that all 

interest thereon will cease to accrue after the Redemption Date.  Such notice of redemption relative 

to the Warrants shall state that it is conditioned on there being sufficient money on deposit to pay the 

full redemption price of the Warrants so called for redemption on the redemption date.  The holders 

of any of the Warrants to be redeemed may waive the requirements for notice with respect to the 

Warrants held by them without affecting the validity of the call for redemption of any other 

Warrants.  The City shall cause to be paid and made available at the office of the Bank, on or prior to 

the Redemption Date, the total Redemption Price of the Warrants (or portions thereof) so called for 

redemption on such date.  Out of the moneys so deposited with it, the Bank shall make provision for 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 120



35355994 23 

payment of the Warrants (or principal portions thereof) so called for redemption at the Redemption 

Price and on the Redemption Date. 

 

In addition to the foregoing notice, further notice shall be given by the City to all registered 

securities depositories and to one or more national information services that disseminate notices of 

redemption of obligations such as the Warrants.  No defect in the further notice required in this 

paragraph, and no failure to give all or any portion of such further notice shall in any manner defeat 

the effectiveness of a call for redemption if notice thereof is given as described in the first paragraph 

of this Section 5.2. 

 

Any optional redemption or prepayment of the Warrants or any portion thereof shall be 

effected upon a call by the City, as evidenced by a resolution of the Council, for redemption and 

prepayment of the Warrants to be so redeemed.  Any such resolution pertaining to the Warrants shall 

state (i) that the City is not in default in the payment of the principal of or interest on any of the 

Warrants to be redeemed or (ii) that all of the Warrants then outstanding are to be retired on the 

Redemption Date. 

 

If Warrants have been redeemed pursuant to optional redemption as described above, or if the 

City has delivered Warrants to the Trustee for cancellation, the City may direct that any sinking fund 

amount be reduced by any amount equal to all or a portion of the principal amount of any Warrants 

so redeemed or delivered for cancellation (and not previously used to reduce any sinking fund 

amount).  The City shall deliver any such direction at least 75 days before the redemption date. 

 

 If amounts are being held in the Warrant Fund to be used to redeem Warrants pursuant to the 

mandatory sinking fund redemption provision, in lieu of such redemption, the City may, no later than 

75 days before the redemption date, direct the Bank in writing to use part or all of such moneys to 

purchase such Warrants, in a principal amount not to exceed the next sinking fund amount, which 

Warrants are presented to the City by the owners of the Warrants for purchase and which the City 

directs the Bank to purchase.  The purchase price of such Series 2014 Warrants shall not exceed the 

redemption price of the Warrants which would be redeemed but for the operation of this paragraph 

(accrued interest to be paid from the same fund or account from which accrued interest would be 

paid upon the redemption of such Warrants).  Any such purchase shall be completed prior to the time 

notice would otherwise be required to be given to redeem Warrants.  All Warrants so purchased shall 

be cancelled and applied as a credit (in an amount equal to the principal amount of such Warrants) 

against the next sinking fund amount. 

 

Section 5.3  Result of Redemption of Warrants.  Upon compliance with the requirements 

set forth in this Article V, and if the City is not on the Redemption Date in default in the payment of 

the principal of or interest on the Warrants, the Warrants (or principal portions thereof) called for 

redemption shall become due and payable at the Redemption Price and on the Redemption Date 

specified in the notice provided for in Section 5.2, and the Holders thereof shall then and there 

surrender them for redemption; provided, however, that in the event that less than all of the 

outstanding principal of any Warrant is to be redeemed, the registered Holder thereof shall surrender 

the Warrant that is to be prepaid in part to the Bank in exchange, without expense to the Holder, for a 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 121



35355994 24 

new Warrant of like tenor except in a principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion thereof.  All 

future interest on the Warrants (or principal portions thereof) so called for redemption shall cease to 

accrue after the Redemption Date. 

 

ARTICLE VI 

 

REGISTRATION AND TRANSFER OF THE WARRANTS 

 

Section 6.1  Registration and Transfer of the Warrants.  The Warrants shall be registered 

as to both principal and interest.  Each Warrant shall have endorsed thereon a registration certificate 

substantially in the form provided in Section 2.5 hereof, and a condition to the validity of each 

Warrant shall be the manual execution of such certificate on behalf of the Bank.  The Bank is hereby 

appointed as the Registrar and Transfer Agent for the Warrants, and shall be authorized to keep at its 

designated corporate trust agency office proper registry books in which it shall register the Warrants, 

as to both principal and interest, noting the registry on the Warrants so presented.  Such registration 

shall conclusively designate the Warrant Holder as the sole person to whom or on whose order the 

payment of the principal of and interest on the Warrants so registered may be made.  After such 

registration no transfer of a Warrant so registered shall be valid unless it is presented at the said 

office with written power to transfer, properly stamped if required, in form and with guaranty of 

signature satisfactory to the Registrar, and such new registration noted thereon by the Registrar.  The 

Registrar shall not be required to transfer or exchange such Warrant during the period of fifteen (15) 

days next preceding any interest payment date.  If any Warrant shall be duly called for redemption 

pursuant to the provisions hereof, the Registrar shall not be required to transfer such Warrant during 

the period of sixty (60) days next preceding the date fixed for its redemption. 

 

Section 6.2  Exchange of Warrants.  Upon request of the Holder of any Warrant, the City 

shall execute, and the Bank shall register and deliver, upon surrender to the Bank of the Warrant or 

Warrants, in exchange therefor, a Warrant or Warrants of the same tenor in different authorized 

principal amounts (of $5,000 or integral multiples thereof), together aggregating the same principal 

amount as the then unpaid principal of the Warrant or Warrants so surrendered, all as may be 

requested by the persons surrendering such Warrant or Warrants. 

 

Section 6.3  Costs of Registration, Transfer and Exchange.  The registration, transfer and 

exchange of Warrants (other than pursuant to Section 6.5 hereof) shall be without expense to the 

Holder or transferee.  In every case involving a transfer, registration or exchange, such Holder shall 

pay all taxes and other governmental charges, if any, required to be paid in connection with such 

transfer, registration or exchange. 

 

Section 6.4  Effect of Registration.  The City, the Registrar, and the Paying Agent may 

deem and treat the person in whose name a Warrant is registered on the books of the Registrar as the 

absolute owner thereof for all purposes; they shall not be affected by notice to the contrary; and all 

payments by any of them to the person in whose name a Warrant is registered shall, to the extent of 

such payment, fully discharge all liability thereof. 

 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 122



35355994 25 

Section 6.5  Replacement of Mutilated, Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Warrants.  In the event 

that any Warrant is mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed, the City may execute and deliver a new 

Warrant of like tenor as that mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed; provided, that (a) in the case of any 

such mutilated Warrant, such Warrant is first surrendered to the City and the Bank, and (b) in the 

case of any such lost, stolen or destroyed Warrant, there is first furnished to the City and the Bank 

evidence of such loss, theft or destruction satisfactory to each of them, together with indemnity 

satisfactory to each of them.  The City may charge the Holder with the expense of issuing any such 

new Warrant.   

Section 6.6 Provisions with Respect to Bank.  (a)  Appointment of Bank and Acceptance 

of Duties.  The Bank is herein designated and appointed and shall act as registrar, transfer agent and 

payment agent with respect to the Warrants.  By its acceptance of such duties hereunder, the Bank 

shall accept and agree to perform the duties required by this Ordinance, subject, however, to the 

following conditions: 

 

(i) The Bank shall undertake to perform such duties and only such duties as are 

specifically set forth in this Ordinance, and no implied covenants or obligations shall 

be read into this Ordinance against the Bank. 

(ii) In the absence of bad faith or negligence on its part, the Bank may conclusively rely, 

as to the truth of the statements and the correctness of the opinions expressed therein, 

upon certificates or opinions furnished to the Bank and conforming to the 

requirements of this Ordinance; provided, however, that in the case of any such 

certificates or opinions which by any provision hereof are specifically required to be 

furnished to the Bank, the Bank shall be under a duty to examine the same to 

determine whether or not they conform to the requirements of this Ordinance. 

(iii) The Bank shall not be answerable for other than its gross negligence or willful default 

and the Bank may act through its agents and attorneys with respect to any of its duties 

hereunder. 

(iv) No provision of this Ordinance shall be construed to relieve the Bank from liability 

for its own gross negligence or willful misconduct, except that no provision of this 

Ordinance shall require the Bank to expend or risk its own funds or otherwise incur 

any financial liability in the performance of any of its duties hereunder, or in the 

exercise of any of its rights or powers, if it shall have reasonable grounds for 

believing that repayment of such funds or adequate indemnity against such risk or 

liability is not reasonably assured to it. 

(v) The Bank may consult counsel on any matters connected herewith and shall not be 

answerable for any action taken or failure to take any action in good faith on the 

advice of counsel, provided that its action or inaction is not contrary to any express 

provision hereof. 

(vi) The Bank need not recognize a Holder of a Warrant as such without the satisfactory 

establishment of his title to such Warrant. 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 123



35355994 26 

(vii) Any action taken by the Bank at the request of and with the consent of the Holder of 

a Warrant will bind all subsequent Holders of the same Warrant and any Warrant 

issued hereunder in lieu thereof. 

(viii) The Bank may be a Holder or a pledgee of any of the Warrants as if not the Bank 

hereunder. 

(ix) The Bank shall not be liable for the proper application of any moneys other than 

those that may be paid to or deposited with it. 

(x) The Bank shall not be liable to pay or allow interest on any moneys to be held by it 

under this Ordinance or otherwise to invest any such moneys, except as specifically 

required by this Ordinance or as may be required by law or other written agreement 

between the City and the Bank. 

(xi) The Bank may make any investments permitted or required hereby through its own 

investment department, and any eligible investments issued or held by it hereunder 

shall be deemed investments and not deposits. 

(xii) The Bank shall, upon reasonable written request, inform the City of the amount at the 

time on deposit in any of the special funds or accounts created hereunder. 

(xiii) The recitals of fact herein and in the Warrants are statements by the City and not by 

the Bank, and the Bank is in no way responsible for the validity or security of the 

Warrants or the validity of the security afforded hereby. 

 (b) Resignation by Bank.  The Bank and any successor Bank may resign and be 

discharged from the duties under this Ordinance by causing written notice specifying the effective 

date, postage prepaid, to the City and to every Holder of a Warrant.  Unless the effective date of the 

Bank’s resignation shall coincide with the appointment of a successor Bank by the Holders of the 

Warrants as herein provided, such date shall be at least sixty (60) days after the date on which notice 

to the City and the Holders of the Warrants shall have been mailed. 

 

 (c) Removal of Bank.  The Bank may be removed at any time by an instrument or 

concurrent instruments in writing delivered to the Bank and to the City and signed by the Holders of 

a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Warrants then outstanding. 

 

 (d) Appointment of Successor Bank; Interim Bank.  In case the Bank shall resign, be 

removed, be dissolved, be in course of dissolution of liquidation, or otherwise become incapable of 

acting hereunder, or in case it shall be taken under the control of any public officer or officers or of a 

receiver appointed by a court, a successor may be appointed by Holders of a majority in aggregate 

principal amount of Warrants then outstanding through an instrument or concurrent instruments in 

writing signed by such Holders.   In case of any such resignation or event which causes the Bank to 

be incapable of acting, the City, by an instrument signed by the Mayor, shall appoint an interim Bank 

to serve until a successor Bank shall be appointed by the Holders of a majority in aggregate principal 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 124



35355994 27 

amount of the Warrants, as provided above.  Whenever necessary to avoid or fill a vacancy in the 

office of Bank, the City will appoint an interim Bank in order that there shall at all times be a Bank 

hereunder.  Any interim Bank so appointed by the City shall immediately and without further act be 

superseded by the Bank appointed by the holders of the Warrants. 

 

 The City shall cause notice of the appointment of an interim Bank, in the event that such an 

appointment is made, to be forwarded by United States registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, 

to every Holder of a Warrant.  When the appointment of a successor Bank, as selected by the Holders 

of a majority in principal amount of the Warrants then outstanding, becomes effective, the City shall 

also cause notice of that fact to be given in the manner provided above for the notice required to be 

given upon the appointment of an interim Bank.  Every interim or successor Bank appointed 

pursuant to this Section shall be a trust company or bank which is qualified to perform all duties of 

the Bank under this Ordinance and which has, at the time of its acceptance of such appointment, 

capital, surplus and undivided profits of not less than $25,000,000, if there be such an institution 

willing, qualified and able to accept appointment as Bank upon reasonable or customary terms. 

 

 (e) Concerning any Successor Bank.  Every successor Bank shall execute, acknowledge 

and deliver to its predecessor and also to the City an instrument in writing accepting its appointment 

as Bank hereunder, and thereupon such successor Bank, without any further act, deed or conveyance, 

shall become fully vested with all the rights, powers and duties of its predecessor.  Such predecessor 

shall nevertheless, on the written request of the City or such successor Bank, execute and deliver an 

instrument transferring to such successor Bank all rights, powers and interests of such predecessor 

hereunder; and every predecessor Bank shall deliver all securities and moneys held by it as Bank 

hereunder to its successor. 

 

 (f) Merger or Consolidation of Bank.  Any corporation into which the bank may be 

merged or with which it may be consolidated, or any corporation resulting from any merger or 

consolidation to which the Bank shall be a party, or any corporation succeeding to all or substantially 

all of the corporate trust business of the Bank, shall be the successor of the Bank hereunder, without 

the execution or filing of any paper or any further act on the part of any of the parties hereto.  In case 

the registration certificates with respect to any Warrants shall have been executed by the Bank then 

in office, any successor by merger or consolidation to such Bank may adopt the registration of such 

Warrants and deliver such Warrants with the same effect as if such successor Bank had itself 

registered such Warrants.  

 

 (g) Compensation of Bank.  Subject to the provisions of any separate agreement with the 

Bank, the City shall pay to the Bank from time to time reasonable compensation for all services 

rendered by it under this Ordinance, including its services as registrar and paying agent for the 

Warrants, and also all its reasonable expenses, charges, counsel fees, costs and expenses and other 

disbursements and those of its attorneys, agents and employees, incurred in and about the 

performance of its duties hereunder.   

 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 125



35355994 28 

 (h) Extraordinary Expenses.  If the Bank is required by a governmental agency or court 

proceeding initiated by a third party to undertake efforts beyond that which is set forth herein but 

related thereto (other than due to the Bank’s negligence or willful misconduct), the Bank shall notify 

the City of the same in writing and the City shall promptly pay the Bank for such extraordinary fees, 

costs and expenses (including reasonable attorney’s fees, costs and expenses) reasonably and 

necessarily incurred in connection therewith. 

 

 ARTICLE VII 

 

 EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF THE WARRANTS; 

 APPROVAL OF SALE; USE OF PROCEEDS THEREFROM 

 

Section 7.1  Authority to Execute and Deliver the Warrants.  The Mayor of the City, the 

City Clerk and the Treasurer are hereby authorized and directed to cause the Warrants to be 

executed, sealed, attested and registered as a claim against the City and the Warrant Fund as 

provided herein and delivered to the purchaser thereof upon payment to the City of the sale price 

therefor. 

 

Section 7.2  Application of Proceeds of Sale; Additional Sums.  The gross proceeds 

derived from the sale of the Warrants shall be used solely for the following purposes: 

 

(i) The amount of $75,000 shall be deposited with Compass 

Bank in the Issuance Expense Fund and applied for the 

purposes described in Section 8.1. 

 

(ii) The amount of $2,042,027.56 shall be paid to the Escrow 

Agent and deposited into the 2003 Escrow Fund created under 

the Escrow Trust Agreement to provide for the refunding of 

the Series 2003 Warrants. 

 

(iii) The amount of $7,050,815.64 shall be paid to the Escrow 

Agent and deposited into the 2006 Escrow Fund created under 

the Escrow Trust Agreement to provide for the refunding of 

the Series 2006 Warrants. 

 

(iv) The remaining amount of proceeds shall be deposited with 

Compass Bank, a depository, in the Capital Improvements 

Account and applied for the purposes described in Section 

8.2. 

 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 126



35355994 29 

ARTICLE VIII 

 

CREATION OF ISSUANCE EXPENSE FUND, CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT 

ACCOUNT AND WARRANT FUND; COVENANTS WITH RESPECT 

TO WARRANT PROCEEDS, DESIGNATION OF WARRANTS 

 

 Section 8.1  Issuance Expense Account.  There is hereby created a special fund of the City 

designated the “Series 2014 Warrant Issuance Expense Account” (herein called the “Issuance 

Expense Account”) which shall be maintained until the costs and expenses incurred by the City in 

connection with the issuance and sale of the Warrants shall be paid in full.  Compass Bank shall be 

the depository for the Issuance Expense Account. 

 

 Simultaneously with the issuance and delivery of the Warrants, the City shall deposit or cause 

to be deposited into the Issuance Expense Account, out of proceeds derived from the sale of the 

Warrants, an amount equal to the amount required for payment of the expenses of issuing the 

Warrants.  The City will apply the moneys deposited into the Issuance Expense Account solely for 

payment of the expenses of issuing the Warrants, as and when such expenses become due and 

payable.   

 

 The Mayor, the Finance Director or any other person designated in writing by the Mayor or 

the Finance Director, are hereby authorized and directed to cause the said expenses to be paid, as 

promptly as may be feasible following the closing of the sale of the Warrants, and to make 

withdrawals from the Issuance Expense Account for the said purpose.  In the event that the moneys 

deposited into or transferred into the Issuance Expense Fund are not sufficient to pay all expenses of 

issuing the Warrants, the Mayor is hereby authorized and directed to pay, out of any funds of the City 

available therefor, the balance of the expenses of issuing the Warrants.  Any amount remaining in the 

Issuance Expense Account after the City certifies that all issuance expenses have been paid in full, 

but in no event later than sixty days after the date of delivery of the Warrants, shall be transferred and 

deposited into the Capital Improvements Account. 

 

Section 8.2  Capital Improvements Account.  There is hereby created a special account the 

full name of which shall be the "2014 Capital Improvements Account."  The 2014 Capital 

Improvements Account shall be maintained as a separate account until the moneys in said account 

shall have been fully expended as hereinafter provided.  Except as hereinafter provided, the City will 

apply the moneys in the 2014 Capital Improvements Account solely for payment of the costs of the 

Capital Improvements described in Section 1.3(f) hereof.  Compass Bank shall be the depository for 

the 2014 Capital Improvements Account.  

  

 The Mayor, the Finance Director or any other person designated in writing by the 

Mayor or the Finance Director, are hereby authorized and directed to make withdrawals from the 

2014 Capital Improvements Account for the purpose of paying the costs of the Capital Improvements 

described in Section 1.3(f) hereof, and to make any transfer that may be made pursuant to the 

succeeding sentence of this Section. The City shall have the right to supplement or revise the list of 

Capital Improvements described in Section 1.3(f) hereof to be paid from proceeds of the Warrants by 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 127



35355994 30 

resolution or ordinance; provided, that no revisions or addition to the Capital Improvements as herein 

approved shall adversely affect the excludability of interest on the Warrant for federal income tax 

purposes. 

 

Section 8.3  Warrant Fund.  There is hereby created a special account, the full name of 

which shall be the "City of Daphne Warrant Fund, 2014."  The Warrant Fund shall be maintained as 

a separate fund until payment in full of the principal of and interest on the Warrants.  The Bank is 

hereby designated as the custodian of the Warrant Fund. 

 

On or before the 25th day of the month next preceding any Interest Payment Date, the City 

shall deposit into the Warrant Fund an amount which, when added to the amounts already on deposit 

therein, will be sufficient to provide for the payment of all principal of and interest and redemption 

premium on the Warrants coming due on such Interest Payment Date.  Monies deposited in the 

Warrant Fund shall be used by the Bank for the payment of principal, interest and redemption 

premium (if any) on, the Warrants, and for no other purpose until the payment in full of the 

Warrants. 

 

Section 8.4  Investment of Moneys in Accounts.  Pending the expenditure of moneys in the 

Warrant Fund for any other purpose, the City shall have the privilege at any time and from time to 

time of investing and reinvesting, or causing to be invested and reinvested, all or part of the moneys 

at any time on deposit in such account, in Government Obligations or in money market funds of the 

Bank consisting of Government Obligations.  Pending the expenditure of moneys in the Issuance 

Expense Account and the Capital Improvements Account for any other purpose, the City shall have 

the privilege at any time and from time to time of investing and reinvesting, or causing to be invested 

and reinvested, all or part of the moneys at any time on deposit in such account in Government 

Obligations, money market funds of the Bank consisting of Government Obligations, or certificates 

of deposit issued by banks or trust companies having at the time of the deposit combined capital, 

surplus and undivided profits of not less than $5,000,000.   

 

 The Bank is hereby directed to invest and reinvest such amounts promptly upon receipt of, 

and in accordance with, the written instructions of the City. The Bank may conclusively rely upon 

the City’s written instructions as to both the suitability and legality of the directed investments.  In 

the absence of written investment instructions from the City, the Bank shall not be responsible or 

liable for keeping the moneys held by it hereunder fully invested.  The Bank shall not be liable for 

any losses from such directed investments. 

 

Section 8.5  Security for Funds.  Any money on deposit in any fund or account or held by 

the Bank pursuant to this Ordinance shall, unless invested as provided herein or secured by the 

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (or any successor agency of the United States of America) or 

under the State of Alabama Security for Alabama Funds Enhancement Program, be secured for the 

benefit of the City and the Holders by holding on deposit as collateral security direct obligations of 

the United States of America or obligations unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of 

America, or other marketable securities eligible as security for the deposit of public funds under the 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 128



35355994 31 

regulations of the Comptroller of the Currency, having a market value (exclusive of accrued interest) 

not less than the amount of money being secured. 

 

Section 8.6  Covenants with Respect to Exemption of Interest from Federal Income 

Taxation; Non-Arbitrage Covenant.  The City acknowledges and agrees that the Warrants are to be 

issued in compliance with the conditions necessary for the interest income thereon to be exempt from 

federal income taxation pursuant to the relevant provisions of the Code.  The City hereby covenants 

and agrees as follows: 

 

(a) It will not use or apply the proceeds of the Warrants or direct 

the investment of moneys in any funds or accounts established 

or maintained with respect to the Warrants in such manner as 

to constitute any Warrant an "arbitrage bond" within the 

meaning of Section 148 of the Code; 

 

(b) It will make timely rebate payments to the United States of 

America with respect to any "excess" arbitrage profits as 

required by Section 148(f) of the Code; 

 

(c) It will maintain all records required by Section 148(f) of the 

Code and the applicable regulations  thereunder and shall 

furnish such data or information regarding compliance with 

Section 148(f) of the Code as any Holder shall reasonably 

request in writing, which records shall be furnished to any 

Holder upon its request; 

 

(d) It will, within 60 days after a written request of the Bank 

therefor, furnish to the Bank and to any Holder a certificate by 

an independent certified public accountant or opinion of 

nationally recognized bond counsel stating that as of such 

date it had made all rebate payments to the United States of 

America necessary to prevent the Warrants from becoming 

"arbitrage bonds" under Section 148(f) of the Code; 

 

(e) It will comply with the terms of the City’s Tax Certificate and 

Agreement with regard to use of proceeds of the Warrants in 

any private business use; payment of the Warrants shall not be 

secured by, or derived from, property used in a private 

business use; proceeds of the Warrants shall not be used to 

make or finance loans to persons other than governmental 

units; and proceeds of the Warrants shall not be used in any 

manner that would cause the Warrants to be or become 

private activity bonds, as defined in Section 141 of the Code; 

 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 129



35355994 32 

(f) It will not cause or permit the Warrants to be federally 

guaranteed, within the meaning of Section 149(b) of the 

Code; and 

 

(g) It will not in any other way cause or permit the proceeds of 

the Warrants to be used in a manner which would cause the 

interest on the Warrants to lose the exemption from federal 

income taxation as provided under the Code and the 

applicable regulations thereunder and will comply with all 

applicable provisions of the Code (including, without 

limitation, the provisions relating to post-issuance actions 

affecting tax exemption) to the extent necessary for interest 

on the Warrants to be excludable from gross income of the 

holders thereof. 

 

(h) It has in place procedures providing for compliance with each 

of the matters described above and for keeping records with 

respect to such compliance. 

 

Section 8.7  Designation of Warrants.  The Warrants are not private activity bonds as such 

term is defined in Section 141 of the Code, and the City does not reasonably anticipate that it, or any 

other subordinate entity thereto, will issue more than $10,000,000 of qualified tax exempt 

obligations (other than private activity bonds) in calendar year 2014.  The Warrants are hereby 

designated as a portion of the maximum of $10,000,000 of qualified tax-exempt obligations to be 

issued by the City during calendar year 2014, within the meaning and for the purposes of Section 

265(b)(3) of the Code. 

 

ARTICLE IX 

 

APPROVAL OF OFFICIAL STATEMENT; AUTHORIZATION OF CONTINUING 

DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT; AUTHORIZATION OF DISCLOSURE 

DISSEMINATION AGREEMENT; APPROVAL OF ESCROW TRUST AGREEMENT; 

APPROVAL OF SALE; 

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

 

Section 9.1  Approval of Official Statement.  An official statement with respect to the 

Warrants, in substantially the form presented at the meeting at which this Ordinance is adopted and 

attached hereto as Exhibit A, is hereby approved, and the Mayor of the City is hereby authorized and 

directed to sign an official statement on behalf of the City in substantially the form herein approved, 

with such changes therein and additions thereto as shall be necessary to conform to the provisions of 

this Ordinance authorizing the Warrants and such other changes and additions as the Mayor of the 

City shall deem necessary and appropriate.  The preparation and distribution of such official 

statement on behalf of the City by Harbor Financial Services, LLC is hereby ratified and approved 

and such Official Statement is hereby deemed final within the meaning of Rule 15c2-12 of the 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 130



35355994 33 

United States Securities and Exchange Commission.  The final official statement shall be in 

substantially the same form as the official statement herein approved, with such additions, insertions, 

omissions or other changes as may be approved by the Mayor of the City and the execution of the 

final official statement by the Mayor of the City as hereby authorized shall be conclusive evidence of 

any such approval.   

 

Section 9.2 Authorization of Continuing Disclosure Certificate.  Upon delivery of the 

Warrants to the purchaser thereof, the Mayor and Finance Director of the City are hereby authorized 

and directed to execute and deliver for and on behalf of the City, the Continuing Disclosure 

Agreement in substantially the form presented at the meeting of the Council at which this Ordinance 

is adopted and attached hereto as Exhibit B.  The City hereby covenants and agrees that it will 

comply with and carry out all of the provisions of the Continuing Disclosure Agreement.  

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Ordinance, failure of the City to comply with the 

Continuing Disclosure Agreement shall not be considered a default hereunder or with respect to the 

Warrants; provided, however, any Holder or Beneficial Owner may take such actions as may be 

necessary and appropriate, including seeking mandate or specific performance by court order, to 

cause the City to comply with its obligations under this Section 9.4. For purposes of this Section, 

"Beneficial Owner" means any person which (a) has the power, directly or indirectly, to vote or 

consent with respect to, or to dispose of ownership of, any Warrants (including persons holding 

Warrants through nominees, depositories or other intermediaries), or (b) is treated as the owner of 

any Warrants for federal income tax purposes. 

 

Section 9.3 Authorization of Disclosure Dissemination Agreement. Upon the delivery of 

the Warrants to the purchaser thereof, the Mayor and City Clerk of the City are hereby authorized 

and directed to execute and deliver for an on behalf of the City, the Disclosure Dissemination 

Agreement in substantially the form presented at the meeting of the Council at which this Ordinance 

is adopted and attached hereto as Exhibit C. 

 

Section 9.4 Authorization of Escrow Trust Agreements. Upon the delivery of the Warrants 

to the purchaser thereof, the Mayor and City Clerk of the City are hereby authorized and directed to 

execute and deliver for an on behalf of the City, the 2003 Escrow Trust Agreement and the 2006 

Escrow Trust Agreement, each in substantially the form presented at the meeting of the Council at 

which this Ordinance is adopted and attached hereto as Exhibits D and E.  The Bank of New York 

Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as the Escrow Trustee under the 2003 Escrow Trust Agreement and 

the 2006 Escrow Trust Agreement, is authorized and directed to cause the money’s held by it 

thereunder to be invested in the manner specified therein. 

 

Section 9.5 Sale of Warrants. The City does hereby approve (i) the sale of the Warrants 

to Harbor Financial Services, LLC at a purchase price of $9,933,231.80, which amount reflects an 

underwriter’s discount of $50,000.00 and net original issue discount of $16,768.20, and (ii) the 

execution of the Purchase Agreement dated October 29, 2014 between the City and Harbor Financial 

Services, LLC in the form presented at the meeting at which this Ordinance is adopted and attached 

hereto as Exhibit F. 

 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 131



35355994 34 

Section 9.6  Further Acts.  From and after the execution and delivery of the documents 

hereinabove authorized, the proper officers, directors, agents and employees of the City are hereby 

authorized, empowered and directed to do all such acts and things and to execute all such documents 

as may be necessary to carry out and comply with the provisions of said documents as executed and 

are further authorized to take any and all further actions and execute and deliver any and all other 

documents as may be necessary in the issuance of the Warrants and in the delivery of the Official 

Statement or as contemplated by this Ordinance.   

 

The Mayor and City Clerk are authorized and directed to prepare and furnish to the purchaser 

of the Warrants, when the Warrants are issued, certified copies of all the proceedings and records of 

the Council relating to the Warrants, and such other affidavits and certificates as may be required to 

show the facts relating to the legality and marketability of the Warrants as such facts appear from the 

books and records in such officers' custody and control or as otherwise known to them. 

 

Section 9.7  Contractual Provisions.  The provisions of this Ordinance shall constitute a 

contract between the City and the Holders at any time of the Warrants.  Upon payment in full of the 

principal of and interest on the Warrants the obligations of the City hereunder shall cease with 

respect thereto. 

 

Section 9.8  Warrants Payable at Par.  Each bank at which the Warrants may at any time 

be payable, by acceptance of its duties as Paying Agent therefor, shall be construed to have agreed 

thereby with the Holders of the Warrants that all remittances made by it on the Warrants shall be 

made in bankable funds at par and without deduction for exchange, fees or expenses. 

 

Section 9.9  Severability.  The various provisions of this Ordinance are hereby declared to 

be severable.  In the event any provisions hereof shall be held invalid by a court of competent 

jurisdiction, such invalidity shall not affect any other portion of this Ordinance.   

 

Section 9.10  Repeal of Conflicting Provisions.  All resolutions, orders or parts thereof in 

conflict with this Ordinance are to the extent of such conflict are hereby repealed. 

 

 

After discussion, Councilmember ____________ moved that the foregoing ordinance and 

order be adopted and spread upon the minutes of this meeting, which motion was seconded by 

Councilmember ___________, and, on roll call the following vote was registered: 

YEAS NAYS 

  

  

  

  

  

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 132



35355994 35 

The Chairman thereupon announced that the said ordinance had been carried by unanimous 

vote of the Council present. 

* * * * * * 

 

There being no further business to come before the meeting, the meeting was, upon motion 

duly made, seconded and unanimously carried, adjourned. 

 

 

________________________________________ 

Council President    

      

 

___________________________________________ 

Dane Haygood, Mayor 

 

[SEAL] 

      ATTEST: 

 

              

      Rebecca A. Hayes, City Clerk

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 133



 
 36 

 CLERK'S CERTIFICATE 

 

 

I, Rebecca A. Hayes, City Clerk of the City of Daphne, Alabama, DO HEREBY CERTIFY 

that the foregoing pages of typewritten material constitute excerpts from the minutes of a regular 

meeting of the City Council of Daphne, Alabama, held on _____________,  pertaining to the City’s 

General Obligation Refunding and Improvement Warrants, Series 2014, which meeting was called 

and assembled and was open to the public and at which a quorum was present and acting throughout, 

and that the original of said minutes appears of record in the minute books of the City Council of 

Daphne, Alabama, which are in my custody and control. 

 

Given under my hand and the seal of the City of Daphne, Alabama, this ___ day of _______, 

2014. 

 

 

 

 

[SEAL]     _____________________________________________ 

City Clerk of the City of Daphne, Alabama

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 134



 
 

Exhibit A 

 

Preliminary Official Statement 

 

(See Attached) 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 135



 
 

Exhibit B 

 

Continuing Disclosure Certificate 

 

(See Attached) 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 136



 
 

Exhibit C 

 

Disclosure Dissemination Agreement 

 

(See Attached) 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 137



 
 

Exhibit D 

 

2003 Escrow Trust Agreement 

 

(See Attached) 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 138



 
 

Exhibit E 

 

2006 Escrow Trust Agreement 

 

(See Attached) 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 139



 
 

Exhibit F 

 

Warrant Purchase Agreement 

 

(See Attached) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 140



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 141



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 142



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 143



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 144



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 145



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 146



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 147



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 148



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 149



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 150



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 151



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 152



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 153



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 154



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 155



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 156



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 157



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 158



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 159



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 160



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 161



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 162



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 163



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 164



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 165



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 166



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 167



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 168



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 169



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 170



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 171



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 172



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 173



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 174



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 175



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 176



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 177



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 178



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 179



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 180



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 181



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 182



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 183



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 184



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 185



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 186



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 187



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 188



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 189



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 190



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 191



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 192



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 193



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 194



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 195



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 196



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 197



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 198



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 199



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 200



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 201



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 202



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 203



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 204



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 205



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 206



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 207



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 208



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 209



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 210



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 211



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 212



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 213



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 214



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 215



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 216



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 217



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 218



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 219



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 220



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 221



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 222



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 223



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 224



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 225



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 226



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 227



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 228



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 229



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 230



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 231



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 232



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 233



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 234



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 235



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 236



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 237



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 238



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 239



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 240



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 241



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 242



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 243



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 244



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 245



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 246



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 247



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 248



November 3, 2014 Council Meeting 249


	AGENDA
	ROLL CALL
	Council Minutes
	Council Amended Minutes - September  15
	PWC Mtg Minutes 10-20-2014
	Beautification Minutes - Oct 2014
	MUSEUM BRD MINUTES SEP 2014
	EAC Minutes 10-27-2014
	Planning Commission Minutes
	Utility Board Minutes
	ABC License
	Parade Permits
	2014-54 -  RES - Series 2014 Warrant - Sign Version for Ordinance 103014
	2014-46 - ORD - FY 2015  New Capital  Personnel (10 1 2014)
	Backup to 2014-46 - ORD
	2014-47 - ORD - FINAL - CHRISTINE - GARBAGE FEE AMENDMENT - 1 50 INCREASE
	2014-48 -ORD - Mazie Gulch-Add'l Appropriation-NRCS
	2014-49 - ORD - 2015-Job Reclassification - Finance Director
	2014-50 - ORD - 2015-Job Reclassification - Civic Center Director
	2014-51 - ORD - Park Drive-Pine Hill Donated Property Appraisal   Fees (2)
	2014-52 -  ORD - Series 2014 Warrant - Sign Version for Ordinance 103014
	Backup to 2014-52 - ORD



